
A
N

N
UA

L REPO
RT 2019

TELFO
RD H

O
M

ES PLC

DEVELOPING THE HOMES AND CREATING  
THE PLACES THAT LONDON NEEDS

ANNUAL REPORT 2019



OVERVIEW

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR 01

AT A GLANCE 02

OUR INVESTMENT CASE 04

STRATEGIC REPORT

BUSINESS MODEL 08

AMBITION AND  10 
STRATEGY 

INSIGHT INTO BUILD  12 
TO RENT

MARKET OVERVIEW 14

CHIEF EXECUTIVE  16 
OFFICER'S REVIEW

FINANCIAL REVIEW 24

KEY PERFORMANCE 30 
INDICATORS 

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND  32 
UNCERTAINTIES 

OUR PEOPLE 36

DEVELOPMENT AND  38 
TRAINING  

HEALTH AND SAFETY 40

SUSTAINABILITY 42

GOVERNANCE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 46

CORPORATE  48 
GOVERNANCE  
REPORT 

STATEMENT OF  53 
DIRECTORS’  
RESPONSIBILITIES 

AUDIT COMMITTEE  54 
REPORT

REMUNERATION 56 
COMMITTEE REPORT

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 64

KEY MANAGEMENT 
INFORMATION

GROUP INCOME 68 
STATEMENT 

GROUP BALANCE SHEET 69

FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

GROUP INCOME  72 
STATEMENT 
GROUP STATEMENT OF  72 
COMPREHENSIVE  
INCOME 

BALANCE SHEET 73

STATEMENT OF  74 
CHANGES IN EQUITY 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 75

STATEMENT OF  76 
ACCOUNTING  
POLICIES 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL  81 
STATEMENTS 

OTHER SIGNIFICANT  107 
INTERESTS 

INDEPENDENT  108 
AUDITORS' REPORT 

ADVISORS 112

CONTENTS

For further information and  
the latest news please visit  
www.telfordhomes.london

TELFORD HOMES PLC – Annual Report 2019



QUICK READS

Denotes a computer generated image

INVESTMENT CASE

04

10

08

16

46

AMBITION AND STRATEGY

BUSINESS MODEL

CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
OFFICER’S REVIEW

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

DIVIDEND PER  
SHARE

17.0p
2018: 17.0p

CUSTOMER  
RECOMMENDATION RATE

99%
2018: 100%

ADJUSTED GROSS MARGIN

23.7%
2018: 26.5%

ADJUSTED OPERATING  
MARGIN 

13.1%
2018: 16.7%

GEARING 

37.0%
2018: 44.6%

EARNINGS PER SHARE 

44.6p
2018: 49.8p

DEVELOPMENT  
PIPELINE

£1.6bn 
2018: £1.3bn

EMPLOYEE RETENTION RATE

89%
2018: 90%

TOTAL REVENUE

£354.3m
2018: £316.2m

TOTAL PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£40.1m
2018: £46.0m

Telford Homes use a range of statutory performance measures in accordance with Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) and Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) when reviewing the 
performance of the Group against its strategy. As a result, all highlights include the Group’s share of  
joint venture results. Statutory revenue in accordance with GAAP is £336.1 million (2018: £294.8 million) 
and profit before tax is £40.3 million (2018: £46.3 million).

Definitions of APMs and detailed calculations and reconciliations to statutory figures can be found in 
note 22. For details of the Group’s Key Performance Indicators see pages 30 and 31.
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TODAY WE HAVE OVER 330 EMPLOYEES 
DEDICATED TO DEVELOPING THE HOMES AND 
CREATING THE PLACES THAT LONDON NEEDS

AT A GLANCE

Our award 
winning year

Who we are 
Telford Homes Plc is a listed developer  
of residential-led, mixed-use sites  
in London. 

Established in 2000, we have grown 
to become one of London’s largest 
developers. 

Today we have over 330 employees 
dedicated to developing the homes and 
creating the places that London needs. 

Our goal is to significantly increase  
our output of new homes over the next 
few years to help address the chronic 
shortage in London, focusing particularly 
on the growing build to rent market.

Our success is driven by keeping our 
promises and being a trusted partner  
to everyone we work with.

Meeting the needs of our customers 
and the local community on each 
development is our central focus,  
from initial concept to final delivery.

What we do 
We focus on brownfield opportunities in 
locations across London where the need 
for homes far exceeds supply. 

We invest in the communities we create 
through our sustainability strategy: 
‘Building a Living Legacy’. 

We have extensive knowledge and 
expertise in acquiring land, obtaining 
planning permissions and designing  
and building high quality developments. 

Our buildings are bespoke designs 
consisting of various housing tenures, 
alongside commercial properties and 
community buildings.

Our customers include institutional 
investors in the build to rent sector, 
housing associations, individual buy- 
to-let investors and owner-occupiers. 

Being a valued partner to landowners, 
housing associations, local authorities, 
build to rent investors and our supply 
chain is a key part of Telford Homes’ 
strong brand reputation, as is looking 
after everyone who works for us.  For more information see page 08

OVERVIEW

02
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NEW GARDEN QUARTER E15
We secured detailed planning consent for this mixed-use scheme on Olympic legacy land. In a joint venture with Notting Hill Genesis,  

we are developing 471 homes of all tenures and over 10,000 sq.ft of commercial space.

NUMBER OF HOMES

471
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Proven  
strategy

Market 
opportunity

Strong 
partnerships

 
Knowledge  
and experience

Focused on London 
with an increasing 
commitment to the 
delivery of build to  
rent homes

Chronic shortage of 
homes in London and 
strong build to rent 
investor demand

A respected partner 
to our stakeholders, 
encouraging new 
opportunities to  
work together

A highly motivated team 
with extensive experience 
of planning and complex 
construction in London

Over the next few years 
we have the ability and 
desire to deliver far more 
homes in London than 
we are already doing. Our 
focus on the build to rent 
sector has helped us to 
broaden our geographical 
reach across London. It is 
the core of our strategy as 
it will enable us to achieve 
our growth ambitions 
without taking excessive 
risk or needing additional 
equity capital.

We are skilled at working 
collaboratively with our 
partners to create a legacy 
of sustainable homes and 
places. Our reputation 
for being straightforward 
and trustworthy has 
given strength to our 
credentials as a partner of 
choice to many reputable 
organisations including 
build to rent investors 
and housing associations 
amongst many others.

There is a clear shortage 
of housing across London. 
Our business model has 
been evolving in response 
to increasing institutional 
investment demand 
and customer rental 
demand. The proportion 
of Londoners renting 
will continue to rise with 
customers increasingly 
turning to a rental model, 
in part due to affordability, 
but increasingly as a 
lifestyle choice that offers 
greater flexibility.

We have an experienced 
and proven management 
team with extensive 
knowledge in acquiring 
land, obtaining planning 
permissions and 
designing and building 
high quality developments. 
We are construction 
specialists and retain full 
responsibility for all our 
developments throughout 
their design, build and 
finally handover to our 
customers and partners.

  Read our market overview 
 on page 14

  Read about our Board of 
 Directors on page 46

  Read about our strategy
  on page 10

  View our business model 
 on page 08

AN AWARD WINNING DEVELOPER WITH 
EXTENSIVE EXPERIENCE OF WORKING  
IN LONDON

OUR INVESTMENT CASE

OVERVIEW

04
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Substantial 
pipeline

Reduced  
risk

Quality  
and service

Growing  
business

Development pipeline of 
4,900 homes representing 
£1.6 billion of future 
revenue

Forward funded build 
to rent transactions, 
reducing debt and 
improving risk profile

Delivering quality homes 
to a diverse customer 
mix with a 99 per cent 
recommendation rate  
in 2018

Ability and desire to 
increase output to meet 
significant housing need 
in London

We continue to add 
to our considerable 
development pipeline and 
in recent months have 
secured opportunities 
at International Way in 
Stratford for around 380 
homes and Greenford in 
Ealing for 278 homes. We 
are very active in the land 
market and are engaged in 
detailed discussions on a 
number of new sites whilst 
continuing to appraise 
many others.

Our commitment to 
quality and service 
was demonstrated 
by a customer 
recommendation rate of 
99 per cent in 2018. This 
significant achievement 
places us at the top of 
housebuilder rankings, 
and is testament to the 
dedication and hard work 
of our employees in all 
areas of the business. 
There is an increasing 
focus on the quality of 
new homes and this 
score serves to further 
underpin our reputation 
for delivering an excellent 
product.

Our heightened focus 
on build to rent delivers 
superior capital 
returns whilst reducing 
required debt finance 
and market risk. As a 
result the emergence 
of forward fund build to 
rent transactions as an 
increasing feature of our 
business model, and the 
wider London market, has 
proved attractive and fits 
very well with our existing 
approach to balancing risk 
and return. 

Political recognition of 
the urgent need for new 
rental homes adds further 
weight to our belief that 
build to rent will be one 
of the keys to solving 
London’s housing crisis. 
Our expanded operational 
structure is enabling 
the Group to grow 
efficiently and therefore 
to significantly increase 
our output of homes, 
particularly build to rent, 
over the next five years. 

  See our Financial review 
 on page 24

  See our Chief Executive 
	 Officer’s	review	on	page	16

  See our Chief Executive 
	 Officer’s	review	on	page	16

  See our Chief Executive 
	 Officer’s	review	on	page	16
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CITY NORTH N4 
City North is a mixed-use development that is being delivered through a joint venture with the Business Design Centre. 

It features 355 new homes and 109,000 sq.ft of commercial space and is due for completion in 2020.

NUMBER OF HOMES

355
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BUSINESS MODEL

OUR STRAIGHTFORWARD BUSINESS MODEL 
HAS CONSISTENTLY DELIVERED VALUE  
TO OUR STAKEHOLDERS 

What we doOur key resources 
and relationships

LAND ACQUISITION 
Brownfield sites in London, with or without planning in  
non-prime locations where demand exceeds supply.

SALES AND CUSTOMERS 
Balancing a mix of build to rent investors, individual investors, 
owner-occupiers and affordable housing providers.

PLANNING 
Using our knowledge of each borough to work with their planning 
teams and provide imaginative concepts that align with policy.

DESIGN 
Developments that fit in with local communities and meet  
the needs of our customers.

CONSTRUCTION 
Controlling the process with in-house expertise to deliver  
a quality product on programme.

Reinvestment

Land owners

Local authorities

Housing associations

Our customers

Build to rent investors

Supply chain

RELATIONSHIPS

Land

Knowledge

Construction expertise

Our people

Respected brand

Strong balance sheet

RESOURCES

TELFORD HOMES PLC – Annual Report 2019
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How we create value

DEVELOPMENT 
PIPELINE 

£1.6bn

CUSTOMER  
RECOMMENDATION 
RATE

99%

Taking planning risk  
and optimising a policy  
compliant scheme

Reducing sales risk  
wherever possible

Delivering excellent  
customer service

Taking control of the whole 
development process

Driving capital returns  
through build to rent

Reinvestment

Sharing value with  
our stakeholders 

EARNINGS  
PER SHARE

44.6p

DIVIDEND  
PER SHARE

17.0p

Buying the right land in  
the right locations

OUR CLIENTS AND COMMUNITIES
A focus on quality and service together 
with our sustainability commitments 
through our ‘Building a Living Legacy’ 
strategy.

   Read more about our sustainability strategy  
on page 42

OUR PEOPLE
Rewarding and stimulating career  
paths with responsibility, empowerment 
and opportunities for training and 
development.

  Read more about our people on page 36

SHAREHOLDERS
Maintaining a strong dividend even in a 
more challenging market environment 
due to our strategic shift to build to rent.

  Read more in the Financial review on page 24

OVERVIEW STRATEGIC REPORT GOVERNANCE KEY MANAGEMENT INFORMATION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AMBITION AND STRATEGY

OUR AMBITION
There is a chronic shortage of new homes in London. Our goal is to grow our output  
of homes, principally through our strategic focus on build to rent, and in so doing help 
address this shortage in one of the world’s greatest cities.

OUR STRATEGY HAS EVOLVED AND WE HAVE 
A CLEAR PLAN TO ACHIEVE OUR AMBITION OF 
INCREASING OUR OUTPUT OF HOMES

INTERNATIONAL WAY, STRATFORD E15 

TELFORD HOMES PLC – Annual Report 2019
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REDUCING RISK OPERATE RESPONSIBLY

Our increased focus on build to 
rent delivers enhanced capital 
returns, requiring less equity 
investment and reducing our 
reliance on debt finance. It de-risks 
each scheme at an early stage and 
therefore reduces the economic 
risks inherent in selling homes 
to individuals, particularly during 
market downturns. 

We recognise that in order to 
maintain and enhance our strong 
brand and reputation we must 
continue to deliver responsibly 
across a number of core areas  
of the business. These include 
the quality of our finished product 
and level of customer service, our 
health and safety and sustainability 
performance, our corporate 
governance and the professional 
conduct of our employees. 

REDUCING 
EXPOSURE TO 
MARKET RISKS 
AND DEBT

DRIVING OUR 
RESPONSIBLE 
BUSINESS 
AGENDA

We have improved our access to 
land opportunities and increased 
the potential for new relationships 
by enlarging our desired area of 
operation across London. This 
also enables us to target build to 
rent development opportunities 
in new and emerging locations. 
We have proven that we have 
the knowledge and expertise 
to successfully expand our 
geographic horizons. 

ACCESS TO LAND

BROADENING OUR 
GEOGRAPHIC 
FOCUS

  For more information see page 16   For more information see page 24   For more information see page 16

OUR STRATEGY

Our existing operational structure 
has the capacity to handle 
much greater scale and this will 
enable Telford Homes to expand 
efficiently over the next few years. 
Our strategic shift to build to 
rent provides the opportunity for 
significant growth in the future 
without the need for substantial 
additional capital.

GROWING OUR 
OPERATIONAL 
CAPACITY

  For more information see page 16

We are building a reputation as one 
of the build to rent developers of 
choice in London whilst expanding 
our knowledge and understanding 
of the sector to become a go to 
partner. Our new strategic build to 
rent partnerships with Invesco and 
M&G for forward fund transactions 
will assist us in increasing our 
build to rent pipeline over the next 
few years.

DRIVING GROWTH

A KEY BUILD TO 
RENT DEVELOPER 
AND PARTNER 

  For more information see page 12

OPERATE EFFICIENTLY

OVERVIEW STRATEGIC REPORT GOVERNANCE KEY MANAGEMENT INFORMATION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INSIGHT INTO BUILD TO RENT

Strategy
Over the last few years Telford  
Homes has undertaken a shift in 
strategy towards an increasing 
proportion of homes being delivered  
for institutionally owned build to  
rent housing. 

Our vision is to be one of London’s 
leading build to rent developers and 
the partner of choice. We are already 
working in partnership with well-
respected, experienced and ambitious 
institutional investors and we intend  
to place even greater focus on build  
to rent over the coming years. 

Increasing rental demand 
We view build to rent as being the future 
of increasing housing delivery in London. 
The proportion of Londoners renting 
is rising and will continue to do so with 
customers increasingly turning to a 
rental model, not just due to affordability, 
but more as a lifestyle choice looking for 
greater flexibility. 

The London rental market is 
undersupplied and renters are known 
to experience issues with poor 
quality housing and a lack of landlord 
interaction and property management. 
Purpose-built rental housing assists in 
addressing these issues by improving 
the supply of good quality rental 
homes and delivering better customer 
amenities, improved on-site services 
and more secure and flexible tenancies. 

Renting is an attractive alternative to 
owning a home due to the significant 
reduction in financial commitment 
needed both in terms of transaction 
costs and financing costs. As a result, 
the rental market in the UK, particularly  
in London, is starting to mirror that in 
many US cities where build to rent has 
been introduced over the last 25 years 
and made renting a way of life.

Investment partners
Telford Homes is well placed to develop 
purpose-built rental housing with a 
proven track record of delivering high-
quality homes in London over the last 
18 years. We are currently working with 
institutional partners across multiple 
build to rent developments. 

In March 2019, we announced that 
we have formed long-term strategic 
partnerships with M&G and Invesco 
for forward fund transactions. We 
believe that the partnerships will 
lead to more efficient ways of buying 
land and designing bespoke build to 
rent schemes that match with each 
investor’s requirements. Through the 
standardisation of legal documentation, 
we also anticipate that the contractual 
process for each transaction will  
be shortened. 

We will continue to work with other 
investors and current partners such 
as Greystar, on both existing and new 
projects, particularly where they bring 
opportunities to us or on sites that do not 
fit the criteria of either M&G or Invesco.

Why build to rent works for us
Build to rent is enabling us to reduce 
our exposure to market risk in return for 
reduced margins. This trade off fits well 
with our traditional desire to minimise 
the risks the business is taking. The 
forward funded nature of build to rent 
transactions improves our return on 
capital and reduces our need for debt 
finance, which in turn means we can 
more swiftly increase our output of 
much needed homes in London.

We expect our new partnerships to 
provide a significant catalyst to our 
objective to become one of London’s 
leading build to rent developers and  
that our increasing involvement in the 
sector will be a key driver of the growth 
of Telford Homes in the years ahead.

OUR VISION IS TO BE ONE OF LONDON’S 
LEADING BUILD TO RENT DEVELOPERS  
AND THE PARTNER OF CHOICE 

We are delighted to 
formally cement what 
has been an excellent 
working relationship  
with Telford Homes  
over the last three years. 
Commercialising the 
production of homes 
to rent at scale with a 
likeminded, high quality 
developer of rental 
stock, is another step 
closer to fulfilling M&G’s 
residential investment 
strategy. Telford Homes 
has been an early 
adopter of the sector and 
this is another example 
of how it adjusts its 
model today to focus on 
tomorrow’s customers 
and occupiers.

Alex Greaves, Head of 
Residential Investment  
at M&G Real Estate

TELFORD HOMES PLC – Annual Report 2019 OVERVIEW

12



THE PAVILIONS N1 
A residential development of 156 homes on a complex site which has been shortlisted for a Housing Design Award 2019. 

The homes were sold to L&Q for build to rent and affordable housing.

NUMBER OF HOMES

156
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THERE REMAINS A SHORTAGE OF HOUSING  
IN LONDON AND DEMAND FOR RENTAL  
HOMES CONTINUES TO INCREASE

MARKET OVERVIEW

Chart 1: Indexed trend in number of jobs, people and 
homes in London 1997 to 2017 (1997 = 100)

Source: GLA, ONS, MHCLG

Chart 2: Annual trend in household tenure, London,  
1981 to 2017

Source: GLA, MHCLG

 Owned with mortgage People Jobs  Homes

Economic growth in London 
despite uncertainty
Ongoing uncertainty surrounding the 
UK’s departure from the European Union 
has led to caution among consumers 
and businesses in relation to investment 
decisions. In spite of this, there has been 
continued employment growth in London, 
exceeding the UK-wide figure to reach a 
record high of 5.9 million jobs in Q2 2018, 
up 1.5% from the previous year1.

Low unemployment and greater 
competition for labour have accelerated 
earnings growth to 3.4% for the same 
period relative to the previous year, the 
greatest increase since 2008 2.

The Greater London Authority (GLA) 
forecasts growth in London’s Gross 
Value Added, jobs and household  
income to continue over the next  
three years, at a faster rate than the  
UK overall1. 

Chronic shortfall of  
housing supply
There has been a clear and sustained 
disconnect between demand for and 
supply of housing in London. GLA 
analysis of Office for National Statistics 
(ONS) data shows that, between 1997 
and 2017, the number of jobs in London 
grew by 42% and the population by  
26%, but the housing stock by only  
16% (chart 1).

Population growth in the capital is 
expected to outpace that of the UK 
 as a whole, with the GLA projecting  
an increase – subject to the availability  
of housing – of 1.7 million between  
2015 and 2035, which would take 
London’s population to 10.5 million¹.

The provisional estimate of the net 
number of new homes completed in 
London for 2016/17 was 40,3503. This is 
an increase of 5,000 from the previous 
year, but remains far short of the GLA’S 
draft new London Plan target of 66,000 
new homes per year through to 2030.

Increasing demand for  
rental homes
There has been a significant shift in the 
tenure of households in London since 
1990. As shown in chart 2, GLA analysis 
points to a consistent, long-term fall in 
the proportion of homes in the capital 
that are owned with a mortgage. Having 
peaked at 40% in the early 1990s, the 
proportion of homes owned with a 
mortgage had fallen to 29% in 2017. 
Conversely, private rented homes 
accounted for around 11% of households 
in 1991 and had grown to 27% in 2017. 

There are now more than 1.6 million 
renting households in the capital 3. The 
imbalance between supply and demand 
is illustrated by upward trends in rents, 
which grew by 6.2% across Greater 
London in 2018².

Growth in build to rent 
Investment from individual private 
landlords has fallen significantly in recent 
years, influenced by changes to the buy-
to-let tax regime as well as economic 
uncertainty. Buy-to-let mortgages fell 
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Source: CBRE Q1 2019  Source: Molior London

from a high of 117,500 in 2015 to 74,900 
in 20174. However, any reduction in 
individual buy-to-let investor demand 
has been more than compensated by a 
surge in institutional capital looking for 
long-term investment in rental housing. 
CBRE data indicates investment from 
institutional investors in the UK build to 
rent sector of £3.81 billion in 2018/19, 
a doubling relative to the previous year 
(chart 3). The majority of investment 
volume was in London5. Knight Frank  
has upgraded its forecast for build to  
rent investment by 2025 to £75 billion, 
with increased activity expected 
from both overseas and domestic 
institutional investors4. 

In its UK Cross Sector Outlook 
report, Savills points to the increasing 
importance of purpose-built, 
institutionally owned build to rent 
homes to new housing delivery. The 
report compares growth of only 1.1% in 
the number of outstanding buy-to-let 
mortgages in the year to September 
2018, compared with an increase of 30% 
in the number of build to rent homes 
either complete or under construction. 
Chart 4 shows the cumulative starts 
and completions of build to rent 

homes in London from 2009 to 2018. 
Notwithstanding the burgeoning growth, 
the number remains a small fraction of 
the capital’s private rented stock. 

As the purpose-built rental sector has 
developed, the size of schemes has 
grown; the average size of a completed 
scheme is 133 homes, while the average 
scheme under construction is 240 
homes4. Also while there has been a 
broadening of the institutions investing 
in UK build to rent, some of the largest 
participants in the US market are not  
yet present in the UK sector. 

Promising outlook
There is a clear recognition across 
political parties of the urgent need to 
build more homes in the UK, and in 
London specifically. Long-run trends in 
population growth and the cumulative 
effect of years of undersupply point 
to an ongoing need for high quality 
new homes at an affordable price and 
especially homes to rent. This market 
dynamic validates the Group’s drive to 
increase output focused on build to rent 
and as a result contribute to addressing 
London’s housing shortage.

Knight Frank has 
upgraded its forecast for 
build to rent investment 
by 2025 to £75bn. 
Rapid growth highlights 
significant momentum 
from both overseas and 
domestic institutional 
investors. Fundamental 
demand is growing 
among all age groups 
and income profiles for 
privately rented homes.

RBC Capital Markets 
European Real Estate 
Update, April 2019

Chart 3: Institutional investment volumes into build to 
rent in UK

Chart 4: Cumulative build to rent starts and completions  
in London, 2009 to 2018

1.  London’s Economic Outlook: Autumn 2018, 
Greater London Authority.

2.  London: The Property Perspective Q4 2018, 
CBRE. 

3.  Housing in London: 2018, Greater London 
Authority.

4.  RBC Capital Markets European Real Estate 
Update April 2019.

5.   United Kingdom Residential Investment, Q1. 
2019, CBRE. 
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Over the last three 
years we have made 
substantial progress 
against our objective 
to increase our output 
of build to rent homes 
to meet demand from 
institutional investors 
and to deliver high 
quality rental properties 
in London.

Jon Di-Stefano
Chief Executive Officer

Whilst the financial year to 31 March 
2019 was not without its challenges, 
we remain confident that our strategic 
move towards the growing rental market 
in London will enable us to increase our 
delivery of much needed new homes in 
the years ahead.

Performance overview
Total revenue in the year to 31 March 
2019 reached a record £354.3 million, 
up 12 per cent on last year (2018: £316.2 
million), with the proportion from build to 
rent developments also at a record level 
of 31 per cent (2018: 21 per cent). GAAP 
revenue, excluding the Group’s share of 
joint ventures, was £336.1 million (2018: 
£294.8 million). Profit margins remained 
at or above target levels with the margin 
on individual sale developments at 28.3 
per cent (target 24 per cent) and the 
build to rent margin at 13.2 per cent 
(target 12 to 13 per cent). This has been 
achieved against a more uncertain and 
challenging market backdrop.

Total profit before tax has reduced to 
£40.1 million (2018: £46.0 million) due 
to the increased proportion of lower 
margin build to rent developments 
within total revenue. GAAP profit before 
tax, excluding joint ventures, was £40.3 
million (2018: £46.3 million). Whilst 
absolute profits have fallen this should 
be considered in the context of a growing 
business delivering higher output but 
with a greater emphasis on lower risk 
and less capital intensive developments. 
As a result, our gearing has reduced 
considerably to 37.0 per cent (March 
2018: 44.6 per cent; September 2018: 
52.2 per cent).

We had hoped to achieve even more 
but, as previously reported, a number 
of factors hampered our ability to reach 
our original target of £50 million of profit 
before tax for FY 2019. The individual 
sale market in London has been subdued 
by a prolonged period of uncertainty 
and customer expectations of enhanced 
discounts and incentives led to reduced 
prices on those sales that were secured. 

Our results for the year were also 
affected by the delay of two build 
contracts anticipated to exchange in  
FY 2019 but pushed back to FY 2020  
due primarily to planning issues. 
Despite this, our performance in the 
year represents a great achievement 
for Telford Homes with revenue at an  
all-time high and profit before tax 
reducing largely due to our successful 
change in strategy towards lower  
margin build to rent homes.

Strategic shift towards  
build to rent
We sell homes to diverse customer 
segments including build to rent 
investors, housing associations, owner-
occupiers and individual investors. The 
strategy we have been pursuing for some 
time of increasing the proportion of our 
homes sold to the build to rent sector 
has been further validated by a more 
uncertain market for individual sales to 
owner-occupiers and a significant drop 
in demand from individual investors.

OUR BUSINESS MODEL IS INCREASINGLY 
FOCUSED ON BUILD TO RENT HOUSING AND 
THE REDUCED RISK AND LOWER CAPITAL 
REQUIREMENTS IT BRINGS 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW
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BOW GARDEN SQUARE E3 
In a partnership with Poplar HARCA, Bow Garden Square is providing 109 mixed-tenure homes,  

a new primary school, mosque and nursery. It has been shortlisted for a Housing Design Award 2019.

NUMBER OF HOMES

109
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EQUIPMENT WORKS E17 
A mixed-use development of 337 homes and 18,830 sq.ft of commercial space. The homes have been sold to Greystar  

and Henderson Park for build to rent and Notting Hill Genesis for affordable housing.

NUMBER OF HOMES

337
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There is a fundamental imbalance 
between demand and supply of rental 
properties in London at affordable 
rent levels and we firmly believe that 
institutionally owned build to rent 
developments are key to increasing 
housing delivery in London. As we  
have outlined previously, there are three 
primary reasons that this sector is 
attractive to Telford Homes:

• Firstly, the higher return on capital 
associated with build to rent 
transactions, which require no debt 
and limited equity investment. In 
return, the profit margin is lower than 
for individual sale developments but 
the forward funded nature of build to 
rent de-risks our development pipeline.

• Secondly, there is significant demand 
from institutions looking to invest 
in build to rent housing in London. 
Keen to develop pipelines of rental 
properties as quickly as possible, 
investors are seeking to access skills 
that Telford Homes already has in 
terms of site sourcing, planning  
and construction.

• Finally, this investment demand 
is underpinned by the growing 
proportion of customers who are 
renting rather than buying due partly 
to affordability constraints but also 
increasingly a desire for flexibility and 
as a lifestyle choice. Purpose-built 
rental developments typically offer 
better customer amenities, improved 
on-site services and more secure 
and flexible tenancies. Together with 
a greater sense of community, these 
factors make build to rent housing 
the ideal product for new generations 
wanting to live in London.

Whilst we will continue to target owner-
occupiers on specific developments and 
particularly at prices up to £600,000, 
sales to individual investors no longer 
represent a significant part of our future 
pipeline. Having reviewed our existing 
portfolio, we expect to change a number 
of developments that were planned as 
individual sale schemes to build to rent. 
As a result, the expected split of our 
current development pipeline, by number 
of homes, is 70 per cent on build to rent 
led developments and 30 per cent on 
developments led by individual sales.

Build to rent performance
We are making strong progress on our 
existing build to rent projects having 
already completed and handed over 
in excess of 300 homes with a further 
1,422 currently in progress. The latter 
number includes 890 homes at Parkside 
in Nine Elms for Greystar where we 
are mobilising to start work in June 
2019. However it does not include 
any developments already under 
construction that we are planning to 
deliver as build to rent, but where we 
have not yet entered into any forward 
funding agreement with an investor.

August 2018 marked an important step 
for Telford Homes when we handed 
over The Pavilions, our first institutional 
build to rent development, which was 
purchased by L&Q in 2016. Since then 
we have handed over the build to rent 
homes at New Garden Quarter to Folio, 
part of Notting Hill Genesis. We are also 
approaching build completion on two 
schemes we are developing for M&G 
Real Estate (‘M&G’), being Carmen Street 
and The Forge. Both developments 
will be handed over this calendar year 
and we are particularly excited to be 
approaching this important milestone  
in our relationship.

Our growing track record in build to 
rent has been enhanced by the recent 
sale of our Equipment Works site 
in Walthamstow to a joint venture 
between Greystar and Henderson 
Park for £105.5 million. This will be our 
third development working alongside 
Greystar, following on from Parkside and 
our acquisition of part of their significant 
site in Greenford, Ealing. We have formed 
a strong partnership together and we 
expect to extend that in the future. The 
Equipment Works transaction is on a 
forward funded basis and comprises  
the sale of the freehold interest in the 
land and the construction of 257 build  
to rent homes.

Build to rent partnership 
agreements
To cement our position as one 
of London’s leading build to rent 
developers, we recently concluded an 
extensive selection process managed 
by Savills to identify strategic partners 

for forward fund transactions. We are 
delighted to have entered partnership 
agreements with both Invesco and M&G. 
The decision to select two partners is 
a reflection of the high quality of the 
potential partners in the final stage of 
our selection process. We have agreed 
in principle to work with each partner 
on schemes of different sizes to provide 
clarity and to align with their respective 
investment preferences. Both are well 
established investors in the London build 
to rent market, and the new partnership 
formalises the strong relationship we 
already have with M&G.

We believe that our partnership led 
approach will increase the efficiency 
of buying land and designing build to 
rent schemes to meet each investor’s 
requirements. Having a standard set 
of documents should also expedite the 
process of contracting on individual 
transactions. We expect to develop a 
significant pipeline for both M&G and 
Invesco in the coming years and we will 
continue to work with other investors 
where we have been approached 
directly, or on sites that do not meet the 
partnership criteria. To have attracted 
such well respected and ambitious 
organisations as long-term partners is 
very pleasing and an indication of our 
growing reputation as a build to rent 
developer of choice in London.

Individual open market sales
Despite a subdued market, we 
continued to generate sales and 
this was particularly the case for 
homes priced below £600,000 on our 
developments that were complete or 
close to completion. These sales have 
been mostly to owner-occupiers, many 
of whom took advantage of the Help to 
Buy scheme. We were pleased to see 
the Government extend Help to Buy until 
2023, although the scheme itself is not 
expected to be material to our longer-
term business plan given our increased 
focus on rental homes.

Since the end of FY 2019 we have 
continued to make steady progress 
across the schemes we have available 
for sale and we are particularly 
pleased to have all of the homes at 
Bow Garden Square reserved, with the 
majority completed and handed over. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW
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Bow Garden Square is a partnership 
with Poplar HARCA that includes 109 
homes together with a new school and 
a mosque. It was recently declared 
‘Development of the Year’ at the 2019 
‘RESI Awards’ and this achievement is 
testament to our usual high standards  
in terms of design and the quality of  
the finished scheme.

Following the successful launch of 
New Garden Quarter in Stratford at the 
beginning of 2018, we held an off-plan 
launch of Gallions Point in the UK and 
Asia in October last year. We were 
disappointed to secure only 15 sales,  
with demand predominantly dampened 
by economic uncertainty in relation to 
Brexit. The majority of the homes at 
Gallions Point are priced under £600,000, 
with completions scheduled for 2020, and 
we believe that they will be attractive to 
owner-occupiers at the appropriate time. 
Sales to individual investors, whether in 
the UK or overseas, no longer represent  
a significant part of our future plans and 
we do not expect a change in demand 
from that sector in the short-term.

Whilst we expect the more subdued 
market for sales to continue throughout 
2019, individual sales to owner-
occupiers remain an important part of 
our business. For example, the site we 
acquired from Greystar in Greenford 
will see the development of 194 homes 
for individual open market sale at an 
average selling price of circa £500,000 
along with 84 subsidised affordable 
homes for shared ownership. The 
scheme is expected to be completed in 
2022 and will be released for sale much 
nearer to that time, at a point when 
Help to Buy will still be available. We will 
continue to work hard to secure sales on 
developments closer to completion and 
those already completed whilst we await 
greater economic certainty, particularly 
in terms of the outcome of Brexit.

Development pipeline
In February 2019 we were pleased 
to acquire a site, subject to obtaining 
satisfactory planning consent, on 
International Way in Stratford from 
LCR, the Department for Transport and 
HS1 Ltd. The site represents our third 
land acquisition involving LCR and the 

development is anticipated to deliver 
around 380 new homes together with 
commercial space.

Our development pipeline now includes 
4,900 homes (including Parkside), with a 
total expected gross development value 
of £1.59 billion (2018: £1.31 billion). This 
pipeline is weighted towards build to rent 
developments, as noted earlier, and the 
homes expected to be for individual sale 
are valued at an average price of circa 
£550,000 in line with our target.

Around 950 of the homes in our 
development pipeline are currently going 
through the planning process. Whilst 
we have experienced some frustrating 
delays in achieving planning consents 
on certain developments, we continue 
to believe that our deep knowledge and 
strong relationships across London 
put us in the best possible position to 
navigate this difficult environment. We 
were disappointed to have our planning 
application for the LEB Building in 
Bethnal Green refused recently. However, 
this was expected and allowed for when 
we reported a planning delay in our 
trading update in February 2019. We will 
appeal the decision and we expect a 
successful outcome.

We are actively engaged in identifying 
new opportunities to add to our pipeline 
and particularly those that suit build to 
rent investors and our new partnerships. 
We are in various stages of negotiations 
on several sites that we hope to conclude 
over the course of the next financial year.

People and culture
One of our key differentiators is our 
friendly and supportive culture, which is 
reflected in the consistently high scores 
we achieve in our employee satisfaction 
surveys. Our dedicated employees 
continue to deliver tremendous 
work across the whole Group and to 
overcome any challenges that come 
their way. Together we have positioned 
the business well for the future and I 
would like to thank all of our employees, 
and indeed each of our suppliers and 
subcontractors, for their help and efforts 
in the last year. We have won numerous 
awards in the last 12 months and we are 
always delighted whenever we receive 
external recognition for our work.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW

In the last year we have focused on 
creating a culture that promotes positive 
mental health in our business and 
raises understanding of this important 
issue in the construction industry. We 
established a ‘Health and Wellbeing 
Group’ who launched a week long 
programme of events to support World 
Mental Health Day in October 2018. 
The purpose was to ensure employees 
understand that we are committed to 
their mental health in the workplace and 
to provide support when they need it. 
We also established several resources 
to ensure mental health remains one of 
our key priorities outside of this week of 
events. The week was so well received 
that we did the same again in May 2019 
and this time we extended the activities 
across our development sites.

In March 2019 we officially launched  
the new ‘Telford Homes Academy’ when 
our first cohort of ‘Budding Managers’ 
started their development programme. 
The Academy aims to provide training 
and development for every career 
stage, from trainees through to first 
time managers and then on to senior 
managers. It will not only support and 
develop those who aspire to progress, 
but also drive capability and excellence 
for everyone at any level within Telford 
Homes. Business growth will continue to 
present some fantastic opportunities for 
our employees to take on new roles and 
our Academy will ensure they are ready 
to do that.

As we announced in October 2018, 
Frank Nelson, Non-Executive Director 
since 2015, stepped down from the 
Board due to other commitments. We 
are in the process of seeking a suitable 
replacement and expect to make a 
further announcement in due course.

We put immense effort into ensuring all 
of our customers are happy with their 
new homes whether they are individuals, 
build to rent investors or housing 
associations. In 2018 we were delighted 
to secure an independently surveyed 
customer recommendation rate of 99 
per cent, which is exceptionally high for 
our industry. In a time when there is ever 
increasing focus on the quality of new 
homes we are very proud of this result 
and the frequent praise we receive from 
our development partners.
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GREENFORD UB6 
A residential development of 278 homes on the banks of the Grand Union Canal  

in Greenford which forms part of Greystar’s flagship scheme.

NUMBER OF HOMES

278
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STRATFORD CENTRAL E15 
A completed residential development of 181  

homes located in the heart of Stratford  
overlooking the Queen Elizabeth Olympic  

Park and Westfield Stratford City.

DEVELOPMENT VALUE

£000.0m

NUMBER OF HOMES

181
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Sustainability
We were delighted to be recognised in 
the 2018 NextGeneration sustainable 
housing benchmark report as the 
most improved housebuilder for the 
second consecutive year. Our fourth 
place ranking (from sixth in 2017 and 
seventeenth in 2016) also saw us 
receiving our first Gold Level award. 
These achievements are testament to 
our commitment to sustainable and 
responsible housebuilding under our 
‘Building a Living Legacy’ strategy. We 
launched this strategy in 2016 to help 
us create places that make a positive 
long-term contribution to London’s 
built environment. Sustainability is 
increasingly a consideration for partners 
and our work in this area enhances our 
ability to secure and maintain mutually 
beneficial relationships.

Dividend
The Board recommends a final dividend 
of 8.5 pence per share giving a total 
dividend for the year of 17.0 pence 
per share (FY 2018: 17.0 pence). 
Historically, our policy has been to pay 
at least one third of annual earnings to 
shareholders in dividends. In light of the 

lower capital requirements associated 
with our growing number of build to 
rent transactions, the Board expects to 
exceed this threshold in the future. In 
the short-term we expect to maintain an 
annual dividend of at least the 17.0 pence 
per share recommended for this year.

Outlook
There have been no changes to our  
profit before tax expectations for 
FY 2020 since the Group’s trading  
update in February 2019. Beyond  
FY 2020 we continue to expect profits 
to grow again, reflecting our increased 
focus on lower risk and less capital 
intensive build to rent developments.

Over the last three years we have 
made substantial progress against 
our objective to increase our output of 
build to rent homes to meet demand 
from institutional investors and to 
deliver high quality rental properties in 
the capital. There remains a long-term 
structural imbalance between housing 
supply and housing need in London. 
Our partnerships with Invesco and M&G 
signal our reputation as a trusted build to 
rent partner and as such are a significant 
step as we continue to develop our profile 
at the forefront of this burgeoning sector. 

We are excited to work more closely 
with both partners to capitalise on new 
opportunities to deliver much needed 
homes within market leading projects.

Ultimately, we believe Telford Homes 
has a robust long-term outlook based 
on a model that is less cyclical, lower 
risk and less capital intensive, building 
on our recognised skillset and excellent 
reputation, and underpinned by demand 
from both institutional investors and 
rental customers.

Jon Di-Stefano
Chief Executive Officer

29 May 2019

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REVIEW
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Despite build to rent 
generating lower profit 
margins, the limited 
equity requirement will 
enable swifter growth 
and therefore higher 
absolute profits in the 
medium-term with 
lower overall gearing 
requirements.

Katie Rogers
Chief Financial Officer

However, total profit before tax reduced 
to £40.1 million due to an increase in 
the proportion of revenue derived from 
build to rent developments. Build to rent 
transactions generate lower margins 
but reduce exposure to market risk 
and require no debt and limited equity 
investment. As a result, gearing reduced 
to 37.0 per cent at 31 March 2019 from 
52.2 per cent at 30 September 2018. 

Presentation of results  
and Alternative Performance 
Measures
The Group continues to comply 
with IFRS 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’, 
which states that joint ventures 
should be accounted for as equity 
investments rather than by proportional 
consolidation. The Group’s joint ventures 
are an integral part of the business and 
all developments are treated consistently 
within the business whether wholly 
owned or partially owned in a joint 
venture structure. As such the Board 
believes that the financial results are 
most appropriately presented using 
proportional consolidation, which  
means including the relevant share  
of the results of joint ventures in each 
line of the income statement and 
balance sheet. This therefore remains 
the method of presentation within the 
Group’s internal management accounts.

The Board has prepared an income 
statement and a balance sheet using 
proportional consolidation along 
with Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles (GAAP) compliant versions 
presenting joint ventures as equity 
investments. The Key Performance 
Indicators and other figures within 
this report include the Group’s share 

of joint venture results. For further 
details, definitions and reconciliations 
of Alternative Performance Measures 
see notes 2 and 22.

Operating results
Total revenue increased to £354.3 
million from £316.2 million last year 
(GAAP 2019: £336.1 million, 2018: 
£294.8 million) with the increase mainly 
generated from build to rent contracts. 
The Group recognises revenue on 
build to rent developments, including 
subsidised affordable housing contracts 
on these schemes, as contract revenue 
on a percentage of completion basis 
throughout the build programme. Build 
to rent developments contributed 
revenue, including the Group’s share of 
joint venture results, of £108.7 million 
(2018: £67.7 million). This includes 
new contracts in the year but also 
ongoing profit recognition on contracts 
exchanged in previous years as the build 
programme spans a number of years. 

Revenue from individual open market 
sale developments decreased to  
£231.7 million (2018: £244.2 million). 
This includes 390 open market 
completions (2018: 476) with an 
average price of £552,000 (2018: 
£473,000) together with subsidised 
affordable housing revenue on these 
schemes recognised on a percentage 
of completion basis. The increase in 
the average price of the open market 
completions reflects the mix of homes 
and developments completing in each 
period in terms of product and location. 
Other revenue in the year of £13.9 million 
(2018: £4.3 million) relates mainly to 
two small land sales of legacy assets 
together with freehold sales in the year.

TELFORD HOMES IS PLEASED TO REPORT AN 
INCREASE IN TOTAL REVENUE TO A RECORD HIGH 
OF £354.3 MILLION DESPITE A MORE CHALLENGING 
ECONOMIC AND POLITICAL ENVIRONMENT 

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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NUMBER OF HOMES

192

THE FORGE E6 
A residential development of 192 homes. All the homes have been sold to M&G  

Real Estate for build to rent and East Thames for affordable housing.
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THE LIBERTY BUILDING E14 
A completed residential development of 155 open market and affordable homes located in historic Limeharbour,  

The Liberty Building sits opposite Crossharbour DLR station, which is just three stops from Canary Wharf.

LONDON E14

LIBERTY
BUILDING

THE

NUMBER OF HOMES

155
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s strategy to increase the 
number of homes developed for build to 
rent investors will, over time, result in an 
even greater proportion of the Group’s 
revenue and profit being recognised on 
a percentage of completion basis over 
the life of each development as opposed 
to individual open market sales where 
revenue and profit is recognised at the 
point of legal completion. Build to rent 
sales will therefore result in the Group 
recognising revenue and profit earlier 
than if the homes had been sold to 
individual purchasers.

Total gross profit is in line with the prior 
year at £79.3 million (2018: £79.5 million) 
and on a GAAP basis £75.0 million 
(GAAP 2018: £74.8 million). Total gross 
profit is stated after expensing loan 
interest that has been capitalised within 
inventories of £4.5 million (2018: £4.2 
million) and therefore before charging 
this interest the adjusted gross margin 
was 23.7 per cent compared to 26.5 per 
cent last year. Total gross profit is similar 
to the prior year despite an increase in 
revenue due to the increasing proportion 
of the revenue arising from lower margin 
build to rent developments. 

On build to rent developments, the 
Group is prepared to accept a lower 
gross margin due to the advantages of 
forward funding and savings in selling 
expenses and interest costs. Forward 
funding broadly means an initial payment 
reimbursing the cost of the land followed 
by monthly construction payments 
and finally a payment on completion. 
As such very little equity is used during 
construction and no debt is required. The 
Group expects build to rent transactions 
to achieve a net margin of approximately 
12 to 13 per cent. The Group’s normal 
target gross margin is 24 per cent, which 
after allowing for selling and finance cost 
savings of circa eight per cent means a 
net margin reduction for build to rent of 
three to four per cent. In the Board’s view 
this reduction is more than offset by a 
substantially improved return on capital.

The actual margin achieved on the build 
to rent revenue recognised in the year to 
31 March 2019 was in line with the target 
margin at 13.2 per cent albeit lower than 
the 18.1 per cent achieved in the year  

to 31 March 2018 when build cost 
savings achieved in that year improved 
the profit margin.

The margin achieved on open market 
sale developments of 28.3 per cent was 
largely consistent with that achieved last 
year (2018: 28.4 per cent) and remains 
ahead of the Group’s target when 
appraising new sites of 24 per cent.  
A significant proportion of the open 
market completions in the current 
year were from two sites, Stratford 
Central and The Liberty Building, both 
of which were substantially forward 
sold a number of years ago where the 
sales achieved had benefitted from 
some price inflation prior to launch. 
The margin recognised on open market 
developments is expected to trend down 
towards the target margin over time as 
older developments which benefitted 
from sales price inflation are replaced by 
sites acquired more recently. 

Administrative expenses have increased 
to £27.6 million (2018: £24.2 million), 
including the Group’s share of joint 
ventures, and £27.4 million excluding 
joint ventures (2018: £24.1 million). This 
rise is mainly due to higher employee 
costs which have enabled the Group 
to deliver an increase in revenue in this 
year and investment in knowledge and 
experience and an operational structure 
which enables further growth in the 
future. As a percentage of revenue, 
administrative expenses have remained 
relatively similar year on year at circa  
7.8 per cent. 

Selling expenses have increased to £9.8 
million (2018: £6.5 million) including the 
Group’s share of joint ventures and £9.0 
million excluding the Group’s share of 
joint ventures (2018: £5.7 million). The 
Group adopted IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from 
contracts with customers’ from 1 April 
2018 and the prior year figures have 
not been restated and are therefore not 
prepared on a like-for-like basis, see 
page 80 for further details. As a result 
of adopting IFRS 15, selling expenses in 
the year to March 2019 are £0.9 million 
higher than they would have been under 
the previous accounting standard and 
therefore on a comparable basis, selling 
expenses have increased by £2.4 million. 

The increase in selling expenses is 
largely due to the nature of the individual 
sale market at present with more 
intensive marketing required to secure 
sales including advertising and on-site 
development specific sales centres and 
show apartments. There was also more 
agents commission payable in relation 
to build to rent developments this year 
due to the exchange of a forward fund 
contract for Equipment Works. 

The Group’s adjusted operating margin 
has decreased by over three percentage 
points to 13.1 per cent (2018: 16.7 per 
cent) flowing through from the lower 
gross margin achieved as a result of 
more build to rent activity together 
with an increase in sales costs as a 
proportion of revenue due to the more 
challenging market environment. 

Total profit before tax has decreased 
from the record high achieved last year 
of £46.0 million to £40.1 million (GAAP 
2019: £40.3 million, 2018: £46.3 million). 
This was below our original market 
expectations of £50 million due to a 
subdued London sales market resulting 
in a slower sales rate and a delay on 
two build contracts that were expected 
to exchange in FY 2019 and are now 
anticipated in FY 2020.

Finance costs
Finance costs incurred by the 
Group mainly consist of interest on 
development financing, non-utilisation 
fees and amortised arrangement fees. 
Interest on development financing  
is capitalised into work in progress  
as required by IAS 23 and all other  
fees are charged directly to the  
income statement.

Total finance costs incurred, including 
our share of joint venture costs, 
increased marginally to £8.9 million 
(2018: £8.8 million) and includes £2 
million of non-utilisation fees, £0.9 
million of amortised arrangement fees 
and £5.4 million of interest capitalised 
on developments. Finance costs have 
not increased despite a rise in average 
borrowings in the year at £156.0 million 
(2018: £111.7 million) due to the full year 
benefit of the new lower rate revolving 
credit facility signed in December 2017.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Dividend
The current policy is to pay one third 
of earnings as dividends however the 
Board has committed to paying more 
than this over the next few years where 
earnings are expected to be lower than 
those reported for the year to March 
2018. During this time, the Board expects 
the annual dividend to be at least 17 
pence per share. In the future, the Board 
anticipates enhancing the Group’s 
dividend policy to take account of the 
reduced capital requirements of build  
to rent transactions. 

The Board is recommending a final 
dividend for the year of 8.5 pence which, 
together with the interim dividend of 8.5 
pence paid on 11 January 2019, makes a 
total dividend for the year of 17.0 pence 
(2018: 17.0 pence). Earnings per share 
equate to 44.6 pence (2018: 49.8 pence) 
and therefore the dividend payment is 38 
per cent of earnings. The final dividend 
is expected to be paid on 19 July 2019 to 
those shareholders on the register at the 
close of business on 7 June 2019. The 
ex-dividend date is 6 June 2019.

Balance sheet
Net assets at 31 March 2019 were 
£252.9 million, an increase from £231.1 
million last year mainly due to retained 
profits. This equates to net assets  
per share of 333 pence (31 March 2018: 
306 pence). 

Inventories, including the Group’s share 
of joint ventures, are the most significant 
proportion of net assets at £320.6 
million (2018: £373.9 million). Excluding 
joint ventures, inventories decreased 
from £300.0 million to £197.4 million. 
The inventories balance is largely made 
up of land being progressed through 
the planning system and land and 
development costs on sites in design 
and under construction. The value 
of unsold finished properties within 
inventories was £15.7 million at  
31 March 2019 (2018: £34.8 million). 

In the future a greater proportion of the 
Group’s revenue is expected to be derived 
from construction contracts, in particular 
build to rent, and this will ultimately reduce 
the level of work in progress held on the 
balance sheet. This is because work in 
progress is charged out to cost of sales 
throughout the course of development on 
a percentage of completion basis as profit 
is recognised. This differs to open market 
individual sale homes whereby the work 
in progress balance builds up throughout 
the development until handover of 
each unit when revenue and profit is 
recognised in full.

Development pipeline 
The Group has a development pipeline 
of 4,900 homes (31 March 2018: 4,000 
homes) with a value of £1.59 billion (31 
March 2018: £1.31 billion). Over 80 per 
cent of the units in the development 
pipeline have a planning consent and  
are in design or under construction. 

The Group seeks to de-risk the 
development pipeline by securing forward 
sales whenever possible. In the past a 
substantial proportion of these forward 
sales have been to individual investors 
but going forward they are more likely 
to be achieved predominantly through 
build to rent transactions and subsidised 
affordable housing. Currently 60 per cent 
of the homes in our pipeline that are under 
construction are forward sold.

Borrowings
The Group funds its development costs 
through a combination of debt and equity 
unless subject to a forward funding 
arrangement. Due to the strategic shift 
towards build to rent and therefore more 
forward funded developments, the 
business has continued to grow but with 
a reduction in net debt to £93.6 million 
(2018: £103.1 million) and lower gearing 
at 37.0 per cent (2018: 44.6 per cent). 

We still anticipate a relatively modest 
level of debt within the Group to 
fund open market individual sale 

developments in a capital efficient way 
using the relatively cheap debt funding 
available. However, the Board has stated 
that gearing is expected to remain under 
50 per cent going forward as open 
market individual sale homes become  
a reducing proportion of the pipeline.

Telford Homes has sufficient headroom 
within its five year £210 million revolving 
credit facility signed in December 2017 
with NatWest, HSBC, Santander and 
AIB. As at 31 March 2019, the Group 
had drawn £106.7 million of this facility, 
leaving headroom of £103.3 million 
to fund future site acquisitions and 
construction costs. The Group 
remains well within the development 
and corporate covenants stipulated  
within the facility and maintains  
excellent long-term relationships  
with its banking partners. 

Joint venture developments are funded 
outside of the revolving credit facility with 
site specific loans secured as and when 
required. The Group has a £110 million 
facility with Lasalle Residential Finance 
Fund to fund its 50 per cent owned joint 
venture at City North and a £35 million 
facility with RBS to fund Balfron Tower, in 
which the Group has a 25 per cent stake.

Telford Homes is in a strong financial 
position with sufficient headroom 
within existing debt facilities and less 
need for debt going forward with the 
strategic shift into build to rent. Forward 
funded build to rent developments will 
enable Telford Homes to grow with a 
lower risk and less capital intensive 
strategy. Despite build to rent generating 
lower profit margins, the limited equity 
requirement will enable swifter growth 
and therefore higher absolute profits 
in the medium-term with lower overall 
gearing requirements.

Katie Rogers
Chief Financial Officer

29 May 2019
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GALLIONS POINT E16 
In partnership with Notting Hill Genesis, we are developing 292 homes in a contemporary new neighbourhood  

which is a key part of the regeneration of The Royal Docks.

NUMBER OF HOMES

292
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WE MONITOR PERFORMANCE AGAINST  
OUR STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES THROUGH  
THE FOLLOWING KPIs

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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TOTAL PROFIT  
BEFORE TAX

£40.1m
Total profit before tax is defined 
as IFRS profit before tax plus the 
Group’s share of profit before tax 
from its joint ventures. 

Why we measure it: Total profit 
before tax demonstrates the overall 
underlying profitability of the Group 
across all developments. This key 
metric is also used to determine Board 
and senior management bonuses.

ADJUSTED  
OPERATING MARGIN

13.1%
Adjusted operating margin is 
calculated as the total operating profit, 
adjusted for interest expensed through 
cost of sales, divided by total revenue, 
expressed as a percentage. 

Why we measure it: Adjusted operating 
margin demonstrates how efficiently 
the business is being operated.

AVERAGE INDIVIDUAL SALE 
PRICE IN PIPELINE 

£552k
This is the average revenue expected 
across all of the individual sale homes 
in the development pipeline. 

Why we measure it: The average price 
in our development pipeline measures 
how successful we have been in our 
aim of focusing on affordable  
non-prime locations when exposed  
to sales price risk.

GEARING 

37.0%
Gearing is calculated as net debt 
(borrowings less cash), including the 
Group’s share of joint venture net debt, 
divided by net assets expressed as  
a percentage. 

Why we measure it: Gearing measures 
our exposure to debt risk and indicates 
the efficiency of the Group’s capital 
structure.

DEVELOPMENT 
PIPELINE

£1.6bn
Development pipeline is defined as 
revenue substantially under our control, 
including the Group’s share of joint 
venture revenue, to be recognised in 
future years. 

Why we measure it: The availabiliy 
of land is a key input of our business 
and we continually monitor our 
development pipeline to ensure we 
have sufficient land to deliver on our 
growth strategy. 

FORWARD SALES 

£224m
Forward sales is calculated as revenue 
secured by exchange of contracts, 
including the Group’s share of joint 
venture revenue, to be recognised in 
future years. 

Why we measure it: Forward sales 
measure the Group’s exposure to risk 
and provide security over the Group’s 
ability to service its debt facilities.

PROFITABILITY  
AND EFFICIENCY GROWTH AND RISK

£40.1m

13.1%

£1.6bn

£552k

£224m

37.0%

£34.1m

13.4%

£1.5bn

£527k

£546m

7.0%

£46.0m

16.7%

£1.3bn

£539k

£344m

44.6%
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  For definitions of APMs see note 22
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DIVIDEND PER SHARE 
(‘DPS’)

17.0p
Dividend per share is the dividend  
paid per ordinary share. 

Why we measure it: The dividend per 
share is a measure of income returned 
to shareholders.

ACCIDENT FREQUENCY  
RATE

0.16
Accident Frequency Rate (AFR) is 
calculated as the number of injuries 
(RIDDOR)* per year divided by the hours 
worked per year multiplied by 100,000. 

Why we measure it: Health and safety 
is a priority for Telford Homes. It is vital 
that we measure our ability to monitor 
and manage the health and safety 
impact of everything we do. 

*  (RIDDOR = Reporting of Injuries, Diseases 
& Dangerous Occurrences Regulations).

NEXTGENERATION 
SUSTAINABILITY BENCHMARK

4th
This benchmark enables homebuilders, 
Government, affordable housing 
providers, investors, employees and the 
public to understand the sustainability 
of homebuilders’ operations and the 
new homes they build. 

Why we measure it: To demonstrate 
our sustainability performance within 
the 25 largest housebuilders in the UK.

CUSTOMER  
RECOMMENDATION RATE

99%
The percentage of customers who 
on completing an In House Research 
survey would recommend Telford 
Homes to a friend. 

Why we measure it: Delivering high 
levels of customer satisfaction 
enhances our reputation and reduces 
the costs associated with rectifying 
poor quality work.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 
(‘EPS’)

44.6p
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit 
for the year attributable to ordinary 
shareholders by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during the year, excluding those held in 
the Share Incentive Plan. 

Why we measure it: EPS measures 
returns generated for shareholders. 
This key metric is used to set targets 
and monitor performance under the 
Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) for the 
Board and senior management.

EMPLOYEE RETENTION 
RATE

89%
Unplanned leavers in the year as a 
percentage of the average number 
of employees subtracted from 100. 

Why we measure it: Retaining our 
employees is crucial in achieving our 
strategy and maintaining our strong 
culture and brand.

SHAREHOLDER VALUE

99%

0.16

44.6p

17.0p

89%

4th

OPERATIONAL

99%

0.12

36.8p

15.7p

90%

17th

100%

0.11

49.8p

17.0p

90%

6th

OVERVIEW STRATEGIC REPORT GOVERNANCE KEY MANAGEMENT INFORMATION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

31



THE GROUP’S FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONAL 
PERFORMANCE IS SUBJECT TO A NUMBER  
OF RISKS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board is ultimately accountable for effective risk management within the Group. The Board has developed a set of risk 
management policies, procedures and controls, and maintains oversight through regular reviews. 

The risk management process is designed to identify, evaluate and mitigate where possible the significant risks we face.

The Audit Committee formally reviews the effectiveness of our risk management processes and internal control systems  
on the Board’s behalf. During the course of these reviews, the Board has not identified or been advised of any material failings  
or weaknesses.

The risk environment in which we operate continues to evolve and this is reflected in the principal risks and uncertainties that are 
set out on the following pages. The principal risks identified have been assessed based on likelihood and impact, both before and 
after mitigation through the Group’s operations and policies. The risk matrix below sets out those risks after allowing for mitigation.

IMPACT
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GROUP RISK MATRIX – AFTER MITIGATION
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MINOR MODERATE MAJOR SEVERE

KEY
1 Regulation

2 Political outlook

3 Reputation

4 Cyber

5 Sustainability

6 Planning process

7 Build cost and programme

8 Innovation

9 Access to land

10 Retain and attract employees

11 Credit

12 Economic environment

13 Health and safety

14 Liquidity
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Potential impact

Changes in laws and 
regulations can have a 
direct impact on the  
Group, including the 
delivery programme 
and cost of the Group’s 
developments.

Mitigation

The impact of new laws and regulations are 
monitored at an early stage through attendance at 
industry working groups and contributing to building 
regulation discussions in the appropriate forums. 

Regulatory changes are communicated throughout 
the business and operations are planned and 
amended accordingly.

Commentary

Building regulations will 
undoubtedly continue to go 
through a period of change 
and evolution.Regulation

Potential impact 

Changes in both local and 
national Government can 
have a direct bearing on the 
regulatory and economic 
environment.

Mitigation

Political change is outside of the Group’s control, 
however, there is broad consensus amongst all 
main political parties that more needs to be done to 
improve the supply of new housing.

Commentary

There is a shifting 
political landscape in 
the UK, as delays in 
Brexit negotiations risk 
distracting Government 
from major domestic 
issues, whilst aiding 
consumer uncertainty  
and commercial caution. 

Political  
outlook

Potential impact

Reputation is vital to the 
Group and any issues  
that damage it could  
have a material impact  
on our operations. 

Mitigation

The Group strives to maintain its reputation and 
brand across all areas of the business including 
product quality, customer satisfaction, relationships 
and partnerships built on mutual trust, our health and 
safety record, sustainability and compliance with all 
laws and regulations.

Commentary

The Group is an industry 
leader in the housebuilder 
customer recommendation 
rankings. Achieving a 99% 
recommendation rate 
emphasises our strong 
focus on both producing a 
quality product and looking 
after our customers. 

Reputation

Potential impact

Failure of the Group’s IT 
systems and the security 
of internal systems, data 
and websites could have  
a significant impact on  
our business.

Mitigation

The Group’s IT systems are protected by anti-virus 
software and firewalls that are frequently updated. 
All systems are backed up and data is stored off-site. 
The Group also uses a third party to test and accredit 
our cyber security.

Commentary

The enhanced controls 
and procedures that we 
have recently implemented 
recognise that cyber 
threats are increasingly 
more sophisticated and 
can create significant 
disruption to organisations.

Cyber
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Potential impact

New land opportunities 
need to be sourced in 
appropriate locations and 
where optimum planning 
consents can be obtained. 
The appraisal process 
that determines the price 
paid for land is critical 
in maintaining margins 
and return on equity at 
acceptable levels.

Mitigation

The Group’s strong relationships with land owners 
and advisors play a key role in our ability to acquire 
new sites.

A robust land appraisal process ensures each  
project is financially viable and consistent with the 
Group’s strategy.

Commentary

The Group has a strong 
reputation for acting 
quickly in purchase 
negotiations and working 
closely in partnership with 
a vendor. This means we 
are often approached  
off-market or put on 
restricted shortlists.

Potential impact

Delays in achieving suitable 
planning permissions can 
increase financing costs, 
delay profit recognition 
and impact on our ability 
to invest equity into new 
opportunities. Failure to 
achieve a suitable planning 
permission may lead to 
cost write-offs or reduced 
margins on individual 
developments.

Mitigation

A planning risk assessment is conducted prior to any 
land purchase. 

Strong relationships are maintained with local 
authorities, planning officers and local communities 
to best understand their requirements, underlying 
policy and planning prospects. While this cannot 
remove planning risks it mitigates them as much  
as possible.

Commentary

The Board ensures that the 
Group is not overexposed 
to planning risks by limiting 
the total investment in 
sites without a planning 
permission at any one time.

Potential impact

The construction industry 
needs to innovate to help 
address a shortage of 
skilled labour and the need 
to accelerate the delivery 
of new homes. The Group 
must ensure it is up to date 
with new innovations at  
all times.

Mitigation

We have a strong track record of undertaking 
complex schemes in challenging locations by 
using innovative design, procurement and building 
solutions in partnership with our supply chain.

Our Innovation Forum, led by our Innovation 
Manager, is reviewing a full range of current 
innovations in the industry and seeking to apply  
them to the Group’s operations where possible.

Commentary

We are assessing Modern 
Methods of Construction 
and implementing them 
where appropriate.

Potential impact

Failure to address 
sustainability issues could 
affect the Group’s ability to 
acquire land, gain planning 
permission, manage its 
reputation effectively, and 
address the demand for 
sustainable living.

Mitigation

‘Building a Living Legacy’ is the Group’s strategy 
to create places that will stand the test of time 
by making a positive long-term contribution to 
London’s local communities and the environment. 
It is underpinned by objectives that will ensure that 
sustainability risks are recognised and addressed.

Commentary

In the 2018 NextGeneration 
sustainable housing 
benchmark report the 
Group was the most 
improved homebuilder for 
the second successive 
year, which resulted in a 
Gold Level award. 

Sustainability

Planning  
process

Potential impact 

The efficient timely delivery 
of construction projects 
and the availability of 
materials and labour at an 
economic rate are critical 
to the Group’s profits, cash 
flows and reputation.

Mitigation

Telford Homes retains the role as main contractor 
on its developments. This enables planning of the 
construction programme and timely management of 
the tender process to reduce the risk of delays and to 
achieve competitive rates. 

We secure rates as early as possible in the 
development process and closely monitor all 
construction costs. We are working in partnership 
with subcontractors and make prompt payments to 
build mutually beneficial relationships. 

Commentary

We have a strong track 
record of working with 
our subcontractors and 
identifying issues with 
labour and materials 
shortages at an early  
stage and planning for 
those accordingly.

Build cost and 
programme

Innovation

Access to land

TELFORD HOMES PLC – Annual Report 2019

34



Potential impact

Demand for the Group’s 
homes is dependent on 
economic confidence. This 
is heavily influenced by 
factors outside the Group’s 
control such as interest 
rates, the availability and 
costs of mortgage finance, 
taxation, rental incomes, 
unemployment and 
increasing consumer  
costs for other goods  
and services. 

Mitigation

Forward sales are being secured with housing 
associations and through build to rent contracts, 
giving greater certainty over cash flows and 
generating higher capital returns. 

The Group considers the prevailing economic 
environment before committing to significant 
transactions or events such as land purchases  
and sales launches.

Commentary

The economic impacts 
of the outcome of the 
EU referendum will be 
monitored and mitigated 
where possible by the 
Board with the appropriate 
action being taken in a 
timely manner.

Potential impact

A deterioration in the 
Group’s health and safety 
standards could put 
employees, contractors, 
site visitors or the general 
public at risk of injury or 
death and could lead to 
litigation or penalties that 
damage our reputation.

Mitigation

Investment in training, the promotion of health and 
safety to all employees and extensive policies and 
procedures all contribute to ensure high standards 
are maintained. 

The Group has a dedicated health and safety team 
who conduct regular health and safety audits, 
augmented by an external advisor.

Commentary

The Group maintains an 
ongoing focus on health 
and safety to manage 
the risks inherent in the 
construction process.

Potential impact

Construction and property 
development can be a 
very capital intensive 
business with significant 
cash inflows and outflows. 
Accurately forecasting 
cash flows is therefore  
vital to the success of  
the Group.

Mitigation

The Group maintains a detailed cash flow forecast 
which extends five years ahead and is subject to 
continual re-assessment and sensitivity analysis 
to ensure it is not operating beyond its financial 
capacity. This forecast is reviewed by the Board  
on a regular basis. 

The Group has excellent relationships with its 
banking partners and has sufficient loan facilities 
to enable it to take advantage of appropriate land 
buying and operational opportunities.

The Group’s increased focus on build to rent results  
in cash inflows earlier in the development cycle.

Commentary

The Group has continued 
to invest in land and work 
in progress but still has 
substantial headroom 
available within its £210 
million revolving credit 
facility. This facility extends 
to December 2022.

Potential impact

An inability to recruit and 
retain employees with 
appropriate skills and 
experience could have a 
damaging effect on the 
Group’s operations.

Mitigation

The Group’s supportive culture and core people 
values are important factors in attracting and 
retaining employees. In addition our HR programme 
includes succession planning and a comprehensive 
trainee scheme, whilst our new Academy will deliver 
bespoke training programmes across the Group.

Our remuneration packages are benchmarked 
against industry standards to ensure 
competitiveness. 

An annual employee engagement survey is used  
to identify any areas for improvement.

Commentary

Skilled employees are 
critical to delivering the 
Group’s growth strategy 
and we have an excellent 
track record in both 
retaining employees  
and recruitment.

Potential impact

Failure or significant delays 
in receiving contractual 
payments can impact on 
our cash flow position. 
Having over-reliance on 
any one partner could 
intensify this effect.

Mitigation

The Group transacts with a number of reputable 
organisations with solid financial standings and 
has legally binding contracts in place that give 
security over payments, including parent company 
guarantees where necessary. 

Commentary

The Group has due 
diligence controls in place 
to mitigate credit risk as 
much as is possible.

Retain  
and attract  
employees

Credit

Economic 
environment

Health  
and safety

Liquidity
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OUR EMPLOYEES ARE AT THE HEART OF 
OUR BUSINESS AND THEIR HAPPINESS AND 
WELLBEING ARE EXTREMELY IMPORTANT TO US 

OUR PEOPLE

Introduction 
We recognise that our employees are 
the key to our success and we continue 
to retain, engage and develop them at all 
stages of their careers. Our people are 
proud to work for us and this is reflected 
in our excellent employee survey results.

In the year to 31 March 2019 our 
workforce continued to grow and we 
welcomed 87 new direct employees into 
the business. In an average day we have 
around 1,800 people on our sites or at 
head office, of which just over 330 are 
directly employed and the remainder are 
employed by our subcontractor partners. 
We have concentrated on refining our 
recruitment processes, extending our 
induction procedures for new staff and 
particularly on the development and 
wellbeing of every employee.

Employee engagement
We continue to cultivate our unique 
and supportive culture even in periods 
of change and growth. The success of 
our culture is evident from our ongoing 
levels of employee retention and our 
employee satisfaction survey results. 
Employee retention is currently 89 per 
cent, something we are proud of and 
work very hard to maintain.

Our third annual employee satisfaction 
survey in 2018 saw overall satisfaction 
with Telford Homes maintained at 98 per 
cent with the intention to be working for 
the Group in 12 months’ time increasing 
once again to 97 per cent. In line with 
our commitment to deliver a health and 
wellbeing strategy we were extremely 
pleased that 95 per cent of employees 
agree that Telford Homes care about 
their health and wellbeing. The result that 
is truly indicative of how our employees 

feel about working for us is that 100% 
would recommend Telford Homes to 
other people. All of these results reflect 
how hard we strive to create a great 
place to work.

Health and wellbeing
In the last year we have focused on 
creating a culture that promotes positive 
mental health in our business and raises 
understanding of this important issue in 
the construction industry. We established 
a ‘Health and Wellbeing Group’ who 
launched a week long programme of 
events to support World Mental Health 
Day in October 2018. The purpose was 
to ensure employees understand we 
are committed to their mental health 
in the workplace and provide support 
when they need it. We also established 
several resources to ensure mental health 
remains one of our key priorities outside 
of this week of events. 

OUR PEOPLE VALUES

STRONG AND 
CONSISTENT 

PERFORMANCE
RESPECT FOR OTHERS TEAMWORK INTEGRITY AND 

COMMITMENT
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19
TRAINED MENTAL HEALTH 

FIRST AIDERS

2018 EMPLOYEE SURVEY RESULTS
EMPLOYEE 

SATISFACTION

98%
2017 – 98%

EXPECT TO WORK  
HERE NEXT YEAR

97%
2017 – 95%

RECOMMEND  
TO OTHERS

100%
2017 – 99%

OPPORTUNITY TO 
DEVELOP CAREER

89%
2017 – 82%

This was a subject that 
everyone seemed to 
realise the importance 
of and it was great to be 
part of such a positive 
day and raise awareness 
of mental health.

Dr Sabrina Robinson
MIND Hertfordshire

Our programme of events covered specific 
mental health subjects and involved 
expert speakers from organisations such 
as MIND and Samaritans. In addition 
we ran a number of activities, including 
relaxation techniques, mindfulness and 
yoga classes. The week was so well 
received that we did the same again in 
May 2019 and this time we extended the 
activities across our development sites.

To help maintain a focus on mental 
health longer-term we identified and 
trained 19 mental health first aiders 
and expect to train 10 dedicated mental 
health champions who can listen and 

provide advice on where to find the best 
professional support. 

As a result, our employees are using 
the resources for support and taking 
positive steps to tackle any issues 
they have whilst also gaining a greater 
understanding of friends and family 
members who could be struggling.
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The culture and 
commitment of Telford 
Homes to its young 
talent has not ceased  
to surprise me.

Jonathan Pankhurst
Construction Trainee 
Year 5

OUR VISION IS TO PROVIDE FIRST CLASS 
DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING OPPORTUNITIES, 
AT THE RIGHT TIME FOR ALL STAGES OF OUR 
EMPLOYEES CAREERS

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

Telford Homes Academy
In March 2019 we officially launched the 
new ‘Telford Homes Academy’ when our 
first cohort of ‘Budding Managers’ started 
their development programme. The 
Academy aims to provide training and 
development for every career stage, from 
trainees through to first time managers 
and then on to senior managers. It will 
not only support and develop those 
who aspire to progress, but also drive 
capability and excellence for everyone  
at any level within Telford Homes.

The development programmes that make 
up the Academy run over the course of a 
year and provide opportunities designed 
to develop management and leadership 
capability. Each programme has achieved 
Institute of Leadership & Management 
(ILM) assured status, certifying an 
internationally recognised standard  
of excellence.

Business growth will continue to present 
some fantastic opportunities for our 
employees to take on new roles and our 
Academy will ensure they are ready to 
do that. Our aim is to deliver all of our 
training through the Academy to achieve 
consistency for all and to ensure we 
are providing the required development 
to drive our growth and support  
our employees.

Training
In addition to setting up our Academy 
we have had a busy training year. We 
delivered 1,182 training sessions, an 
increase on last year and an average  
of just over three full days training for  
each employee.

Our ‘Careers Under Construction’ trainee 
programme now has 34 members (10 
per cent of our employees), all of whom 
are working towards management roles, 
and 16 of which were recruited in 2018.

17
BUDDING MANAGERS ON OUR 

NEW ACADEMY MANAGEMENT 
PROGRAMME FOR 2019

1,182
TRAINING SESSIONS 
DELIVERED OVER THE  

LAST YEAR

The Telford Homes Academy Career Pathway
The Academy aims to assist our employees at every career stage from trainee 
to senior manager.
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For the tenth consecutive 
year we have been 
recognised with a Gold 
Award by RoSPA and 
consequently have 
received a President’s 
Award 2019.

THE HEALTH AND SAFETY OF EVERYONE 
INVOLVED IN OUR BUSINESS IS A VITAL 
CONSIDERATION IN EVERYTHING WE DO

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Policies and procedures
The Board actively promotes a positive 
health and safety culture within the 
business and ensures that this is 
reflected in all of our policies and 
procedures, as well as in our approach 
to the training and development of the 
people involved in our operations. Health 
and safety is the first agenda item at 
monthly Board meetings.

Our comprehensive set of policies and 
procedures cover all of our operations. 
They are constantly updated and 
communicated to relevant employees 
and everyone else working on our  
sites. Our procedures identify all of  
the relevant risks and hazards that are 
likely to be encountered in the course  
of our work and, more importantly, 
set out the appropriate precautionary 
control measures to ensure work is 
undertaken safely and with due regard 
for people’s health.

We also require our supply chain partners 
to employ competent people and 
encourage their continuing professional 
development. We expect the highest 
health and safety standards from each 
supplier, and this is a key consideration 
when awarding contracts. We monitor our 
suppliers on an ongoing basis and take 
the necessary steps to ensure they meet 
our high expectations. 

The Group’s Health and Safety 
Management System is accredited 
to BS OHSAS 18001:2007 and during 
2019–20 we will complete a migration to 
ISO45001:2018.

Our Health and Safety team currently has 
five qualified Institution of Occupational 
Safety and Health practitioners who 
provide advice across the Group and play 
a vital part in reviewing and developing 
our health and safety procedures. This 
is further enhanced by our Executive 
Health and Safety Committee and 
our Operational Health and Safety 
Forum, whose members are senior 
construction managers with extensive 
industry experience. Collectively they 
are instrumental in driving best practice, 
sharing initiatives and ensuring that 
we are conversant with any changes in 
working practices or regulations.

John Fitzgerald remains the Board 
Director with overall responsibility for 
health and safety.

OHS 55229
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Training
Telford Homes operates in an industry 
where competent people with up to date 
qualifications, standards and knowledge 
are vital to the safe and successful 
operation of the business.

The Board views training, particularly 
through apprenticeships and our trainee 
programme, as an essential investment 
in the future of the Group and the 
construction industry more broadly.  
We also offer subsidised training  
to our contractors specifically for  
their employees, often at no cost to  
our partners.

We invest in a rigorous health and 
safety training programme to ensure 
that all employees have the appropriate 
skills and knowledge and that these 
are evaluated in the context of their 
role and prospective changes to the 
external environment. The needs of 
new employees are carefully assessed 
to identify and address their specific 
requirements and ensure their training is 
compatible to the role they undertake.

Performance
The year to 31 March 2019 has been our 
busiest on record, with over 3.8 million 
person hours worked (2018: 3.5 million). 
There were six reportable injuries 
(RIDDOR)¹ during the period, resulting 
in an Accident Frequency Rate (AFR)² 
of 0.16 (2017: 0.11). The construction 
industry average AFR for the year to  
31 March 2018 was 0.28.

We carefully monitor the nature of 
all accidents and incidents to ensure 
we learn from them, and adjust our 
training requirements and procedures 
accordingly. Once again the majority 
of our accidents this year arose from 
simple behavioural failings of the people 
involved and we are continuing with our 
focused training programmes to make 
people aware of these basic mistakes 
and the impacts they can have. 

This year, our occupational health and 
safety performance was once again 
recognised by the Royal Society for the 
Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA) when 
we received our tenth consecutive gold 

medal award and our first President’s 
Award. These awards and the BSI 
certification are recognition of the very 
high standard of the Group’s overall 
approach to health and safety.

Although our health and safety 
performance in the year has been 
excellent, we continue to strive for 
improvement by being proactive. We will 
ensure that, as the business continues 
to grow, we have the systems in place to 
train new employees and suppliers in  
our health and safety culture, policies 
and procedures.

We remain confident that our 
comprehensive procedures and 
investment in training mean that the 
Group is doing everything possible to 
minimise health and safety risks as a 
result of its activities, now and in the 
foreseeable future.

PERSON HOURS WORKED

3.8m

ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE

0.16  Annual person hours   Accident Frequency Rate (AFR)
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1.  Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations.

2. AFR =
x 100,000

hours worked per year

injuries (RIDDOR) per year
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We were delighted to 
be placed fourth in the 
2018 NextGeneration 
sustainable housing 
benchmark report, which 
also saw Telford Homes 
obtain a Gold Level award 
for the first time.

For more information on our sustainability 
progress, download our Building a Living 
Legacy Sustainability Report 2019:  
www.telfordhomes-ir.london

Our strategy
We are committed to developing the 
homes and creating the places that 
London needs. To reinforce this we 
continue to embed our ‘Building a Living 
Legacy’ (BLL) strategy to improve the 
quality of life for our customers, enhance 
local communities, support our operations 
and deliver value for our investors.

It is a sign of the progress we have made 
that we were recognised in the 2018 
NextGeneration sustainable housing 
benchmark report as the most improved 
housebuilder for the second consecutive 
year. Our fourth place ranking (from sixth 
in 2017 and seventeenth in 2016) also saw 
us receiving our first Gold Level award.

This year marks the third year of 
reporting our sustainability performance 
against our BLL strategy. The strategy 
was developed with Jones Lang LaSalle 
(JLL) during 2016 through a detailed 
materiality review looking out to 2024. 
Given the significant socio-political, 
economic and regulatory change since 
then, in late 2018 we commissioned JLL 
to conduct a second materiality review 
out to 2030.

This review will inform our longer-term 
strategy and the supporting objectives 
and policies. Nearly all of the key topics 

OUR BUILDING A LIVING LEGACY STRATEGY 
HELPS US TO DEVELOP SUSTAINABLE  
HOMES AND PLACES

SUSTAINABILITY

identified in this review are deemed to 
have increased in importance and a 
greater emphasis was placed on emerging 
aspects such as health, wellbeing, 
productivity, land degradation, pollution 
and air quality. The review is fully explained 
in our Sustainability Report 2019.

Identifying our priorities
In the short-term we are addressing some 
priority findings from the NextGeneration 
benchmark to drive further improvement. 
We have also completed a review of our 
practices against the ‘United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goals’, which 
highlighted that we are having a material 
impact on many of them. In addition, the 
key to delivering our strategy is for all of our 
people to complete their own bespoke two 
year sustainability training programme.

During the year to 31 March 2019 
we have achieved 87 per cent of our 
objectives and committed to several  
new objectives to ensure we continue  
to move our strategy forward.

Highlights
We are particularly proud that in the last 
three years we have completed three 
primary schools and a City of London 
sixth form academy, offering some  
1,690 new school, college and nursery 
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places, underpinning our commitment  
to creating significant social value  
for London.

We continue to manage our activities 
in accordance with the internationally 
recognised Environmental Management 
System ISO14001:2015 standard. We 
have had no prosecutions to date nor  
are any pending.

Engaging with our 
stakeholders
We recognise that rapid changes in 
society are being enabled through 
technology. As a result customer and 
community aspirations are becoming 
more heightened and brand preference 
is harder to earn and maintain than 

Making our money work 
harder through efficient 
use of resources across 
our business

11.6%
(2018: 13.7%) REDUCTION IN 
OUR SITE CO2E INTENSITY

94%
(2018: 90%) OF WASTE 

DIVERTED FROM  
LANDFILL

16%
(2018: 16%) REDUCTION OF 

 WATER USAGE IN  
NEW HOMES*

Creating thriving places  
that enable people to live 
sustainable lifestyles

17
(2017–18: 22) DESIGN  

& QUALITY 
AWARDS IN 2018–19 

80%
(2018: 80%) SUPPLY CHAIN 

SPEND IS WITH SMALL 
AND MEDIUM SIZED 

ENTERPRISES

£44m
(2018: £51m) SUPPLY CHAIN 
SPEND WITH BUSINESSES 

REGISTERED IN  
LONDON BOROUGHS

Collaborating with our 
partners to identify 
innovative building 
techniques and deliver the 
homes of the future

18%
(2018: 13%) SPEND 

INVESTED IN MODERN 
METHODS OF 

CONSTRUCTION

40%
(2018: 44%) REDUCTION 

IN CO2 IN  
NEW HOMES*

100%
(2018: 100%) NEW BUILD 

SCHEMES BENEFIT FROM LOW 
CARBON OR RENEWABLE 

TECHNOLOGIES

Investing in people and 
relationships to ensure  
we deliver lasting value 
for all stakeholders

4th
PLACE IN NEXTGENERATION

SUSTAINABLE 
HOUSEBUILDER RANKINGS

89%
(2018: 90%) EMPLOYEE 

RETENTION

100%
(2018: 100%) DIRECT 

EMPLOYEES PAID AT LEAST 
LONDON LIVING WAGE

HIGHLIGHTS

* Against national standards.

ever before. In addition, stakeholders 
and investors are expecting greater 
transparency from companies.

Enabling community networks and 
creating strong stakeholder relationships 
throughout the development life cycle 
is a key focus for the Group, which we 
are implementing through our new 
Community Engagement Strategy.  
Our Considerate Constructor Scheme 
scores are increasing and our community 
outreach programmes are more inclusive, 
as demonstrated by the case studies in 
our Sustainability Report 2019.

Strong governance
Overseen by the Board, our BLL Steering 
Committee meets quarterly to provide 

high-level sustainability governance and 
ensure our strategy is being successfully 
implemented. Our CEO chairs the 
Committee which is made up of senior 
level representatives from across all 
business functions.

The Committee is further assisted 
by departmental champions who 
support various forums, including our 
Innovation and Health & Safety Forums. 
The champions and independent 
organisations are also invited to attend 
the Steering Committee to share 
knowledge and to gain more detailed 
insights. This approach is proving to 
be very beneficial in strengthening the 
champions network and embedding the 
BLL strategy throughout the business.
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MANHATTAN PLAZA E14 
The redevelopment of Poplar Business Park has delivered 170 homes and reprovided commercial space  

for Workspace Group Plc, close to Blackwall Reach DLR station and Canary Wharf.

NUMBER OF HOMES

170
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Katie Rogers joined Telford 
Homes Plc in 2007 and was 
appointed as Chief Financial 
Officer in July 2011. She 
leads and manages the 
finance team for the Group 
and is responsible for long-
term profit forecasts and 
for maintaining ongoing 
relationships with the  
Group’s banking partners. 

Katie secured the Group’s 
£210 million revolving credit 
facility with a club of banks 
and a £110 million joint 
venture facility with LaSalle 
Investment Management. 
Together with Jon Di-Stefano, 
Katie also develops and 
maintains relationships with 
institutional investors and 
build to rent investors. She 
has overall responsibility for 
delivering the Group’s build to 
rent strategy and IT strategy. 

Jon Di-Stefano joined Telford 
Homes Plc in 2002 and was 
appointed as Chief Executive 
Officer in July 2011. Jon has 
overseen a prolonged period 
of business growth and 
more recently a successful 
strategic move towards  
the delivery of build to  
rent homes. 

Supported by the rest of 
the Board he has overall 
responsibility for the strategy 
and day-to-day operational 
performance of the Group, the 
approach to risk management 
and all other long-term 
business planning. Jon is also 
responsible for managing 
relationships with the Group’s 
shareholders and other 
significant stakeholders. 

Jon is a Non-Executive 
Director and Chair of the  
Audit Committee of 
Urban&Civic plc.

John Fitzgerald joined Telford 
Homes Plc in 2003 and was 
first appointed as a Board 
Director in March 2004. In 
his current role as Group 
Managing Director he is 
responsible for operations 
across the business 
including health, safety 
and sustainability. 

John has overseen the 
internal restructuring of the 
Group’s operations. He has 
been influential in developing 
joint venture relationships 
with a number of partners. 
John began his career in 
1987 with Willmott Dixon 
Construction, followed by 
Willmott Dixon Housing and 
has 30 years’ experience 
in construction and 
housebuilding. 

John sits on the leadership 
board of the Home Building 
Skills Partnership.

Andrew Wiseman, together 
with close colleagues, 
founded Telford Homes 
Plc in December 2000 
following 10 years with 
Furlong Homes Plc. Andrew 
headed the flotation of 
Telford Homes on AIM in 
December 2001, building on 
excellent relationships with 
institutional investors. 

In his former role as Chief 
Executive of Telford Homes, 
from formation until July 2011 
when he became Chairman, 
Andrew positioned the Group 
as a partner of affordable 
housing providers as well as a 
first-class developer of open 
market homes. 

Andrew is also a Strategic 
Board member of Optivo,  
one of the largest London 
housing associations.

Katie Rogers 
BA (Hons), ACA  

Chief Financial Officer

John Fitzgerald  
FRICS, ICIOB

Group Managing Director

Andrew Wiseman  
BA (Hons), FCMA

Chairman

Jon Di-Stefano  
MA (Econ), ACA

Chief Executive Officer

  Audit Committee   Remuneration Committee
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David Campbell joined Telford 
Homes Plc in November 
2011 and was appointed as 
Group Sales & Marketing 
Director in April 2012. He is 
responsible for all residential 
and commercial property 
sales, along with customer 
relationships and customer 
service. 

David has over 30 years’ 
experience, operating as 
both a Sales & Marketing 
Director and Regional 
Managing Director for a 
number of major residential 
and mixed-use developers, 
including the Berkeley Group, 
Barratt Developments and 
Wilson Bowden Plc. He brings 
a wide appreciation of the 
development process and 
the importance of strategic 
planning for long-term 
complex projects.

Jane Earl joined the Board 
of Telford Homes Plc in 
February 2016. She is 
Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee and Audit 
Committee and Senior 
Independent Director. Jane 
holds a degree in law and has 
a broad range of experience 
as a Non-Executive Director, 
following a career in central 
and local Government.

Previous Non-Executive 
positions include Spektrix, 
the Planning Inspectorate 
and the Valuation Office 
Agency. Her executive roles 
included Director of the Asset 
Recovery Agency and Chief 
Executive of Wokingham 
Unitary Council. Jane was 
latterly Chief Executive of 
Rich Mix Cultural Foundation 
in Tower Hamlets. 

Jane is currently a 
Non-Executive Board 
member of Vivid housing 
association, where she 
chairs the Remuneration and 
Nominations Committees. 

Jerome Geoghegan joined 
Telford Homes Plc in January 
2018 and was appointed to 
the Board in February 2018. 
Jerome has been working in 
residential development for 
over 25 years and for 20 years 
was at L&Q Group, most 
recently as the Executive 
Director of Development and 
Sales. Prior to that he was at 
East Thames Housing Group. 

Jerome led the significant 
and successful growth of 
L&Q, delivering substantial 
volumes of new homes 
through regeneration and 
placemaking. He also 
led on creating their own 
construction arm and 
acquiring and overseeing a 
strategic land business. He 
is responsible for the Group’s 
land buying and planning 
strategy, land acquisition, 
major planning applications 
and maintaining key 
partnerships.

Jane Earl  

Non-Executive Director

Jerome Geoghegan 
BA (Hons)

Group Land & Planning 
Director

David Campbell 
 

Group Sales & Marketing 
Director
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18.251 MM

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
Introduction from our Chairman

Composition of the Board
The Board currently consists of six Executive Directors and one 
independent Non-Executive Director. Frank Nelson resigned from his  
role as Non-Executive Director and from the Board on 3 October 2018. 

The Non-Executive Director, Jane Earl, is considered by the Board to 
be independent of management and free from any business or other 
relationships that could materially interfere with the exercise of her 
independent judgement in accordance with the QCA Code. 

The Board believes it is appropriate to have a Senior Independent Non-
Executive Director and following Frank Nelson’s resignation this role has 
been fulfilled by Jane Earl. She is available to shareholders where concerns 
have not been resolved through the normal channels of communication 
with the Board and for when such contact would be inappropriate.

The Board has sufficient members to maintain the appropriate balance  
of skills and experience to effectively operate and control the business.  
No one individual has unfettered powers to make decisions.

The roles of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separate, 
with their roles and responsibilities clearly divided and set out in writing. 
The Chairman’s main responsibility is the leadership and management of 
the Board and its governance. He meets regularly and separately with the 
Chief Executive Officer and the Non-Executive Director to discuss matters  
for the Board.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the leadership and day-to-day 
management of the Group. This includes formulating and recommending 
the Group’s strategy for Board approval in addition to executing the 
approved strategy.

As the business has developed, the composition of the Board has been 
under constant review to ensure that it remains appropriate to the 
managerial requirements of the Group. Although not required to do so  
by the QCA Code, but in line with best practice, the Board have chosen  
to offer themselves up for re-election annually. This enables shareholders 
to decide on the election of the Company’s Board.

THE BOARD
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I have pleasure in introducing 
the Corporate Governance 
Report which sets out our 
approach to governance a 
nd provides information on  
how the Board of Directors  
(the Board) and its 
Committees operate.

This is our first year of reporting 
on our compliance with the Quoted 
Company Alliance Corporate 
Governance Code for Small and Mid-
Size Quoted Companies (the QCA 
Code) and as a Board we recognise 
the importance of applying sound 
governance principles in the 
successful running of the Group. 
In this section we have set out 
our approach to governance and 
information on how the Board and 
its Committees operate. 

During the search for a suitable 
replacement following the resignation 
of Frank Nelson in October 2018 
the Board are aware that they are 
not compliant with the QCA Code 
requirement for a minimum of 
two independent Non-Executive 
Directors. An externally facilitated 
search for a suitable independent 
Non-Executive Director with the 
requisite skills and experience is 
underway and an announcement will 
be made as soon as an appointment 
has been confirmed. The Board 
believes that it complies with all other 
principles of the QCA Code within a 
corporate governance framework 
which is proportional to the size, risks 
and operations of the business, and 
is in line with the Group’s values.
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How the Board operates
The Company and Group are managed by a Board of Directors 
chaired by Andrew Wiseman. The Board is responsible for 
taking all major strategic decisions and also addressing any 
significant operational matters. In addition, the Board reviews 
the risk profile of the Group and ensures that an adequate 
system of internal control is in place. Management information 
systems are in place to enable the Board to make informed 
decisions to properly discharge their duties. The operation 
of the Board is documented in a formal schedule of matters 
reserved for its approval, which is reviewed annually.

These include matters relating to:

• the Group’s strategic aims and objectives;
• the structure and capital of the Group;
• financial reporting, financial controls and dividend policy;
• internal controls, risk and the Group’s risk appetite;
• the approval of significant contracts and expenditure; and
• any changes to Board membership and structure.

The Chief Executive Officer’s review, included in this Annual 
Report, provides the Board’s current assessment of the Group’s 
prospects. The Directors are responsible for preparing the 
financial statements as set out in the Statement of Directors’ 
Responsibilities. The responsibilities of the auditors are set  
out in their report.

Board meetings
The Board meets regularly, at least 12 times a year, and more 
frequently if necessary. In addition to this the Board attends an 
annual strategy meeting. 

The following table shows Directors’ attendance at scheduled 
Board and Committee meetings during the year:

Name Board Audit Remuneration

Andrew Wiseman1 12/12 1/1 4/4

Jon Di-Stefano 12/12 – –

Katie Rogers 12/12 – –

David Campbell 11/12 – –

John Fitzgerald 12/12 – –

Jerome Geoghegan 11/12 – –

Frank Nelson2 5/6 2/2 1/1

Jane Earl 12/12 3/3 5/5

1.  Andrew Wiseman joined the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee 
following Frank Nelson’s resignation.

2. Frank Nelson resigned from the Board on 3 October 2018.

Board Committees
The Board has an Audit Committee and a Remuneration 
Committee to oversee and consider issues of policy outside 
main Board meetings. The Board does not consider it 
necessary to have a separate Nominations Committee at this 
time and any future recommendations for appointments to  
the Board will be considered by the Board as a whole, following 
a thorough assessment of a potential candidates skills and 
suitability for the role.

The Audit and Remuneration Committees have written terms 
of reference setting out their duties, authority and reporting 
responsibilities, copies of which are available on the Group’s 
website (www.telfordhomes-ir.london).

During the year, the Chair of each Committee provided the 
Board with a summary of key issues considered at the 
Committee meetings. Board Committees are authorised 
to engage the services of external advisers as they deem 
necessary in the furtherance of their duties at the Company’s 
expense. Details concerning the composition and meetings of 
the Committees are contained in the Audit Committee Report 
on pages 54 and 55 and the Remuneration Committee Report 
on pages 56 to 63. 

Board effectiveness
The Board undertook an evaluation of its effectiveness during 
the year and input was obtained from every Board member on  
a number of key topics including:

• composition, skills, balance, experience and diversity of  
the Board;

• succession planning;
• resourcing of meetings, agenda planning and quality  

of information;
• strategy and risk;
• committee effectiveness and communications to the Board;
• culture and quality of contributions and effectiveness of 

decision making;
• evaluation of individual performance and areas for 

improvement; and
• corporate governance, regulatory compliance and  

associated support.

The consolidated results of the evaluation were reviewed by 
the Board with no major performance impairments noted and 
only a few minor matters identified for further consideration. It 
is intended that the performance of the Board will be assessed 
on an annual basis.

The skills, experience and knowledge of each Director gives 
them the ability to constructively challenge strategy and 
decision making and scrutinise performance. The skills and 
experience of the Board are set out in their biographical details 
on pages 46 and 47.
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The QCA Corporate Governance Code
The Board has adopted the QCA Code. Set out below is how the Board currently complies with the key principles set out in the code.

Governance principles Compliant Explanation Further reading

Deliver 
growth

1.  Establish a strategy and 
business model which 
promote long-term value 
for shareholders.

✔ Our strategy is set out in detail in our  
Strategic Report.

 See pages 06 to 43

2.  Seek to understand and 
meet shareholder needs 
and expectations.

✔ Regular dialogue is maintained with both  
existing and potential new shareholders. 

The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial 
Officer meet regularly with investors and 
analysts via investor roadshows, attending 
investor conferences and hosting tours of  
our development sites.

The Board invites communication from its 
shareholders and encourages participation  
by them at the Annual General Meeting (AGM).

 www.telfordhomes-ir.
london/investors/

 See pages 48 to 52

3.  Take into account wider 
stakeholder and social 
responsibilities and their 
implications for long-
term success.

✔ The Group is mindful of its corporate social 
responsibilities and the need to build and 
maintain strong relationships across a range  
of stakeholder groups is a key principle in 
what we do. Our project teams engage with 
stakeholders throughout the development  
life cycle to help enrich communities.

Our employees are at the heart of our  
business and the Board closely monitor  
the results of the Company’s annual  
employee engagement survey.

 www.telfordhomes-ir.
london/sustainability

 See pages 36 to 39

4.  Embed effective 
risk management, 
considering both 
opportunities and 
threats, throughout 
the organisation.

✔ The Board is ultimately responsible for the 
Group’s system of internal controls and for 
reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system 
is designed to mitigate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives and can only  
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. The 
Board, with advice from the Audit Committee, 
has reviewed the effectiveness of the system of 
internal controls for the year to 31 March 2019.

 See pages 32 to 35  
 and 52 to 55

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Governance principles Compliant Explanation Further reading

Maintain 
a dynamic 
management 
framework

5.  Maintain the Board 
as a well-functioning, 
balanced team led by 
the Chair.

✔ * The Board is a well-functioning balanced team 
led by the Chairman. The composition and 
experience of the Board is shown in the Annual 
Report. The Board has a formal schedule 
of matters reserved for its approval and is 
supported by the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees. All Directors are required to 
devote sufficient time to carry out their role. 

* The Board is mindful that it does not currently 
comply with the QCA code requirement of a 
minimum of two independent Non-Executive 
Directors. As such, an externally facilitated 
search for a suitable Independent Non-
Executive Director is underway.

 See pages 44 to 65 

 www.telfordhomes-ir.
london/investors/corporate-
governance/

6.  Ensure that between 
them the Directors 
have the necessary 
up-to-date experience, 
skills and capabilities.

✔ The Board is satisfied that, between the 
Directors, it has an effective and appropriate 
balance of skills and experience. To ensure  
that the Directors maintain appropriate skills 
theyare offered appropriate coaching and 
trainingas identified.

 See pages 46 to 52

7.  Evaluate Board 
performance based 
on clear and relevant 
objectives, seeking 
continuous improvement.

✔ The Board undertook a formal evaluation of 
its effectiveness and that of its Committees 
during the year with no major performance 
impairments found. It is intended that a 
formal performance assessment of the Board 
and its Committees will be undertaken on  
an annual basis.

 See page 49

8.  Promote a corporate 
culture that is based 
on ethical values and 
behaviours.

✔ We recognise that it is our people that makes us 
different and as such we continue to encourage 
our unique and supportive culture, which we 
believe sets us apart from other housebuilders.

 See pages 36 and 37

9.  Maintain governance 
structures and processes 
that are fit for purpose 
and support good 
decision-making by 
the Board.

✔ The Board is ultimately responsible for the 
long-term success of the Company and has a 
schedule of matters reserved for its approval 
which covers the key areas of management 
and governance. The Board has an Audit 
Committee and a Remuneration Committee  
to oversee and consider issues of policy 
outside main Board meetings.

 www.telfordhomes-ir.
london/investors/corporate-
governance/

 See pages 54 to 63

Build trust 10.  Communicate how the 
Company is governed 
and is performing by 
maintaining a dialogue 
with shareholders 
and other relevant 
stakeholders.

✔ The reports, results and presentations page  
can be found on the Company’s website. 
Results and other news items are announced 
via RNS, and historical announcements can 
be accessed via the regulatory news and AGM 
information pages of our website.

 www.telfordhomes-ir.
london/investors/results-
reports-presentations/

OVERVIEW STRATEGIC REPORT GOVERNANCE KEY MANAGEMENT INFORMATION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

51



Induction of new Directors
New Directors are given a full induction to the Group, tailored 
to the existing knowledge and experience of the Director 
concerned, so as to ensure that they can properly fulfil their  
role and meet their responsibilities.

Time commitments
The Board has determined that the time commitment of  
Non-Executive Directors should be 18 to 24 days per annum.  
The time commitment for Non-Executive Directors is set out  
in the relevant Non-Executive Directors letter of appointment. 
In practice, the Non-Executive Directors exceed the minimum 
time commitment through their involvement in all aspects of 
the business.

Continued development
All Directors are offered appropriate coaching and training to 
develop their knowledge and ensure they remain up to date 
in relevant matters for which they have responsibility as a 
member of the Board.

Conflicts of interest
The Company’s Articles of Association provide for the  
Board to authorise any actual or potential conflicts of  
interest. The Board considers Directors’ conflicts of  
interest at each meeting.

Independent professional advice
Directors have access to independent professional advice 
at the Company’s expense. In addition, they have access 
to the advice and services of the Company Secretary 
who is responsible to the Board for advice on corporate 
governance matters.

Election of Directors
All Directors of the Group will offer themselves for election  
or re-election annually at the AGM.

Relations with stakeholders
The Company maintains communication with a wide range 
of stakeholders to ensure their needs and expectations 
are understood and reflected within our strategy and the 
implementation of our developments. The Chief Executive 
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer make presentations to 
analysts and investors each year following the release of full 
year and half year results in addition to further roadshows 
during the year. Customer feedback is collected via online 
surveys conducted by a third party. All employees are invited 
to take part in an annual staff survey the findings of which are 
considered by the senior management team along with the 
Board and wherever possible implemented.

Relations with shareholders
The Company has institutional shareholders and is, where 
practicable, willing to enter into a dialogue with them.  
The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer  
meet regularly with institutional investors within the confines 
of relevant legislation and guidance.

The Board invites communication from its private investors 
and encourages participation by them at the AGM. All 
Board members present at the AGM are available to answer 
questions from shareholders. Notice of the AGM is in excess 
of 21 clear days and the business of the meeting is conducted 
with separate resolutions, voted on initially by a show of hands 
and with the result of the voting being clearly indicated. 

Internal controls and risk management
The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s system 
of internal controls and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such 
a system is designed to mitigate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives and can only provide reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.

There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and 
managing the Group’s significant risks. This has been in  
place for the year ended 31 March 2019 and up to the date  
of approval of the Annual Report, and is regularly reviewed  
by the Board, with advice from the Audit Committee.

The internal control procedures are delegated to Executive 
Directors and senior management in the Group, operating 
within a clearly defined departmental structure. The Board 
regularly reviews the internal control procedures in light of 
the ongoing assessment of the Group’s significant risks.

On a monthly basis, management accounts, including a 
comprehensive cash flow forecast, are reviewed by the Board in 
order to provide effective monitoring of financial performance. 
At the same time the Board considers other significant 
strategic, organisational and compliance issues to ensure that 
the Group’s assets are safeguarded and financial information 
and accounting records can be relied upon. The Board formally 
monitors monthly progress on each development.

The Board considers that the internal controls in place are 
appropriate for the size, complexity and risk profile of the Group.
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

Strategic Report
The Strategic Report for the Group, including a fair review of 
the Group, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties 
facing the Group, the development and performance of 
the Group during the financial year, the Group’s position at 
the financial year end and an analysis of the Group’s Key 
Performance Indicators, can be found from pages 06 to 43.

The Strategic Report has been reviewed and signed off by  
the Board of Directors.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report 
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable  
law and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law the  
Directors have prepared the Group and Parent Company 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by the European 
Union. Under company law the Directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group 
and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and 
the Company for that period. In preparing these financial 
statements, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply  
them consistently;

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent;

• state whether applicable IFRS as adopted by the European 
Union have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis 
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company and 
the Group will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting 
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and 
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company 
and the Group, and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are 
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity 
of the Group’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom 
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial 
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed  
on pages 46 and 47 confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

• the Group and Company financial statements, which have 
been prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
EU, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit of the Group and Company; and

• the Directors’ Report and Strategic Report includes a  
fair review of the development and performance of the 
business and the position of the Group and the Company, 
together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that it faces.

The Directors consider that the Annual Report, taken as a 
whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the 
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group 
and the Company’s performance, business model and strategy.
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On behalf of the Board, 
I am pleased to present 
the Audit Committee Report 
for the year to 31 March 
2019. This report provides 
shareholders with an 
overview of the activities 
carried out by the Committee 
during the year.

The Committee is responsible 
for ensuring that the financial 
performance of the Group is properly 
measured and reported on. Its role 
includes monitoring the integrity of 
the financial statements (including 
annual and interim accounts and 
results announcements), reviewing 
any changes to accounting policies, 
reviewing and monitoring the extent 
of the non-audit services undertaken 
by external auditors, advising on the 
appointment of external auditors 
and meeting with external auditors 
without management present.

The Committee’s performance  
was reviewed within the framework 
of the internal Board review.  
The Committee was regarded  
as performing effectively.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Members of the Audit Committee
The Committee currently consists of one independent Non-Executive 
Director, myself (as Chair), and Andrew Wiseman. Frank Nelson 
resigned as Non-Executive Director on 3 October 2018 and at such 
time his appointment as a member of the Audit Committee ended.  
I was appointed interim Chair and, having only one independent Non-
Executive Director on the Board, Andrew Wiseman was appointed 
interim member until such time as a suitable Non-Executive Director 
is appointed. 

Whilst having significant experience as an accounting officer, along 
with experience of financial management in previous public sector 
executive roles, and having served as a member of a number of audit 
committees, I do not have the full required recent and relevant financial 
experience and competence in accounting and/or auditing. To ensure 
that our governance has operated at the highest possible standards of 
competence, I undertook this role with the guidance of the Chairman  
and the Chief Financial Officer.

Other members of the Board may attend Committee meetings by 
invitation if required. During the period the Committee met three times 
with the external auditors being in attendance on two occasions and 
the Audit Committee members met the external auditors, without the 
Executive Directors present, twice.

Duties
The main duties of the Audit Committee are set out in its terms of 
reference, which can be found at www.telfordhomes-ir.london. It is 
intended that these will be kept under continuous review to ensure  
they remain appropriate and reflect any changes in legislation, 
regulation or best practice.

The main items of business considered by the Audit Committee during 
the year included:

• review of the financial statements and Annual Report; 
• consideration of key audit matters and how they are addressed;
• consideration of the external audit report and management 

representation letter; 
• going concern review; 
• review of the FY 2019 audit plan; 
• review of the interim results; 
• tender for the future provision of external audit services;
• assessment of the need for an internal audit function; 
• meeting with the external auditor without management present;
• review of risk management and internal control systems, in 

partnership with the processes being undertaken by the Board; and 
• review of whistleblowing, fraud and anti-bribery arrangements.
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Role of the external auditor
The Audit Committee monitors the relationship with the 
external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, to ensure that 
auditor independence and objectivity are maintained. As part 
of its review the Committee monitors the provision of non-
audit services by the external auditor. The breakdown of fees 
between audit and non-audit services is provided in note 1 to 
the financial statements. The non-audit fees relate to tax and 
transactional services advice. Having reviewed the auditor’s 
independence and performance, and in light of the tender 
process referred to below, the Committee recommends that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be re-appointed as the Group’s 
auditor at the next AGM.

External audit process
The external auditor prepares an audit plan for its review of  
the full year financial statements. The audit plan sets out the 
scope of the audit, areas to be targeted and audit timetable. 
This plan is reviewed and agreed in advance by the Committee. 
Following the audit, the auditor presents their findings to the 
Audit Committee for discussion. No major areas of concern 
were highlighted by the auditor during the year. However, the 
Chief Financial Officer and the Chief Executive Officer keep in 
close contact with the auditors throughout the year to ensure 
that if there are areas of significant risk, or other matters of 
audit relevance, they are regularly communicated.

External audit tender
This year we have conducted a tender for the future provision of 
external audit services. This concluded in the re-appointment, 
subject to shareholder approval, of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
LLP as the Group’s external auditor. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP have been the Group’s external 
auditor for a number of years. The audit was last tendered in full 
in 2006. During the year, the Committee undertook a full tender 
process in compliance with legislation and Financial Reporting 
Council (FRC) guidance on best practice, in particular ensuring 
independence in respect of potential audit firms. We are 
mindful that, as an Alternative Investment Market (AIM) listed 
company, we are not required to re-tender our external audit 
services however we decided that in order to align ourselves 
with governance best practice it would be appropriate to do so.

The existing external audit firm was invited to re-tender and  
we approached a range of firms including the ‘big four’ and 
a mid-tier firm to express their interest. Those firms who 
expressed an interest were subsequently requested to complete 
a detailed Request For Proposal (RFP). Following this, a full 
tender process of firms shortlisted based on the responses to 
the RFP was undertaken. During the tender process, each firm 
was given access to the Group’s senior management team and 
a data room. The tendering firms were scored against objective 
criteria determined in advance of the process, together with  
the findings and conclusions of published inspection reports  
on the audit firms.

Whilst the Committee appreciated the quality of the proposals 
presented by all the tendering firms, it considered that the 
submission and team from PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP best 
met the tender specification. It therefore recommended to the 
Board that PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP be re-appointed at 
the next AGM. The Board agreed this on 14 March 2019.

The Committee confirms that there are no contractual 
obligations which restrict the choice of external auditor.

Internal audit
At present the Group does not have an internal audit function 
and the Committee believes that management is able to derive 
assurance as to the adequacy and effectiveness of internal 
controls and risk management procedures without one. This 
will be kept under review and reconsidered on a regular basis.

Risk management and internal controls
The Group has established a framework of risk management 
and internal control systems, policies and procedures, as 
described on page 52 of the Corporate Governance Report.  
The Audit Committee in partnership with the Board is 
responsible for reviewing the risk management and internal 
control framework and ensuring that it operates effectively. 
During the period, the Committee is satisfied that the internal 
control systems in place were operating effectively.

Whistleblowing
The Group has in place a whistleblowing policy which sets out 
the formal process by which an employee of the Group may, 
in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in 
financial reporting or other matters. No concerns were raised 
during the period.

Anti-bribery 
The Group has in place an anti-bribery and corruption  
policy which sets out a zero-tolerance position and provides 
information and guidance to those working for the Group  
on how to recognise and deal with bribery and corruption 
issues. The Committee relies upon the external audit and 
assurances from senior management in satisfying itself that 
the current policy is operating effectively. During the period, 
the Committee is satisfied that the policy in place has been 
operating effectively. 

Jane Earl
Chair of the Audit Committee

29 May 2019
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT

Members of the Remuneration Committee
The Committee currently consists of one independent Non-Executive 
Director, myself (as Chair), and Andrew Wiseman. Frank Nelson resigned 
as a Non-Executive Director on 3 October 2018 and at such time his 
appointment as a member of the Remuneration Committee ended.  
Having only one independent Non-Executive Director on the Board,  
Andrew Wiseman was appointed interim member until such time as  
a suitable Non-Executive Director is appointed. Other members of the  
Board may attend Committee meetings by invitation if required and  
are not present when their remuneration package is considered.  
During the period the Committee met five times.

Duties
The main duties of the Remuneration Committee are set out in its terms 
of reference, which can be found at www.telfordhomes-ir.london. It is 
intended that these will be kept under continuous review to ensure they 
remain appropriate and reflect any changes in legislation, regulation or  
best practice.

Review of the year to 31 March 2019 
The Committee is responsible for reviewing all senior management 
salary and bonus levels and makes recommendations to the Board on 
Executive Directors’ service agreements and remuneration. In doing so 
it has undertaken relevant research to ensure that remuneration levels 
are competitive with the industry average. It has also taken account 
of the values and culture of the Group which is based on fairness 
and transparency.

The Executive Directors earned an annual cash bonus and in addition to 
this will continue to be paid their deferred annual bonus this year, in line 
with the relevant bonus scheme rules. 

The Committee remains committed to a fair and responsible approach 
to executive pay whilst ensuring it remains in line with best practice and 
appropriately incentivises Executive Directors over the longer-term to 
deliver the Group’s strategy. The Board remains focused on ensuring  
that the Company retains and develops the talent needed to deliver on  
its growth targets.

Accordingly, the Committee determined it was appropriate to award the 
Executive Directors a three per cent salary increase, which was in line  
with increases for the wider workforce.

I look forward to your support at our AGM on 11 July 2019 and will be 
available to answer any questions you may have.

On behalf of the Board 
I am pleased to present the 
Remuneration Committee 
Report for the year to 31 
March 2019, which sets out 
the remuneration earned and 
paid to the Directors and how 
the Directors’ Remuneration 
Policy will be operated  
for the year commencing  
1 April 2019. 

Telford Homes Plc is listed on AIM 
and, as such, some of the following 
disclosures are prepared on a 
voluntary basis and as a matter of 
best practice. The Annual Report 
on remuneration, detailed on pages 
60 to 62, is subject to an advisory 
shareholder vote at our AGM. 

The Committee’s performance 
was reviewed within the framework 
of the internal Board review. The 
Committee was regarded as 
performing effectively.
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy
This section sets out the Directors’ Remuneration Policy. The Committee considers the Remuneration Policy annually to ensure  
that it continues to underpin the Group’s strategy. The policy set out below applies for three years from the 2017 AGM. 

Key principles
The main aim of the Group’s policy is to align the interests of Executive Directors with the Group’s growth strategy and long-term 
creation of shareholder value. The policy is designed to remunerate the Executive Directors competitively and appropriately  
and allows them to share in this success and the value delivered to shareholders. It also aligns with the collaborative culture  
of the Group.

The policy is based on the following principles:

• promote shareholder value creation and support business growth strategy;
• ensure that the interests of the Directors are aligned with the long-term interests of shareholders;
• deliver a competitive level of pay for the Directors sufficient to attract, retain and motivate individuals; and
• ensure that an appropriate proportion of the package is determined by targets linked to the Group’s performance.

Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Component Purpose and link  
to strategy

Operation Maximum opportunity Performance 
measures

Base salary Fixed remuneration to provide 
a competitive base salary for 
the market in which the Group 
operates to attract, motivate 
and retain Directors with the 
experience and capabilities 
required to achieve the Group’s 
strategic aims.

Salaries are reviewed annually 
taking into account Group 
performance, role, experience 
and current market rates.

No overall maximum has been 
set under the policy. However 
salary increases are reviewed in 
the context of the wider workforce 
increases.

Not applicable.

Benefits To provide a market competitive 
benefits package as part of total 
remuneration.

Executive Directors receive 
benefits in line with market 
practice, principally life 
assurance, private medical 
insurance and a company  
car/car allowance.

Set at a level which the 
Committee deems appropriate.

Not applicable.

Pension To provide an appropriate level  
of retirement benefit.

Executive Directors are eligible to 
participate in the Group’s defined 
contribution pension plan.

Pension contributions are set at 
10 per cent of base salary and are 
paid in addition to base salary.

Not applicable.

Share 
Incentive 
Plan (SIP)

To increase employee ownership 
of shares.

Executive Directors are entitled  
to participate in a tax qualifying 
all employee SIP.

Executive Directors can invest 
an amount per year and receive 
a matching award from the 
Company as permitted by UK tax 
legislation. Further details on the 
SIP is included on page 98.

Not subject to 
performance 
measures, in 
line with HMRC 
guidance.
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Component Purpose and link  
to strategy

Operation Maximum opportunity Performance  
measures

Annual  
bonus

Rewards performance 
against annual targets 
which support the 
strategic direction of 
the Group.

Awards are based on annual performance.

Pay-out levels are determined by the 
Committee after the year end based on 
performance against targets.

The Committee has discretion to amend 
the pay-out should any formulaic output 
not reflect the Committee’s assessment 
of overall business performance.

Any bonus earned is paid in cash.

The maximum annual 
bonus opportunity is 70 
per cent of base salary.

Performance measures 
are set annually and 
aligned with key financial, 
strategic and/or personal 
targets.

Currently 100 per cent of 
the bonus is based on total 
profit before tax (PBT) 
performance.

Stretching targets are 
required for maximum 
pay-out.

Long-term 
Incentive 
Plan (LTIP)

To drive and reward  
the achievement of 
longer-term objectives, 
support retention 
and promote share 
ownership for  
Executive Directors.

Awards can be made over conditional 
shares and/or nil cost or nominal cost 
share options.

Vesting will be subject to the 
achievement of specified performance 
conditions over a period of three years.

Awards may be subject to malus 
provisions at the discretion of 
the Committee.

The normal 
maximum LTIP 
opportunity is 100  
per cent of salary  
in respect of a 
financial year.

Under the LTIP rules, 
an award of up to 200 
per cent of salary 
may be granted in 
respect of a financial 
year, but only in 
very exceptional 
circumstances.

Relevant performance 
measures are set that 
reflect underlying 
business performance.

For awards granted 
to date, the vesting is 
subject to three year 
cumulative EPS targets.

Stretching targets are 
required for maximum 
pay-out.

Explanation of performance measures chosen
Performance measures are selected that are aligned with the performance of the Group and the interest of shareholders. Stretching 
performance targets are set each year for the annual bonus and long-term incentive awards. When setting these performance targets, 
the Committee will take into account a number of different reference points, which may include the Group’s business plan and strategy 
and economic environment. Full vesting will only occur for what the Committee considers to be stretching performance.

The annual bonus is based on total PBT performance which is a key financial performance metric of the Group.

The LTIP is based on EPS performance as the Committee considers this to be a key measure of long-term sustainable  
business performance.

The Committee retains the ability to adjust or set different performance measures if events occur which cause the Committee to 
determine that the measures are no longer appropriate and that amendment is required so that they can achieve their original purpose.

Awards and options may be adjusted in the event of a variation of share capital in accordance with the rules of the LTIP.
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Legacy remuneration
The Committee has the right to settle remuneration arrangements that were put in place prior to this policy being created.

These being:

• the bonus scheme applicable to Executive Directors from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2017 involved a proportion of the bonus 
earned in the year (up to 50 per cent) being deferred and paid out to each Director in equal instalments over the next three  
years, subject to a minimum level of profit being achieved in these years. Therefore, subject to the minimum level of profit  
being achieved in the financial years to March 2019 and March 2020, deferred bonus payments will be paid in line with the  
rules of this scheme. The amount carried forward under this scheme for each Director is included on page 61.

• during 2006 the Company set up a Deferred Payment Share Purchase Plan (DPSPP) for the benefit of select employees.  
Further details are given in note 18 to the financial statements. The Remuneration Committee is responsible for approving 
any offers of shares made under the DPSPP although further grants are very unlikely.

• approved and unapproved share options have been granted to Executive Directors in previous years under the Telford Homes  
Plc Employee Share Option Scheme (ESOP). Outstanding options detailed on page 62 can still be exercised under the rules of  
the scheme.

Non-Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy for the Non-Executive Directors is to pay fees necessary to attract individuals of the calibre required, 
taking into consideration the size and complexity of the business and the time commitment of the role.

Details are set out in the table below:

Approach to setting fees Basis of fee Other items

The fees of the Non-Executive Directors are agreed 
by the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer.

Fees are reviewed annually.

Fees are set taking into account the level of 
responsibility, relevant experience and specialist 
knowledge of each Non-Executive Director.

Fees may include a basic fee and additional 
fees for further responsibilities (for example 
Chair of the Remuneration and Audit 
Committees).

Fees are paid in cash.

Non-Executive Directors do not receive 
any benefits or pension contributions. 

Travel and other reasonable expenses 
incurred in the course of performing 
their duties are reimbursed.

Details of current Executive Directors’ contracts
Executive Directors have service contracts that can be terminated on 12 months’ notice. These provide for termination payments 
equivalent to 12 months’ base salary and contractual benefits.

Details of letters of appointment and notice periods for Non-Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment for an initial period of three years subject to termination on three months’ notice.

Statement of consideration of shareholder views
The Committee considers shareholder feedback received on remuneration matters, including issues raised at the AGM as well as 
any additional comments received during any other meetings with shareholders.
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Annual report on remuneration

Remuneration
The Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2019 are as follows:

Name Salary & fees

Deferred 
Annual  
Bonus 

Scheme¹

Annual  
Bonus 

Scheme Benefits Pension
Total  
2019

Total  
2018

Executive Directors

Andrew Wiseman 107,313 39,417 – 19,678 10,731 177,139 196,822

Jon Di-Stefano 342,500 70,842 98,740 38,892 34,250 585,224 714,371

David Campbell 246,875 70,842 69,118 13,772 24,688 425,295 527,819

John Fitzgerald 246,875 70,842 98,740 19,831 24,688 460,976 533,460

Jerome Geoghegan² 246,875 – 98,740 11,973 24,688 382,276 105,484

Katie Rogers 246,875 70,842 98,740 15,465 24,688 456,610 529,287

Non-Executive Directors

Jane Earl 59,000 – – – – 59,000 59,120

Frank Nelson3 48,006 – – – – 48,006 62,800

1,544,319 322,785 464,078 119,611 143,733 2,594,526 3,106,182

1. The amounts paid under the Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme were earned in previous years and released in line with the rules of the scheme. For further details see page 61. 

2.  Jerome Geoghegan was appointed to the Board on 1 February 2018.

3.  Frank Nelson resigned from the Board on 3 October 2018.

Notes to the table

Base salaries
The base salaries are reviewed on 1 January each year for the Executive Directors. The base salary which applies for each Director 
from 1 January 2019 is set out below.

Name 2019

Andrew Wiseman 109,750

Jon Di-Stefano 350,000

David Campbell 252,500

John Fitzgerald 252,500

Jerome Geoghegan 252,500

Katie Rogers 252,500

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT

60

TELFORD HOMES PLC – Annual Report 2019



Annual bonus
A new annual bonus scheme was adopted from 1 April 2017 and replaced the Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme applicable from  
1 April 2013 to 31 March 2017. An element of bonus paid in the current year relates to the Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme.  
Details of all bonuses earned and paid out for each Director is set out on the next page:

Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme
Eligible participants are listed in the table below.

Deferred bonus  
brought forward

Amount paid  
during the year

Deferred bonus  
carried forward

Andrew Wiseman 53,833 (39,417) 14,416

Jon Di-Stefano 107,293 (70,842) 36,451

David Campbell 107,293 (70,842) 36,451

John Fitzgerald 107,293 (70,842) 36,451

Katie Rogers 107,293 (70,842) 36,451

The above bonus amounts paid in the year relate to the Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme which ended in 2017 and under which no 
further amounts can be earned. Under this bonus scheme, each Executive Director was entitled to earn an annual bonus equivalent 
to 0.6 per cent of profit before tax subject to a minimum level of profits being achieved in each year and capped at 100 per cent 
of salary at the date the bonus is payable. Up to 50 per cent of the bonus earned in each year was deferred and paid out to each 
Director in equal instalments over the next three years, again subject to a minimum level of profit being achieved in these years. 
The bonus carried forward will be released and paid next year in line with the scheme rules.

Annual Bonus Scheme
Eligible participants are listed in the table below.

Earned and paid in the year

Jon Di-Stefano 98,740

David Campbell 69,118

John Fitzgerald 98,740

Katie Rogers 98,740

Jerome Geoghegan 98,740

The above bonus amounts earned and paid in the year relate to the Annual Bonus Scheme which came into effect on 1 April 2017. 
Under this bonus scheme performance measures are set annually and aligned with key financial and strategic targets. Currently 
100 per cent of the bonus is based on total PBT performance with stretching targets required for maximum pay-out. 

The Committee retains the ability to adjust or set different performance measures if events occur which cause the Committee to 
determine that the measures are no longer appropriate and that amendment is required so that they can achieve their original purpose.

Benefits
The taxable benefits for the Executive Directors in the year included a car allowance or company car and private medical insurance. 
Jon Di-Stefano and John Fitzgerald’s benefits also include interest relating to a loan arising from the DPSPP scheme, further details 
on this share scheme are given in note 18 to the financial statements.
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Directors’ interests in shares and share options
Directors’ interests in shares of the Company at 31 March 2019 and movements in the year are listed below.

At  
31 March  

2018  
Number

Share  
Incentive  

Plan  
Number

Exercise of  
options 
Number

Market  
acquisitions  

and disposals 
Number

At  
31 March  

2019  
Number

Andrew Wiseman 2,206,924 3,980 – – 2,210,904

Jon Di-Stefano 409,646 3,977 – – 413,623

David Campbell 47,062 1,677 100,000 (100,000) 48,739

John Fitzgerald 114,896 3,196 – – 118,092

Jerome Geoghegan – 1,216 – – 1,216

Katie Rogers 131,618 3,205 – – 134,823

Jane Earl 6,845 – – – 6,845

These interests include shares purchased under the Telford Homes Share Incentive Plan (SIP) which all employees, including 
Executive Directors, are eligible to participate in. All shares purchased under the SIP are matched by shares provided by the 
Company on a one for one basis. These ‘matching’ shares are also included in the interests stated but must remain in the SIP  
for a period of not less than three years otherwise they are forfeited. Further details on the SIP are included in note 18 to the 
financial statements. 

The share options held by the Directors in the Telford Homes Plc ESOP and LTIP at 31 March 2019 and the movements during  
the year then ended were as follows:

Company scheme

31 March 
2018 

Number

Granted 
during  

the year 
Number

Exercised 
in year 

Number

31 March 
2019 

Number
Exercise 

price Dates exercisable

Jon Di-Stefano ESOP unapproved 60,000 – – 60,000 75p 1 Oct 2005 to 1 Oct 2019

ESOP unapproved 100,000 – – 100,000 90.5p 9 Feb 2015 to 9 Feb 2022

LTIP 2017 80,498 – – 80,498 Nil 14 Jul 2020 to 14 Jul 2027

LTIP 2018 – 74,561 – 74,561 Nil 11 June 2021 to 11 June 2028

Katie Rogers LTIP 2017 57,812 – – 57,812 Nil 14 Jul 2020 to 14 Jul 2027

LTIP 2018 – 53,728 – 53,728 Nil 11 June 2021 to 11 June 2028

David Campbell ESOP unapproved 67,000 – (67,000) – 90.5p 9 Feb 2015 to 9 Feb 2022

ESOP approved 33,000 – (33,000) – 90.5p 9 Feb 2015 to 9 Feb 2022

LTIP 2017 57,812 – – 57,812 Nil 14 Jul 2020 to 14 Jul 2027

LTIP 2018 – 53,728 – 53,728 Nil 11 June 2021 to 11 June 2028

John Fitzgerald ESOP approved 33,000 – – 33,000 90.5p 9 Feb 2015 to 9 Feb 2022

LTIP 2017 57,812 – – 57,812 Nil 14 Jul 2020 to 14 Jul 2027

LTIP 2018 – 53,728 – 53,728 Nil 11 June 2021 to 11 June 2028

Jerome Geoghegan LTIP 2018 – 53,728 – 53,728 Nil 11 June 2021 to 11 June 2028

In total the share-based payments credit in respect of Directors’ share options was £127,000 (2018: charge £139,000). The credit  
in the year ended 31 March 2019 for share-based payments is due to a reduction in the number of LTIP awards expected to vest.

Advisors
During the year, the Committee did not receive any external advice. 
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Implementation of Directors’ Remuneration Policy for the financial year 
commencing 1 April 2019
 
Information on how the Company intends to implement the Directors’ Remuneration Policy for the financial year commencing on 
1 April 2019 is set out below.

Salaries and fees
Salaries for the Executive Directors and fees for the Non-Executive Directors will be reviewed in December 2019 and will be 
disclosed in the Annual Report on remuneration next year, although the Committee does not anticipate making salary increases 
greater than the awards being made to the wider workforce. The provision of benefits will remain unchanged.

Annual bonus
The maximum bonus opportunity for Executive Directors will be 70 per cent of base salary subject to achieving stretching total  
PBT targets.

To achieve maximum pay-out, total PBT is required to exceed target PBT by at least 10 per cent. If total PBT is more than  
20 per cent under target PBT, no annual bonus is earned.

Bonus payments will be settled in cash.

Long-Term Incentive Plan
Awards will be granted under the LTIP following the release of final results for the 12 months ended 31 March 2019. Vesting of the 
awards will be subject to three year cumulative EPS targets. The maximum award under this scheme is 100 per cent of base salary.

To achieve maximum vesting, cumulative EPS over three years is required to exceed target EPS by at least 10 per cent. If cumulative 
EPS is more than five per cent below EPS target, no LTIP awards vest.

This report has been approved by the Board.

 

Jane Earl
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

29 May 2019
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019.  
The Strategic Report on pages 06 to 43 and the Corporate Governance Report on pages 48 to 52 are incorporated into the 
Directors’ Report by reference.

Principal activity
Telford Homes is an AIM listed public limited company incorporated and domiciled in the United Kingdom. The principal activity  
of the Group is property development.

Result and dividend
Total profit after income tax for the year ended 31 March 2019 was £33,631,000 (2018: £37,415,000).

The Directors recommend a final dividend of 8.5 pence per ordinary share which, together with the interim dividend of 8.5 pence 
paid on 11 January 2019, makes a total of 17.0 pence for the year (2018: 17.0 pence).

Going concern
The Group’s business activities, together with factors likely to affect its future development and performance, are set out in the 
Chief Executive Officer’s review on pages 16 to 23 and the management of risks and uncertainties affecting the Group are set out 
on pages 32 to 35. The financial position of the Group, its cash flows and borrowing facilities are described in the Financial review 
on pages 24 to 29. In addition, note 21 to the financial statements includes details of the Group’s financial instruments and its 
exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Directors have assessed the Group’s projected business activities and available financial resources, together with detailed 
forecasts for cash flow and relevant sensitivity analysis. The Directors believe that the Group is well placed to manage its business 
risks successfully.

After making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the Annual Report.

Substantial shareholdings
Based on shareholder analysis as at 15 May 2019 and as far as the Company is aware, the following represents interests in excess 
of three per cent in its ordinary share capital:

Number of  
shares held Percentage

Octopus Investments 7,523,669 9.90

Hargreaves Lansdown, Stockbrokers (EO) 5,898,851 7.76

Investec Wealth & Investment 4,554,555 5.99

Interactive Investor (EO) 4,547,180 5.98

Thames River Capital 2,491,553 3.28

Telford Homes Trustees Ltd holds 2,186,343 shares (2.87 per cent) which includes shares held on behalf of employees under the 
Share Incentive Plan (note 18).

Directors and Directors’ interests
Details of the Directors of the Company are shown on pages 46 and 47. The Directors’ interests in the Company’s shares and 
options over ordinary shares are shown on page 62.

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance
The Company maintains appropriate Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance in respect of itself and its Directors and Officers.  
The Directors may also be indemnified in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and to the maximum extent 
permitted by law, although no such indemnities are currently in place. The insurance does not, and any indemnities if granted  
would not, provide cover where the relevant Director or Officer has acted fraudulently or dishonestly.

Share capital
As at 31 March 2019, the Company’s share capital consisted of 76,025,500 issued and fully paid ordinary shares with a nominal value  
of 10 pence per share. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. The 
Company’s investment in own shares relates solely to the Share Incentive Plan and further details of the total holding and 
movements in the holding are disclosed in note 18.
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Employees
The Group places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and it is the Group’s policy to keep them informed of 
all relevant matters on a regular basis. Telford Homes is an equal opportunities employer and all applications for employment are 
considered fully on the basis of suitability for the job. The Directors encourage employees to become shareholders in order to 
promote active participation in, and commitment to, the Group’s success. This policy has been extended to all employees through 
the provision of a Share Incentive Plan.

Political and charitable donations
The Group made no political donations in the financial period. The Group made charitable donations of £80,000 for the year ended 
31 March 2019 (2018: £77,000). These donations were made to a number of different charities supporting a range of good causes.

Total greenhouse gas emissions 2018–19

Greenhouse gas emissions
Year ended 

March 2019
Year ended 

March 2018

Scope 1 emissions (t CO2e) 1 1,655.88 1,801.37

Scope 2 emissions (t CO2e) 2 627.68 830.78

Scope 3 emissions (t CO2e) 3 724.32 618.23

Total (t CO2e) 3,007.88 3,250.38

Carbon Intensity t CO2e per full-time employee 9.03 11.21

1.  We measure scope 1 direct emissions relating to office, sales, development site activities and travel, diesel combustion on our sites and business travel from company leased vehicles.

2.  We measure scope 2 indirect emissions for purchased electricity and heat for all our sites and offices. Our head office switched to a green tariff supply from November 2018.

3. We measure scope 3 other indirect emissions relating to business travel by road and air.

Greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) are reported in line with the UK Government’s ‘Environmental Reporting Guidelines’. We have 
used the GHG factors outlined in the DECC’s ‘UK Government greenhouse gas conversion factors for company reporting (2018)’. 
Based on the verification approach detailed in the full statement in our Sustainability Report 2019, our verifiers RPS Group found 
no evidence to suggest that our GHG inventory is not materially correct and prepared in accordance with the internal reporting 
methodologies and the requirements of ISO14064-part 3 standard.

Disclosure of information to auditor
Each of the Directors who held office at the date of approval of this report confirms that, so far as he or she is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which the Company’s external auditor is unaware and that he or she has taken all the steps that he  
or she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish  
that the Company’s external auditor is aware of that information.

External auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has expressed willingness to continue in office as external auditor and as such a resolution to re-
appoint them will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. 

Annual General Meeting
The AGM will be held at the registered office of the Company at Telford House, Queensgate, Britannia Road, Waltham Cross, 
Hertfordshire EN8 7TF on 11 July 2019 at 12.30pm.

By order of the Board.

Monique Woudberg
Company Secretary

29 May 2019
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STRATOSPHERE E15 
A completed development in the heart of Stratford incorporating 341 new homes, office and retail space.  
It received an International Property Award 2017 for Best Residential High-Rise Development in the UK.

NUMBER OF HOMES

341
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KEY MANAGEMENT INFORMATION

GROUP INCOME STATEMENT
Including proportional share of joint ventures
31 March 2019

Non-GAAP 
Year ended 

31 March 2019 
£000

Non-GAAP
 Year ended

 31 March 2018 
£000

Total revenue 354,329 316,241

Cost of sales (275,011) (236,772)

Total gross profit 79,318 79,469

Administrative expenses (27,577) (24,159)

Selling expenses (9,831) (6,548)

Total operating profit 41,910 48,762

Finance income 1,659 898

Finance costs (3,446) (3,622)

Total profit before income tax 40,123 46,038

Income tax expense (6,492) (8,623)

Total profit after income tax 33,631 37,415

Key management information is presented to the Board with the Group’s share of joint venture results proportionally consolidated 
and therefore including the relevant share of the results of joint ventures in each line of the income statement and balance sheet. 

The Group’s joint ventures are an integral part of the business and all developments are treated consistently within the business 
whether wholly owned or partially owned in a joint venture structure. In addition, the proportion of results generated from joint 
ventures will fluctuate year to year depending on the timing of developments.

As such the Board believes that the financial results presented in this way are the most appropriate for assessing the true 
underlying performance of the business. A reconciliation between the key management information income statement and balance 
sheet and Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) compliant information, accounting for joint ventures under IFRS 11 
as equity investments, is included in note 2 of the financial statements. The key management information presented in this way 
is deemed to be an Alternative Performance Measure. For further details on Alternative Performance Measures, including further 
definitions and reconciliations, see note 22.
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KEY MANAGEMENT INFORMATION

GROUP BALANCE SHEET
Including proportional share of joint ventures  
31 March 2019

Non-GAAP 
31 March 2019 

£000

Non-GAAP 
31 March 2018 

£000

Non current assets

Goodwill 818 818

Property, plant and equipment 2,716 2,543

3,534 3,361

Current assets

Inventories 320,614 373,859

Trade and other receivables 103,005 55,688

Total cash and cash equivalents 33,379 13,829

456,998 443,376

Total assets 460,532 446,737

Non current liabilities

Trade and other payables  (894)  (1,268)

Financial liabilities  (2,016)  (360)

Deferred income tax liabilities  (603)  (48)

(3,513) (1,676)

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables (74,238) (92,445)

Total borrowings (127,029) (116,899)

Financial liabilities – (200)

Current income tax liabilities (2,900) (4,426)

(204,167) (213,970)

Total liabilities (207,680) (215,646)

Net assets 252,852 231,091

Capital and reserves

Issued share capital 7,603 7,551

Share premium 109,274 108,178

Retained earnings 135,975 115,362

Total equity 252,852 231,091
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SOUTH KILBURN NW6 
As a partner of the London Borough of Brent we are redeveloping a significant 3.2 acre site for  

236 homes located close to Kilburn Park station. It is part of a major regeneration programme in South Kilburn.

NUMBER OF HOMES

236
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Note

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended 
31 March 2018 

£000

Total revenue 1 354,329 316,241

Less share of revenue from joint ventures (18,207) (21,460)

Revenue 1 336,122 294,781

Cost of sales (261,112) (220,026)

Gross profit 75,010 74,755

Administrative expenses (27,400) (24,055)

Selling expenses (9,047) (5,706)

Share of results of joint ventures 9 2,395 2,443

Operating profit 1 40,958 47,437

Finance income 4 1,397 773

Finance costs 4 (2,015) (1,902)

Profit before income tax 40,340 46,308

Income tax expense 5 (6,709) (8,893)

Profit after income tax 33,631 37,415

Earnings per share:

Basic 7 44.6p 49.8p

Diluted 7 44.5p 49.4p

All activities are in respect of continuing operations.

GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
31 March 2019

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended 
31 March 2018

 £000

Movement in derivative financial instruments hedged (1,456) 536

Movement in deferred tax on derivative financial instruments hedged 277 (102)

Other comprehensive (expense) income net of tax 
(items that may be subsequently reclassified into profit or loss)

(1,179) 434

Profit for the year 33,631 37,415

Total comprehensive income for the year 32,452 37,849

GROUP INCOME STATEMENT
31 March 2019
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BALANCE SHEET
31 March 2019

Note

Group Company

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
£000

Non current assets

Goodwill 8  289  289  –  – 

Investments 9  –  – 23,037 23,037

Investments in joint ventures 9 85,578 54,259  –  – 

Property, plant and equipment 10 2,563 2,471 2,563 2,471

Deferred income tax assets 11  –  –  – 191

88,430 57,019 25,600 25,699

Current assets

Inventories 12 197,440 300,008 156,565 230,006

Trade and other receivables 13 108,520 57,853 202,060 154,271

Cash and cash equivalents 14 31,540 12,808 30,592 11,638

337,500 370,669 389,217 395,915

Total assets 425,930 427,688 414,817 421,614

Non current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 (894) (1,268) (459) (901)

Financial liabilities 21 (2,016) (360) (2,016) (360)

Deferred income tax liabilities 11 (827) (193)  (355)  – 

(3,737) (1,821) (2,830) (1,261)

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 15 (62,006) (77,891) (60,738) (78,829)

Borrowings 16 (104,435) (112,259) (104,435) (112,259)

Financial liabilities 21  –  (200)  –  (200)

Current income tax liabilities (2,900) (4,426) (2,756) (4,087)

(169,341) (194,776) (167,929) (195,375)

Total liabilities (173,078) (196,597) (170,759) (196,636)

Net assets 252,852 231,091 244,058 224,978

Capital and reserves

Issued share capital 17 7,603 7,551 7,603 7,551

Share premium 109,274 108,178 109,274 108,178

Retained earnings 135,975 115,362 127,181 109,249

Total equity 252,852 231,091 244,058 224,978

The Company made a profit for the year of £31,442,000 (2018: £35,465,000).

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 May 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

 

Jon Di-Stefano   Katie Rogers  
Chief Executive Officer   Chief Financial Officer  

Company number: 4118370
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Group statement of changes in equity

Share  
capital

£000

Share  
premium

£000

Retained 
earnings

£000

Total  
equity
£000

Balance at 1 April 2017 7,529 107,395 89,361 204,285

Profit for the year  –  – 37,415 37,415

Total other comprehensive income  –  – 434 434

Excess tax on share options  –  – 43 43

Dividend on equity shares  –  – (12,383) (12,383)

Proceeds of equity share issues 22 783  – 805

Share-based payments  –  – 455 455

Purchase of own shares  –  – (726) (726)

Sale of own shares  –  – 763 763

Balance at 31 March 2018 7,551 108,178 115,362 231,091

IFRS 15 restatement (see page 80)  –  – 1,777 1,777

Balance at 1 April 2018 7,551 108,178 117,139 232,868

Profit for the year  –  – 33,631 33,631

Total other comprehensive expense  –  – (1,179) (1,179)

Excess tax on share options  –  – (59) (59)

Dividend on equity shares  –  – (13,187) (13,187)

Proceeds of equity share issues 52 1,096  – 1,148

Share-based payments  –  – (82) (82)

Purchase of own shares  –  – (932) (932)

Sale of own shares  –  – 644 644

Balance at 31 March 2019 7,603 109,274 135,975 252,852

Company statement of changes in equity

Share  
capital

£000

Share  
premium

£000

Retained 
earnings

£000

Total  
equity
£000

Balance at 1 April 2017 7,529 107,395 85,023 199,947

Profit for the year  –  – 35,465 35,465

Total other comprehensive income  –  – 434 434

Excess tax on share options  –  – 43 43

Dividend on equity shares  –  – (12,383) (12,383)

Proceeds of equity share issues  22  783  – 805

Share-based payments  –  –  455 455

Purchase of own shares  –  – (726) (726)

Sale of own shares  –  –  763 763

Members distribution from joint ventures  –  –  175 175

Balance at 31 March 2018 7,551 108,178 109,249 224,978

IFRS 15 restatement (see page 80)  –  – 1,285 1,285

Balance at 1 April 2018 7,551 108,178 110,534 226,263

Profit for the year  –  – 31,442 31,442

Total other comprehensive expense  –  – (1,179) (1,179)

Excess tax on share options  –  – (59) (59)

Dividend on equity shares  –  – (13,187) (13,187)

Proceeds of equity share issues  52  1,096  – 1,148

Share-based payments  –  – (82) (82)

Purchase of own shares  –  – (932) (932)

Sale of own shares  –  – 644 644

Balance at 31 March 2019 7,603 109,274 127,181 244,058

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
31 March 2019
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
31 March 2019

Group Company

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended 
31 March 2018 

£000

Year ended
 31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended 
31 March 2018

 £000

Cash flow from operating activities

Operating profit 40,958 47,437 39,846 45,605

Depreciation 1,207 906 1,207 906

Share-based payments (82) 455 (82) 455

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (2) (2) (2) (2)

Decrease (increase) in inventories and work in progress 107,219 (8,145) 77,580 40,958

Increase in receivables (47,728) (19,465) (46,259) (74,827)

Decrease in payables (15,492) (73,150) (17,766) (71,406)

Share of results from joint ventures (2,395) (2,443)  –  – 

83,685 (54,407) 54,524 (58,311)

Interest paid and debt issue costs (6,972) (6,393) (6,391) (6,295)

Income tax paid (7,582) (7,385) (7,460) (7,223)

Dividend received from subsidiaries  –  –  88  – 

Cash flow from operating activities 69,131 (68,185) 40,761 (71,829)

Cash flow from investing activities

Distribution from joint ventures  – 20,016  –  175 

Investment in joint ventures (28,592) (24,781)  –  – 

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,299) (2,105) (1,299) (2,105)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2 2 2 2

Interest received 102 773 102 54

Cash flow from investing activities (29,787) (6,095) (1,195) (1,874)

Cash flow from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary share capital 1,148 805 1,148 805

Purchase of own shares (932) (726) (932) (726)

Sale of own shares 644 763 644 763

Increase in bank loans  – 60,000  – 60,000

Repayments of bank loans (8,285) – (8,285) –

Dividend paid (13,187) (12,383) (13,187) (12,383)

Cash flow from financing activities (20,612) 48,459 (20,612) 48,459

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 18,732 (25,821) 18,954 (25,244)

Cash and cash equivalents brought forward 12,808 38,629 11,638 36,882

Cash and cash equivalents carried forward 31,540 12,808 30,592 11,638
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
31 March 2019

Basis of preparation 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with applicable International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) including International Accounting Standards (IAS) and 
IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations as 
adopted for use in the European Union and with those parts of 
the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS.

The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention as modified for reassessment  
of derivatives at fair value and on a going concern basis.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with 
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) requires 
the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues 
and expenses during the reporting period. Although these 
estimates are based on the Directors’ best knowledge of the 
amounts, events or actions, actual results ultimately may differ 
from those estimates. The most significant estimates made 
by the Directors in these financial statements are set out in 
‘Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation 
uncertainty’ on page 79.

The Group adopted IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 
(revised) from 1 April 2014 and as a result, proportional 
consolidation of joint venture results is no longer allowed. Under 
these accounting standards, key line items such as statutory 
revenue, cost of sales, inventory and debt no longer include the 
Group’s portion of joint venture balances. Instead, the Group’s 
share of the statutory results from joint ventures is accounted 
for under the equity method. Therefore the Group’s share of the 
results in joint ventures is presented in one line in the income 
statement and the statutory balance sheet includes one line 
representing the Group’s investment in joint ventures.

Joint ventures are an integral part of the business and the 
Board has included an income statement and a balance sheet 
using proportional consolidation for the results of joint ventures 
within the Group’s financial statements. These are presented 
in addition to the GAAP compliant versions of the income 
statement and balance sheet which present joint ventures as 
equity investments. For further information see note 2 and 22.

Accounting policies 
The accounting policies of the Group have been applied 
consistently for all periods presented in these financial 
statements. 

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and the Group’s 
share of results of joint ventures. The results of subsidiaries 
and joint ventures acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the financial statements from the effective date of 
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 
All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated on consolidation.

Exemptions
The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available 
under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and have not 
presented an income statement or statement of comprehensive 
income for the Company alone.

Joint ventures
A joint venture is an entity in which the Group holds an 
interest with one or more other parties where a contractual 
arrangement has established joint control over the entity. 
Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting. Under this method, the Group’s share of post-tax 
results of joint ventures are included in the Group’s operating 
profit in the consolidated income statement and its interest 
in their net assets is included within investments in the 
consolidated balance sheet.

As joint ventures are an integral part of the business, total 
revenue, including the Group’s share of joint venture revenue, is 
presented on the face of the income statement and reconciled 
to revenue which is the GAAP compliant revenue amount.

The Company provides construction services to its joint 
ventures on an agency basis, effectively acting as a paying 
agent charging on construction costs to the relevant joint 
venture with no mark-up. No revenue or costs are recognised 
by the Company in respect of these re-billing transactions. A 
management fee is charged for this service and a consolidation 
adjustment is included in the Group financial statements to 
remove the Company’s share of management fee earned.

Revenue and profit recognition
Properties for open market sale
Revenue and profit is recognised when control of each property 
has transferred to the purchaser, which is the point of legal 
completion. Revenue is the contract price of each property 
net of any incentives and profit is calculated based on an 
assessment of the overall revenues and costs expected on that 
particular development. The assessment of total revenues and 
total costs expected on each development requires a degree 
of estimation, although in the majority of cases, at the point of 
handover of open market properties, the development will be 
nearing completion and therefore profits are more certain. 
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Development contracts 
Revenue from contracts is recognised over time from the date 
at which it is considered that the customer controls the asset. 
For the construction of open market homes sold under build to 
rent contracts or for the construction of affordable homes sold 
to affordable housing providers, control passes to the customer 
on the date of exchanging contracts. In order to determine 
progress towards satisfying these contracts and thus the timing 
and proportion of revenue to be recognised the input method 
of measurement is applied, based on resources consumed 
relative to total resources expected to be consumed. Land is a 
key resource consumed in order to satisfy these contracts and 
as such is included in measuring progress under this method. 
Where variations are received, these are recognised as revenue 
by reference to the stage of completion of contract activity 
at the balance sheet date, these variations are not normally 
material to the Group. 

On the balance sheet, the Group reports the net contract 
position for each contract either as an asset or liability.  
A contract represents an asset where costs incurred plus 
recognised profits exceed progress billing and a contract 
represents a liability where the opposite is the case. These  
are disclosed as ‘Amounts recoverable on contracts’.

Sale of freehold interests
Revenue and profit are recognised at the point of legal 
completion of each freehold interest sale.

Management fees
Management fees in relation to construction services provided 
to its joint ventures are recognised as revenue, as earned,  
within the income statement.

Selling expenses 
Selling expenses which are directly attributable to obtaining 
a contract are prepaid and then expensed at the time of the 
corresponding revenue and profit recognition of that contract. 
All other selling expenses are charged to the income statement 
as incurred.

Employee benefits 
In accordance with IAS 19 employee benefits are recognised 
as an expense in the period they are earned by the employee. 
Under the Group’s Deferred Annual Bonus Scheme applicable 
from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2017 for Executive Directors and 
senior management, there is a deferred element to be paid in 
future years. This deferred element is recognised as an expense 
over the remaining period dependant on the employees’ 
continued service.

Borrowings 
Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially 
measured at fair value, being proceeds received net of 
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at  
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

Borrowing costs directly relating to the development of 
properties that take a substantial period of time to get ready 
for sale are capitalised within inventories. Capitalisation 
of borrowing costs commences from the date of initial 
expenditure on a given development and continues until 
the properties are ready for sale. 

The capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended where there 
are prolonged periods when development activity on a site is 
interrupted. Capitalisation is not normally suspended during a 
period when substantial technical and administrative work is 
being carried out.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the income statement 
using the effective interest method. Borrowing costs paid are 
classified as operating activities in the cash flow statement. 

Hedge accounting – interest rate swaps
The Group has adopted hedge accounting for its interest 
rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges. The hedge is 
used to mitigate financial exposure to movements in interest 
rates. Changes in intrinsic fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income to the extent that the cash flow hedge 
is determined to be effective. All other changes in fair value are 
recognised immediately in the income statement. The hedged 
item is the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) element of 
a variable rate bank loan. The accumulated gains and losses 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
classified into the income statement as a financial expense 
over the life of the loan. This has the effect of fixing the LIBOR 
element of the interest rate recognised in the income statement 
to the hedge rate over the life of the swap. The effectiveness 
of the hedge is tested prospectively and retrospectively on an 
annual basis.
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STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
31 March 2019

Operating leases 
Operating lease rentals are charged to the income statement  
on a straight line basis over the life of the lease.

Pension costs 
Contributions paid to group personal pension schemes  
(defined contribution), in respect of employees, are charged 
to the income statement as incurred.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a 
straight line basis at rates calculated to write down the cost, 
less estimated residual value, of each asset over its expected 
useful life as follows:

Leasehold improvements –  shorter of term of lease  
and 10 years

Plant and machinery – 2 to 5 years
Motor vehicles – 3 years

Goodwill 
Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents 
the excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value 
of net assets acquired. Goodwill impairment reviews are 
undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying 
value of the cash-generating unit (CGU) containing the goodwill 
is compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher 
of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any 
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is  
not subsequently reversed.

Investments
Interests in subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures are 
valued at cost less impairment. 

Business combination
The Group accounts for business combinations on the date 
control is transferred to the Group and applies the acquisition 
method of accounting for business combinations. The 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured  
at the fair value at the acquisition date. Acquisition related  
costs are expensed as incurred.

Inventories 
Development properties are included in inventories and are 
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost 
comprises costs of acquisition and development, including 
directly attributable fees and expenses, direct labour costs and 
borrowing costs. Included within development properties are 
freehold interests held in completed developments. The cost of 
these interests are estimated at initial recognition on the basis 
of a multiple of annual ground rents and are not subsequently 
revalued. These are held for future sale. 

Planning costs 
Planning costs are capitalised and recognised as an asset 
in work in progress when there is probable future economic 
benefit expected to arise from those costs.

Financial instruments 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the 
Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provision of the instrument.

Trade receivables and other receivables 
Trade receivables on normal terms do not carry any interest 
and are stated at their nominal value reduced by appropriate 
allowances for estimated unrecoverable amounts. IFRS 9 
‘Financial instruments’, simplified approach, has been applied 
when measuring estimated unrecoverable amounts which uses 
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash balances in 
hand and in the bank (including short-term cash deposits) 
which mature within three months or less from the date  
of acquisition.

Borrowings 
Interest bearing bank loans and overdrafts are initially 
measured at fair value, being proceeds received net of 
transaction costs and are subsequently measured at  
amortised costs, using the effective interest rate method.

Trade payables 
Trade payables on normal terms are not interest bearing  
and are stated at their nominal value.

Land creditors 
Land creditors are recognised at the point the Group has a 
commitment to purchase land and all substantive contractual 
conditions have been satisfied. The liability is initially valued at 
fair value and discounted to present value. Subsequently the 
difference between the nominal value and the initial fair value is 
amortised over the length of the payment period and charged to 
inventory, increasing the value of the land creditor so that at the 
date of maturity the land creditor equals the payment required. 
The Group charges the unwinding of the fair value to inventory 
as it will be undertaking activities that are necessary to prepare 
the asset for its intended use, when in the rare situation this is 
not the case this charge is expensed.

Deposits received in advance 
Deposits received on exchange of contracts of open market 
properties are included within trade and other payables until 
legal completion of the related property.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified 
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements 
entered into. An equity instrument is any contract that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group  
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after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued 
by the Group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.

Current assets and liabilities 
Assets that are expected to be realised in, or are intended for 
sale or consumption in, the Group’s normal operating cycle are 
treated as current even to the extent these are expected to be 
realised after 12 months from the balance sheet date. Liabilities 
that are expected to be settled in the Group’s normal operating 
cycle are treated as current even though these may be due for 
settlement after 12 months from the balance sheet date.

Taxation 
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently 
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on the profits for the year. 
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income 
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that 
are tax deductible in other years and it further excludes items 
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for 
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all temporary 
differences that have originated but not reversed at the 
 balance sheet date where transactions or events that result  
in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay 
less tax in the future have occurred at the balance sheet date.

A net deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and 
therefore recognised only when, on the basis of all available 
evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than not that there 
will be suitable taxable profits from which the future reversal  
of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, 
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to 
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Share-based payments 
In accordance with IFRS 2, the fair value of equity settled share 
options granted is recognised as an employee expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured 
as at the date the options are granted using the Black-Scholes-
Merton pricing model and is charged equally over the vesting 
period. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted each 
reporting period to reflect the actual number of options that are 
expected to vest.

With respect to share-based payments, a deferred tax asset 
is recognised on the relevant tax base. The tax base is then 
compared to the cumulative share-based payment expense 
recognised in the income statement. Deferred tax arising on 
the excess of the tax base over the cumulative share-based 
payment expense recognised in the income statement has 
been recognised directly in equity.

Own shares 
Shares held by employee benefit trusts in order to satisfy 
awards under the Group’s share plans are included net  
within equity until such time as the shares are vested to  
the relevant employees. 

Critical accounting judgements and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty 
Construction contract revenue and profit recognition
IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ is applied 
to affordable and build to rent contracts which can contribute 
significantly to revenue and profits in a financial year. As such, 
judgements and estimations required as part of contract 
accounting can have an impact on profit recognised in each 
financial year and the timing profile of total profit recognised  
on each site.

Judgement 
Revenue from development contracts is recognised when 
control passes and once there is reasonable certainty that 
all conditions will be met. Judgement is required to assess 
the level of certainty around these conditions to ensure 
management is satisfied they will be met. Revenue is then 
recognised at a rate equivalent to the value of work undertaken 
in respect of land development. Contract profit is recognised  
in proportion to revenue only to the extent that the total  
eventual profit on the contract can be foreseen with  
reasonable certainty. 

Estimation 
Assessing the percentage complete on each contract 
involves estimation of the total expected costs to be incurred 
until the end of the contract. Forecasting the total expected 
costs includes making assumptions regarding construction 
costs including cost inflation. The earlier in the development 
programme, the greater the level of estimation required. 
Due to the Group’s experience, internal expertise and close 
relationships with subcontractors, it is able to ensure these 
estimates are as accurate as possible. Recognition of profit 
also involves estimation of the total expected revenues from 
each site and therefore the expected profit margin that will be 
achieved. The expected profit margins for individual sites are 
updated on a regular basis and are reviewed by the Board as 
part of established controls procedures. Estimation is required 
to assess whether the total eventual profit on each contract  
can be foreseen with reasonable certainty. 

Carrying value of land and work in progress 
Estimation 
Inventories include land and work in progress in respect of 
development sites. On each development estimation is required 
to assess whether the cost of land and any associated work in 
progress is in excess of its net realisable value (note 12).

OVERVIEW STRATEGIC REPORT GOVERNANCE KEY MANAGEMENT INFORMATION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

79



STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES
31 March 2019

Adoption of new and revised Standards 
and Interpretations
The Group has adopted IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with 
customers’ from 1 April 2018. Adoption of the new standard 
has had an impact on the timing of recognition of some directly 
attributable selling expenses which, under the new standard, 
are required to be prepaid and then expensed at the time of 
the corresponding revenue and profit recognition rather than 
expensed as incurred. The Group has applied the modified 
retrospective method of transition which has resulted in a 
restatement of opening reserves at 1 April 2018 by an increase 
of £1,777,000 net of deferred tax, mainly in relation to agent’s 
commission, with a corresponding increase in prepayments 
held on the balance sheet. This prepaid commission will unwind 
over the next few years as forward sold properties complete 
and profit is recognised. As a result of adopting IFRS 15, and 
it’s impact on directly attributable selling expenses, operating 
profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 is £912,000 lower than 
it would have been under the previous accounting standard.

The adoption of IFRS 15 has not had an impact on the Group’s 
individual open market sales, revenue from which continues to 
be recognised on legal completion.

Revenue from contracts for the construction of open market 
homes sold under build to rent contracts or for the construction 
of affordable homes sold to affordable housing providers has 
not been impacted significantly. The new standard allows for 
recognition over time, from the date at which it is considered 
that the customer controls the asset, which was the Group’s 
usual practice. The Group consider the asset to be controlled  
by the customer from the date of exchanging contracts.

To determine progress towards satisfying these contracts and 
thus the timing and proportion of revenue to be recognised, 
the new standard allows for revenue to be recognised based 
on the entity’s resources consumed relative to total resources 
expected to be consumed. The Group consider land to be a key 
resource consumed in order to satisfy these contracts and as 
such has been included when determining the proportion of 
revenue to be recognised.

The Group has also adopted IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ 
from 1 April 2018, which has replaced IAS 39 ‘Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’ relating to the 
recognition, classification and measurement of financial assets 
and financial liabilities, derecognition of financial instruments, 
impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting.

Adoption of the new standard has resulted in changes in 
accounting policies, but has not had an material impact on  
the financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Amendments to IFRS 2, ‘Share based payments’, classification 
and measurement of share-based payment transactions have 
also been adopted by the Group from 1 April 2018 but has not 
had a material impact on the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2019.

Future adoption of new and revised Standards 
and Interpretations
At the date of the authorisation of these financial statements, 
there are a number of standards, amendments and 
interpretations that have been published but are not yet 
effective for the year ended 31 March 2019 and have not  
been adopted early.

The following EU endorsed standards are expected to impact 
the Group.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ will be effective for the Group for the year 
ended 31 March 2020. The Group has already identified that 
this will apply to its property lease for its office premises  
and motor vehicle leases which will be recognised on the 
balance sheet.

IFRS 16 will require all contracts that meet the definition of a 
lease to be recognised upon commencement as a right-of-use 
asset and corresponding finance lease liability. The right-of-
use asset is then depreciated over the life of the lease while a 
regular interest expense is recognised relating to the finance 
lease liability. This differs from the previous accounting policy 
under IAS 17 where no assets or liabilities were recognised 
and only lease payments were recognised through the  
income statement.

The Group intends to adopt the cumulative catch up approach 
whereby no adjustments are made to comparative figures 
at transition; rather the outstanding liabilities for existing 
operating leases are calculated at the date of transition 
and the right-of-use assets are set as equal to the liabilities 
and as such there is no adjustment to reserves. The Group 
will be taking advantage of the practical expedient allowed 
in the standard where leases with a remaining term of 12 
months or less are exempt. Any agreements which fall within 
this exemption will continue to be expensed to the income 
statement on a straight line basis.

The result of adoption of the standard will be recognition, as 
at 1 April 2019, of additional assets of £5,218,000, a finance 
lease liability of £5,795,000 and a reduction in liabilities of 
£577,000 relating to accrued rent free periods, which has a nil 
effect on net assets. For the year ended 31 March 2020 there 
will be additional expenditure recognised through the income 
statement of approximately £98,000 in relation to these  
leases compared to that which would have been under the 
previous standard.

The following standards are relevant to the Group but are not 
expected to have any material impact.

Amendments to IFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’ which 
provides clarification that obtaining control of a business that is 
a joint operation is a business combination achieved in stages.

Amendments to IFRS 11, ‘Joint Arrangements’ which provides 
clarification that the party obtaining joint control of a business 
that is a joint operation should not remeasure its previously held 
interest in the joint operation.

Amendments to IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes’ which provides 
clarification that the income tax consequences of dividends on 
financial instruments classified as equity should be recognised 
according to where the past transactions or events that 
generated distributable profits were recognised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 March 2019

1 Operating profit
Year ended 

31 March 2019
 £000

Year ended
 31 March 2018 

£000

Operating profit is stated after charging (crediting):

Depreciation – owned assets 1,207 906

Operating lease rentals – property 601 614

– motor vehicles 620 633

Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (2) (2)

Year ended 
31 March 2019

 £000

Year ended
 31 March 2018 

£000

The following has been charged in respect of auditors’ remuneration:

Audit and related services (PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP)

Statutory audit of the Company and Group financial statements 132 107

The audit of joint ventures and subsidiary accounts pursuant to legislation 19 18

Other services including non-audit services (PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP)

Tax compliance services 37 33

Interim review 21 20

All other non-audit services 132 25

Amounts payable to the Company’s auditors and their associates in respect of services to the Company, other than the audit 
of the Company’s financial statements, have not been disclosed as the information is required instead to be disclosed on a 
consolidated basis.

Other non-audit services relate to tax and transactional services advice.

OVERVIEW STRATEGIC REPORT GOVERNANCE KEY MANAGEMENT INFORMATION FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

81



1 Operating profit continued
Revenue
Our accounting policies for revenue recognition on individual open market sales, construction contracts and freehold assets are 
outlined on pages 76 and 77. The revenue recognised in the year was as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2019
GAAP
£000

Add share of  
joint ventures

£000
Non-GAAP

£000

Individual open market sales revenue 214,456 – 214,456

Contract revenue 107,936 18,087 126,023

Freehold sales 2,814 – 2,814

Other 10,916 120 11,036

Revenue 336,122 18,207 354,329

Share of revenue from joint ventures 18,207 (18,207) –

Total revenue 354,329 – 354,329

Year ended 31 March 2018
GAAP
£000

Add share of  
joint ventures

£000
Non-GAAP

£000

Individual open market sales revenue 225,133 – 225,133

Contract revenue 65,462 21,318 86,780

Freehold sales 740 – 740

Other 3,446 142 3,588

Revenue 294,781 21,460 316,241

Share of revenue from joint ventures 21,460 (21,460) –

Total revenue 316,241 – 316,241
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2 Segmental reporting
The Group has only one reportable segment, being housebuilding in the United Kingdom. Financial analysis is presented to the chief 
operating decision makers of the Group, being the Board of Directors, on a site by site basis. It is on this basis that the Board makes 
decisions as to the allocation of resources and assesses the Group’s performance. The information is aggregated and presented as 
one reportable segment given the sites share similar economic characteristics.

Management information is presented to the Board of Directors with the Group’s share of joint venture results proportionally 
consolidated to reflect the true underlying performance of the Group and the importance of joint ventures to the business. The 
results disclosed within the Group’s financial statements do not proportionally consolidate joint venture results and instead they  
are accounted for on an equity basis. A reconciliation between management information and the GAAP compliant information in 
the financial statements is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2019

Management 
information

£000

Remove share of
joint ventures

£000
GAAP
£000

Revenue 354,329 (18,207) 336,122

Cost of sales (275,011) 13,899 (261,112)

Gross profit 79,318 (4,308) 75,010

Administrative expenses (27,577) 177 (27,400)

Selling expenses (9,831) 784 (9,047)

Share of results of joint ventures – 2,395 2,395

Operating profit 41,910 (952) 40,958

Net finance costs (1,787) 1,169 (618)

Profit before income tax 40,123 217 40,340

Income tax expense (6,492) (217) (6,709)

Profit after income tax 33,631 – 33,631

Inventories 320,614 (123,174) 197,440

Cash and cash equivalents 33,379 (1,839) 31,540

Other assets 106,539 90,411 196,950

Borrowings (127,029) 22,594 (104,435)

Other liabilities (80,651) 12,008 (68,643)

Net assets 252,852 – 252,852

Year ended 31 March 2018

Management 
information

£000

Remove share of
joint ventures

£000
GAAP
£000

Revenue 316,241 (21,460) 294,781

Cost of sales (236,772) 16,746 (220,026)

Gross profit 79,469 (4,714) 74,755

Administrative expenses (24,159) 104 (24,055)

Selling expenses (6,548) 842 (5,706)

Share of results of joint ventures – 2,443 2,443

Operating profit 48,762 (1,325) 47,437

Net finance costs (2,724) 1,595 (1,129)

Profit before income tax 46,038 270 46,308

Income tax expense (8,623) (270) (8,893)

Profit after income tax 37,415 – 37,415

Inventories 373,859 (73,851) 300,008

Cash and cash equivalents 13,829 (1,021) 12,808

Other assets 59,049 55,823 114,872

Borrowings (116,899) 4,640 (112,259)

Other liabilities (98,747) 14,409 (84,338)

Net assets 231,091 – 231,091
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3 Employee benefit expense 
The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group and Company, including Executive Directors, during the year 
analysed by activity was as follows:

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

Number

Year ended
 31 March 2018 

Number

Construction 127 110

Administration 190 155

317 265

The employment costs of all employees included above were:

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended
 31 March 2018 

£000

Wages and salaries 23,701 20,351

Social security costs 2,762 2,403

Other pension costs – group personal pension arrangements 1,075 835

Share-based payments (note 18) (82) 455

27,456 24,044

The Company operates a group personal pension scheme for its employees. At 31 March 2019 payments of £6,374 were due to the 
scheme (2018: £109,937).

Six current Directors are accruing benefits under group personal pension arrangements (2018: six).

Key management remuneration 
Key management personnel, as defined under IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures), have been identified as the Board of Directors  
as all key decisions are reserved for the Board. These figures include the full remuneration of key management personnel during  
the year. 

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended 
31 March 2018

 £000

Wages and salaries (including bonuses) 2,124 2,656

Social security costs 284 351

Other pension costs 144 133

Share-based payments (127) 139

2,425 3,279

Detailed disclosures of Directors’ individual remuneration, pension entitlement and share options for those Directors who served 
in the year are given in the tables in the Annual Report on Remuneration on pages 60 to 62 and therefore are not repeated here but 
form part of this note.

The credit to share-based payments for the year ended 31 March 2019 is due to a reduction in the number of shares options that 
are expected to vest.
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4 Finance income and costs
Year ended 

31 March 2019
 £000

Year ended 
31 March 2018 

£000

Finance income 

Interest income on short-term bank deposits 43 12

Other interest income 1,354 761

1,397 773

Finance costs

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts (1,385) (1,288)

Amortisation of facility fees (630) (614)

(2,015) (1,902)

Net finance costs (618) (1,129)

Further information on borrowings is given in note 21.
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5 Taxation
Year ended 

31 March 2019 
£000

Year ended 
31 March 2018 

£000

United Kingdom corporation tax on profits for the year 6,397 9,148

Adjustment in respect of prior periods (407) (48)

Total current taxation 5,990 9,100

Deferred taxation (note 11) 719 (207)

Income tax expense 6,709 8,893

In addition to the amount charged to the income statement, deferred tax of £102,000 relating to share-based payments and 
financial instruments hedged has been credited directly to equity and £117,000 relating to current tax has been credited directly 
to equity (2018: £77,000 charged and £19,000 credited).

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
The tax assessed for the year is lower (2018: higher) than the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate applicable to 
profits of the consolidated entities. The differences are explained below: 

Profit before income tax 40,340 46,308

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation at the rate of corporation tax 7,665 8,799

Effects of:

Joint ventures results reported net of tax 144 234

Adjustment in respect of prior periods (407) (48)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 7 (90)

Tax effect of share-based payments (38)  22 

Tax relief on land remediation costs (32) (24)

Adjustment to losses carried forward (630) –

Income tax expense 6,709 8,893

The applicable tax rate was 19.0% (2018: 19.0%).

Deferred tax expected to reverse in the year to 31 March 2020 has been measured using the effective rate that will apply in the 
United Kingdom for the period of 19% (2018: 19%).

A reduction to the United Kingdom corporation tax rate has been announced and substantively enacted reducing the rate by 2%  
to 17% from 1 April 2020 and has been reflected in these financial statements. The effects of these changes were not material.
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6 Dividend paid
Year ended 

31 March 2019 
£000

Year ended 
31 March 2018 

£000

Prior year final dividend paid in July 2018 of 9.0p (July 2017: 8.5p) 6,764 6,378

Interim dividend paid in January 2019 of 8.5p (January 2018: 8.0p) 6,423 6,005

13,187 12,383

The final dividend proposed for the year ended 31 March 2019 is 8.5 pence per ordinary share. This dividend was declared after  
31 March 2019 and as such the liability of £6,462,000 has not been recognised at that date.

7 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number  
of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, excluding those held in the Share Incentive Plan. For diluted earnings per share,  
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

Earnings per share have been calculated using the following figures: 

Year ended  
31 March 2019

Year ended  
31 March 2018

Weighted average number of shares in issue 75,435,736 75,061,664

Dilution – effect of share schemes 179,920 669,202

Diluted weighted average number of shares in issue 75,615,656 75,730,866

Profit on ordinary activities after taxation £33,631,000 £37,415,000

Earnings per share:

Basic 44.6p 49.8p

Diluted 44.5p 49.4p

8 Goodwill  
Group 
£000

Company
 £000 

Net carrying amount at 1 April 2017 289 –

Impairment of goodwill – –

Net carrying amount at 31 March 2018 289 –

Impairment of goodwill – –

Net carrying amount at 31 March 2019 289 –

Goodwill arose during the year ended 31 March 2016 as a result of the acquisition of the regeneration business from United House 
Developments (UHD). 
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9 Investments

Company 
Investments in subsidiary undertakings

2019 
£000

2018 
£000

At 31 March valued at cost 23,037 23,037

On 18 December 2018 a new wholly owned subsidiary, Telford Homes (International Way) Limited, was incorporated to acquire 
and develop a site in Stratford. On 25 February 2019 the wholly owned subsidiary, Equipment Works Limited, was disposed of 
for consideration of £1, which was equal to the net assets of the Company. There have been no other additions or disposals of 
investments in subsidiary undertakings during the year ended 31 March 2019.

The significant subsidiary undertakings of the Group comprise:

Share of 
ordinary 

capital held 
by the Group

Country of 
registration

Accounting 
date Principal activity

Telford Homes (Creekside) Limited 100% Scotland 31 March Property development

Island Gardens Limited 100% England 31 December Property development

Telford Homes Regeneration Developments Holdings Limited 100% England 31 March Property development

Telford Homes Balfron Towers Limited 100% England 31 December Property development

Telford Homes City North Limited 100% England 31 March Property development

Telford Homes Chrisp Street Limited 100% England 31 December Property development

Chrisp Street Developments Limited 100% England 31 March Property development

Gallions Limited 100% England 31 March Property development

Telford Homes (International Way) Limited 100% England 31 December Property development

The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available under Section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the 
requirement for the audit of individual accounts for the Group’s subsidiary undertakings.

Investments in joint ventures

Group Company

2019
 £000

2018
 £000

2019 
£000

2018
 £000

At 31 March valued at cost  85,578  54,259 – –
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The joint ventures which principally affect profits and net assets of the Group comprise:

Share of 
ordinary 

capital held 
by the Group

Country of 
registration

Accounting 
date Principal activity

Chobham Farm North LLP 50% England 31 March Property development

St Leonards Developments LLP 50% England 31 December Property development

City North (Telford Homes) Limited 50% England 31 March Property development

Armada 1 South Development LLP 50% England 31 March Property development

Gallions 2B Development LLP 50% England 31 March Property development

Balfron Tower Developments LLP 25% England 31 December Property development

There have been no additions or disposals of investments in joint ventures during the year ended 31 March 2019. 

A full list of subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures not disclosed within this note is included on page 107.

Investments in joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method. The financial information of the joint ventures are 
summarised below and reconciled to the Group balance sheet.

Year ended 31 March 2019

Armada 
1 South 

Development 
LLP

£000

Gallions 2B 
Development 

LLP
£000

Chobham 
Farm North 

LLP
£000

St Leonards 
Developments 

LLP
£000

City North 
(Telford 
Homes) 
Limited

£000

Balfron Tower 
Developments 

LLP
£000

Total
£000

Revenue  20,073  –  13,977  480  2,119  –  36,649 

Operating profit (loss)  3,524  –  1,582  478  96 (219)  5,461 

Finance income  –  –  1  972  38  –  1,011 

Finance expense (1)  – (1)  – (2,535) (653) (3,190)

Profit (loss) before tax  3,523  –  1,582  1,450 (2,401) (872)  3,282 

Income tax credit  –  –  –  –  456  –  456 

Current assets  36,280  2,748  72,336  19,923  126,699  35,737  293,723 

Cash  1,071  7  2,051  31  338  359  3,857 

Current liabilities trade 
and other payables

(12,569) (979) (20,060) (28) (29,930) (33,689) (97,255)

Current liabilities other  –  –  –  – (44,993)  – (44,993)

Amounts due to members (18,796) (1,778) (38,800) (16,186) (17,185) (4,279) (97,024)

Net assets (liabilities)  5,986 (2)  15,527  3,740  34,929 (1,872)  58,308 

Remove joint venture partners 
share of net (assets) liabilities

(2,993) 1 (7,764) (1,870) (17,465) 1,404 (28,687)

Remove share of amounts due 
to joint venture partners

9,398 889 19,400 8,093 8,593 2,140 48,513

Remove pre-acquisition 
reserves

 –
 

 –
 

 –
 

 –
 

1,551  –
 

1,551

Consolidation adjustments  1,609  – (803) (577) 5,664  – 5,893

Investments in joint ventures  14,000  888  26,360  9,386  33,272  1,672 85,578
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9 Investments continued

Year ended 31 March 2018

Armada 
1 South 

Development 
LLP

 £000

Gallions 2B 
Development 

LLP 
£000

Chobham 
Farm North 

LLP
 £000

St Leonards 
Developments 

LLP
 £000

City North 
(Telford 
Homes) 
Limited 

£000
Total 
£000

Revenue  11,863  –  29,977  480  1,137  43,457 

Operating profit  2,463 (2)  3,666  478  115  6,720 

Finance income  –  –  –  471  10  481 

Finance expense  –  –  –  – (3,107) (3,107)

Profit (loss) before tax  2,463  (2) 3,666  949 (2,992)  4,084

Income tax credit  –  –  –  – 538  538 

Current assets  13,780  1,758  50,053  11,057  77,721  154,369 

Cash  1,395  –  189  38  312  1,934 

Current liabilities trade and other 
payables

(14,445) (436) (13,916) (28) (19,800) (48,625)

Current liabilities other  –  –  –  – (10,104) (10,104)

Amounts due from (to) members  1,733 (1,324) (22,874) (8,778) (11,255) (42,498)

Net assets (liabilities)  2,463 (2)  13,452  2,289  36,874 55,076

Remove joint venture partners  
share of net (assets) liabilities

(1,232) 1 (6,726) (1,144) (18,437) (27,538)

Remove share of amounts due (from)  
to joint venture partners

(866) 662 11,437 4,389  5,627 21,249

Remove pre-acquisition reserves  –  –  –  – 1,551 1,551

Consolidation adjustments  2,181 (1) (384) (465)  2,590 3,921

Investments in joint ventures 2,546 660 17,779  5,069  28,205 54,259

The financial information above for joint ventures is presented after having been aligned to the Group’s accounting policies.

The Group has received distributions from joint ventures of £nil for the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: £175,000).

After removing the share of joint ventures not owned by the Group and consolidation adjustments, the share of results of joint 
ventures figure included in the Group income statement for the year ended 31 March 2019 is £2,395,000 (2018: £2,443,000).
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10 Property, plant and equipment

Group and Company

Leasehold 
improvements 

£000

Plant and  
machinery 

£000
Total 
£000

Cost

At 1 April 2017 1,465 2,256 3,721

Additions 984 1,121 2,105

Disposals (271) (2,088) (2,359)

At 31 March 2018 2,178 1,289 3,467

Additions 151 1,148 1,299

Disposals – (48) (48)

At 31 March 2019 2,329 2,389 4,718

Depreciation

At 1 April 2017 577 1,872 2,449

Charge 199 707 906

Disposals (271) (2,088) (2,359)

At 31 March 2018 505 491 996

Charge 245 962 1,207

Disposals – (48) (48)

At 31 March 2019 750 1,405 2,155

Net book value

At 31 March 2018 1,673 798 2,471

At 31 March 2019 1,579 984 2,563
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11 Deferred income tax
Group Company

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

Deferred tax assets 893 635 507 496

Deferred tax liabilities (1,720) (828) (862) (305)

Deferred tax (liabilities) assets (827) (193) (355) 191

As permitted by IAS 12 (Income Taxes), certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset as they arise in the same tax 
jurisdiction and are settled on a net basis.

The movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

Group Company

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018
 £000

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018
 £000

Brought forward (193) (323) 191 (110)

IFRS 15 restatement (360) – (360) –

(Charged) credited to the income statement (719) 207 (631) 378

Credited (charged) directly to equity 102 (77) 102 (77)

Recognised through current income tax liability 343 – 343 –

(827) (193) (355) 191

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year is as follows:

Group

Capital 
allowances

£000

Share-
based

payments
£000

Financial 
instrument

transactions
£000

Losses 
carried

forward
£000

Fair value
adjustments

£000

IFRS 15
restatement

£000

Other 
temporary

differences
£000

Total
£000

At 1 April 2017 39 214 207 76 (289) – (570) (323)

Credited to the  
income statement

30 17 – 63 – – 97 207

Credited (charged)  
directly to equity

– 24 (101) – – – – (77)

At 31 March 2018 69 255 106 139 (289) – (473) (193)

IFRS 15 restatement – – – – – (360) – (360)

(Charged) credited to the 
income statement

(41) (85)  –
 

246 – – (839) (719)

(Charged) credited  
directly to equity

– (175) 277 – – – – 102

Recognised through 
current income tax liability

– – – – – 343 – 343

At 31 March 2019 28 (5) 383 385 (289) (17) (1,312) (827)
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Company

Capital 
allowances

£000

Share-
based

payments
£000

Financial 
instrument

transactions
£000

Losses 
carried

forward
£000

Fair value 
adjustments

£000

IFRS 15
restatement

£000

Other 
temporary

differences
£000

Total
£000

At 1 April 2017 39 214 207 – – – (570) (110)

Credited to the  
income statement

30 17  –
 

– – – 331 378

Credited (charged)  
directly to equity

 –
 

24 (101) – – – – (77)

At 31 March 2018 69 255 106 – – – (239) 191

IFRS 15 restatement – – – – – (360) – (360)

Charged to the  
income statement

(41) (85)  –
 

– – – (505) (631)

(Charged) credited  
directly to equity

– (175) 277 – – – – 102

Recognised through 
current income tax liability

– – – – – 343 – 343

At 31 March 2019 28 (5) 383 – – (17) (744) (355)

The cumulative net deferred tax credited directly to equity amounts to £64,000 (2018: £322,000).

12 Inventories
Group Company

31 March 2019
 £000

31 March 2018 
£000

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

Development properties  197,440  300,008  156,565  230,006 

All inventories are considered to be current in nature. The operating cycle is such that a proportion of inventories will not be realised 
within 12 months. It is not possible to determine with accuracy when specific inventory will be realised as this will be subject to a 
number of issues such as consumer demand and the timing of planning permissions.

Included within development properties for the Group and Company are freehold interests held for future sale of £11,427,000 (2018: 
£9,130,000). During the year ended 31 March 2019 the Group recognised £3,727,000 of new freehold interests and disposed of 
£1,430,000 of freehold interests, receiving sales proceeds of £2,814,000 (2018: the Group recognised £5,262,000 of new freehold 
interests and disposed of £436,000 of freehold interests, receiving sales proceeds of £740,000). 

The value of inventories expensed in cost of sales by the Group in the year ended 31 March 2019 was £257,542,000 (2018: 
£218,218,000). Costs capitalised by the Group during the year include interest of £4,651,000 (2018: £4,211,000), which is capitalised 
based on the site specific cost of borrowings. Interest cost capitalised during the year including the Group’s share of joint ventures 
was £5,424,000 (2018: £5,175,000).

During the year the Group conducted a review of the net realisable value of its inventories. Where the estimated net realisable value 
has changed due to movements in cost and revenue estimates and this was less than the carrying value within the balance sheet, 
the Group has written down the value of inventories. The total amount recognised as an expense was £403,000 (2018: £487,000). 
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13 Trade and other receivables    
Group Company

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018
 £000

Current receivables

Amounts recoverable on contracts 55,774 32,723 55,418 32,723

Amounts owed by Group undertakings – – 36,660 66,138

Amounts owed by joint ventures 44,900 20,880 104,441 52,121

Trade receivables 145 142 145 142

Other receivables 3,256 1,711 2,995 1,565

Prepayments and accrued income 4,445 2,397 2,401 1,582

108,520 57,853 202,060 154,271

Amounts recoverable on contracts
Total contract revenue of £107,936,000 (2018: £65,462,000) has been recognised by the Group in the year.

In relation to contracts in progress at the balance sheet date:

Group Company

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

Contracts where costs incurred plus recognised profits 
exceed receipts to date included in receivables

55,774 32,723 55,418 32,723

Contracts where receipts to date exceed costs incurred 
plus recognised profits included in payables (note 15)

– (1,768) – (1,768)

55,774 30,955 55,418 30,955

Total costs incurred plus recognised profit on contracts 312,476 228,584 312,120 228,584

Receipts to date (256,702) (197,629) (256,702) (197,629)

55,774 30,955 55,418 30,955

At 31 March 2019 retentions held by customers for contract work performed by the Group included within amounts recoverable on 
contracts amounted to £1,994,000 (2018: £2,458,000). 

14 Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

Cash at bank and in hand 31,540 12,808 30,592 11,638
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15 Trade and other payables    
Group Company

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

31 March 2019
 £000

31 March 2018
 £000

Current payables

Trade payables 27,572 21,851 27,572 21,851

Amounts due to joint ventures – – – 1,948

Amounts recoverable on contracts (note 13) – 1,768 – 1,768

Deposits received in advance 268 26,307 268 26,307

Social security and other taxes 919 873 919 873

Accrued expenses 33,247 26,902 31,979 26,082

Land creditors – 190 – –

62,006 77,891 60,738 78,829

Non current

Due in more than one year and less than five years

Accrued expenses 894 1,268 459 901

Total trade and other payables 62,900 79,159 61,197 79,730

As at 31 March 2019 deposits received in advance including the Group’s share of joint ventures amounted to £9,643,000 
(2018: £34,331,000).

Land creditors represent the fair value of land payments the Group is committed to but are not yet payable. As at 31 March 2019 the 
total value of land creditors including the Group’s share of joint ventures amounted to £1,360,000 (2018: £1,512,000).

16 Borrowings 
Group Company

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

Bank loans 106,715 115,000 106,715 115,000

Transaction costs (2,280) (2,741) (2,280) (2,741)

104,435 112,259 104,435 112,259

The movement in borrowings of £7,824,000 is comprised of £8,285,000 cash outflow for repayment of bank loans, offset by a 
release of prepaid transaction costs of £461,000.

Further information on borrowings is given in note 21.
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17 Share capital  

Group and Company
31 March 2019

 £000
31 March 2018 

£000

Authorised

100,000,000 ordinary shares of 10p each (2018: 100,000,000) 10,000 10,000

Allotted, called up and fully paid

76,025,500 ordinary shares of 10p each (2018: 75,516,000) 7,603 7,551

During the year 194,500 shares were issued at prices ranging from 79.0p to 294.0p as a result of share options being exercised. 

On 31 March 2019, 315,000 ordinary shares were issued at 296.0p to Telford Homes Trustees Limited to satisfy the requirements  
of the Share Incentive Plan (note 18).

Ordinary shares may be issued in the future to satisfy the exercise of outstanding share options (note 18).

Details of own shares held within employee benefit trusts are disclosed in note 18.

All shares rank equally in respect of shareholder rights.

18 Employee Share Schemes
Telford Homes Plc Employee Share Option Scheme
A charge is made to the income statement to reflect the calculated fair value of employee share options (ESOP). This charge is 
calculated at the date of grant of the options and is charged equally over the vesting period.

The Group operates both an approved share option scheme and an unapproved share option scheme. Awards under each scheme 
are made periodically to employees. All schemes are equity-settled and options can normally be exercised three years after the 
grant date.

The Group has used the Black-Scholes-Merton formula to calculate the fair value of granted options. Individual calculations have 
been performed for groups of share options with differing exercise prices and dates. The assumptions applied to the Black-Scholes-
Merton formula for share options issued and the fair value per option are set out below. 

2019 2018

Expected life of options based on options exercised to date 3 years 3 years

Volatility of share price based on three year share price history 17% 30%

Dividend yield 3.7% 4.0%

Risk free interest rate 0.51% 0.25%

Weighted average share price at date of grant 457p 392p

Weighted average exercise price 26p 0p

Weighted average fair value per option 385p 348p

Expected volatility was determined by considering the volatility levels historically for the Group. Volatility in more recent years is 
considered to have more relevance than earlier years for the period reviewed.

The credit calculated for the year ended 31 March 2019 is £168,000 (2018: charge of £233,000).

The credit for the year ended 31 March 2019 is due to a reduction in the number of shares options that are expected to vest.
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A reconciliation of option movements during each period is shown below:

2019 2018

Number
000’s

Weighted average
exercise price

Number
000’s

Weighted average
exercise price

Outstanding at 1 April 1,104 125p 801 188p

Granted in the year 467 26p 382 0p

Forfeited in the year – – (31) 130p

Exercised in the year (194) 110p (48) 165p

Outstanding at 31 March 1,377 94p 1,104 125p

Exercisable at 31 March 480 213p 508 117p

The aggregate fair value of options granted in the year was £1,797,000 (2018: £1,330,000).

A total of 194,500 share options were exercised at a weighted average price of 110p in the year ended 31 March 2019 (2018: 48,000 
shares at 165p).

At 31 March 2019 the outstanding options granted over 10p ordinary shares were as follows:

Share schemes Option price Number Dates exercisable

ESOP approved 64p 27,500 20 July 2012 to 20 July 2019

90.5p 63,000 9 Feb 2015 to 9 Feb 2022

200p 12,500 15 Mar 2016 to 15 Mar 2023

291.75p 30,846 15 Sep 2019 to 15 Sep 2026

294p 50,000 28 May 2017 to 28 May 2024

308.33p 9,729 6 Dec 2021 to 6 Dec 2028

347p 17,290 28 Feb 2020 to 28 Feb 2027

383p 124,800 4 Dec 2018 to 4 Dec 2025

459.83p 19,572 4 June 2021 to 4 June 2028

ESOP unapproved 75p 60,000 1 Oct 2005 to 1 Oct 2019

90.5p 100,000 9 Feb 2015 to 9 Feb 2022

383p 42,200 4 Dec 2018 to 4 Dec 2025

LTIP 0p 382,218 14 July 2020 to 14 July 2027

0p 437,365 4 June 2021 to 4 June 2028
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18 Employee Share Schemes continued
Telford Homes Plc Share Incentive Plan 
During the year ended 31 March 2004 Telford Homes Plc set up a Share Incentive Plan (SIP) for the benefit of all of the  
employees of the Group. This SIP has been approved by the HM Revenue and Customs and confers certain tax advantages  
for participating employees.

The SIP enables employees to purchase shares up to a value of £1,800 in each tax year. These shares are known as ‘Partnership 
shares’. Partnership shares are matched on a one for one basis by ‘Matching shares’ provided by the Group subject to the shares 
remaining in the SIP for a period not less than three years. Dividends are paid on both Partnership and Matching shares and these 
are allocated to employees as ‘Dividend shares’.

The Group has set up a trust to administer the SIP and to hold shares on behalf of individual employees. This trust is an entirely 
separate entity to the Group and is managed by a corporate trustee, Telford Homes Trustees Limited. The costs associated with the 
trust are paid for by the Group and the Group finances all share purchases.

The trust has distributed shares as Partnership shares and Dividend shares to employees participating in the scheme. These shares 
remain in the trust until such time as an employee withdraws from the SIP. Further shares have been allocated to employees as 
Matching shares and the cost of these shares is being written off over the three year holding period. The charge in the year ended 
31 March 2019 is £86,000 (2018: £222,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2019 the trust acquired 315,000 shares at 296p. At 31 March 2019 the trust remains interested in 
120,929 shares (2018: 101,069) which have not been allocated to employees and a further 255,697 (2018: 213,333) that have been 
allocated to employees as Matching shares but have not yet vested. Shares in which the trust remains interested do not rank for 
dividends and all shares that have not yet vested do not count in the calculation of the weighted average numbers of shares used to 
calculate earnings per share. 

Shares held by the SIP are recognised as a deduction from shareholders’ funds. The value of these shares at 31 March 2019 was 
£851,818 (2018: £644,395). Movements in retained earnings relating to the SIP are shown in the statement of changes in equity.

Telford Homes Plc 2006 Deferred Payment Share Purchase Plan
During the year ended 31 March 2007 Telford Homes Plc set up a Deferred Payment Share Purchase Plan (DPSPP) for the benefit 
of selected senior employees. An employee benefit trust (the Telford Homes Plc 2006 Employee Benefit Trust) was set up with 
Abacus Corporate Trustee Limited acting as trustee.

Participants in the DPSPP are offered a loan by the trustee to enable them to subscribe for a specified number of shares in the 
Group at market value. This loan is interest free repayable on or before the repayment date which is normally 20 years from the date 
of the loan or on leaving employment or disposing of the shares. The loan has a limited recourse such that repayment is limited to 
the value of the shares on the repayment date. The Group will lend the trustee sufficient funds to enable the trustee to provide the 
loans to individual participants. All shares acquired under the DPSPP will be subject to a three year vesting period and are held by 
the trustee for the benefit of the participants. Offers to participants will be made periodically at the discretion of the Directors of 
Telford Homes Plc. 

In September 2006 selected employees were offered, and subscribed for, a total of 550,000 shares at the market value of 260p. 
These shares were issued on 9 November 2006. On this date the Group provided a loan to the trustee of £1,430,000 to enable 
the trustee to provide a loan to each of the participants. This loan is repayable at the earlier of the sale of the vested shares and 
November 2026 and has been recognised as a deduction from shareholders’ funds in the statement of changes in equity. In the 
year ended 31 March 2019, £3,000 of this loan has been repaid leaving an outstanding balance of £563,000 (2018: £566,000).

In December 2007 selected employees were offered, and subscribed for, a total of 160,000 shares at the market value of 244p. 
These shares were issued on 14 December 2007. On this date the Group provided a loan to the trustee of £390,400 to enable 
the trustee to provide a loan to each of the participants. This loan is repayable at the earlier of the sale of the vested shares and 
December 2027 and has been recognised as a deduction from shareholders’ funds in the statement of changes in equity. In the 
year ended 31 March 2019, £3,000 of this loan has been repaid leaving an outstanding balance of £251,000 (2018: £254,000).

Shares held in Trust
At 31 March 2019 employee benefit trusts held interests in 711,630 shares at a nominal value of 10p and this represents 0.9% of 
the Company’s allocated share capital (2018: 649,402 shares at 10p nominal value representing 0.9%). 
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19 Commitments and contingent liabilities 
Commitments    
At 31 March, the Group and Company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases which fall due as follows:

Property leases Other leases

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

Within one year 700 700 497 564

Between one and five years 2,800 2,800 283 470

Over five years 2,407 3,107 – –

5,907 6,607 780 1,034

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Company for its office premises and motor vehicles. 

The Group in the normal course of business has given guarantees in respect of the Group’s share of certain contractual obligations 
of joint ventures. 

20 Related party transactions
The Board and certain members of senior management are related parties within the definition of IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures).

Property purchases by Directors of Telford Homes Plc
There have been no transactions between key management personnel and the Group other than remuneration in the year ended  
31 March 2019.

Transactions between the Group and its joint ventures
The amounts outstanding from joint ventures to the Group and Company for trading balances at 31 March 2019 totalled 
£44,900,000 (2018: £20,880,000). A total of £59,541,000 was owed to the Company at 31 March 2019 from joint ventures in 
respect of shareholder advances (2018: £31,241,000). The Company owed joint ventures £nil at 31 March 2019 (2018: £1,948,000).

The Company has invoiced joint ventures £110,980,000 in the year to 31 March 2019 for construction services (2018: £72,143,000). 
The Company was invoiced £nil by joint ventures in the year to 31 March 2019 (2018: £nil). Amounts invoiced to joint ventures for 
management fees, which has been recognised in the Group income statement, totalled £2,129,000 in the year to 31 March 2019 
(2018: £1,401,000).

Amounts owed to joint ventures and balances between the Company and its subsidiaries are non-interest bearing and are repayable 
when the counterparty has sufficient cash to repay the loans.

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation.  
The amounts owed by subsidiaries to the Company at 31 March 2019 totalled £36,660,000 (2018: £66,138,000) and the 
Company owed subsidiaries £nil (2018: £nil).

The Company has invoiced subsidiaries £3,295,000 in the year to 31 March 2019 for construction services (2018: £1,407,000).  
The Company has been invoiced £nil the year to 31 March 2019 by subsidiaries (2018: £nil). 
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21 Financial instruments     
Categories of financial assets and financial liabilities are as follows:     

Group Company

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
 £000

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

Financial assets

Loans and receivables:

Amounts owed by Group undertakings – –  36,660  66,138 

Amounts owed by joint ventures  44,900  20,880  104,441  52,121 

Amounts recoverable on contracts  55,774  32,723  55,418  32,723 

Trade receivables  145  142  145  142 

Other receivables  3,256  1,711  2,995  1,565 

Cash and cash equivalents  31,540  12,808  30,592  11,638 

135,615 68,264 230,251 164,327

None of these financial assets are either past due or impaired.

Group Company

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
 £000

31 March 2019 
£000

31 March 2018 
£000

Financial liabilities

Liabilities held at fair value

Interest rate swap  2,016  560  2,016  560

Amortised cost:

Trade payables and accrued expenses  61,713  50,021  60,010  48,834

Bank loans  106,715  115,000  106,715  115,000 

170,444 165,581 168,741 164,394

The Group has an interest rate swap designated as a cash flow hedge. The hedge is used to mitigate the financial exposure to 
movements in interest rates. The Group has no direct exposure to exchange rate movements as any purchases or sales outside of 
the United Kingdom are denominated in sterling. 

Interest rate swap     
The fair value of the interest rate swap at 31 March 2019 was a £2,016,000 liability (2018: £560,000 liability). This is measured using 
valuations acquired from third party banks and is a level two valuation. Hedge accounting was applied and no ineffectiveness arose 
in the period. The notional principal amount of the interest rate swap was £100 million during the year.

Trade and other receivables and trade payables
The fair value of trade and other receivables, amounts owed by and to Group undertakings and joint ventures, amounts recoverable 
on contracts, trade payables and land creditors at 31 March 2019 is equal to the carrying value stated in the balance sheet at that 
date. There are no amounts included within trade and other receivables currently overdue (2018: £nil).

Borrowings     
The Group uses loan finance, all of which is denominated in sterling, to acquire development land and undertake site construction. 
On 18 December 2017 the Group signed a new revolving credit facility for £210 million which extends to December 2022 with a 
club of four banks being NatWest, HSBC, Santander and Allied Irish Bank. The debt drawn under this facility is secured against the 
assets of the Group and is monitored by financial covenants. At 31 March 2019 the Group had utilised £106.7 million of this facility 
leaving an unutilised balance of £103.3 million. Interest is being charged on this facility at LIBOR plus a margin which ranges from 
2.6% to 3.3% depending on the Group’s level of gearing. 
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On 22 July 2016 the Group’s joint venture City North Finsbury Park Limited signed a £110.0 million development loan facility with 
LaSalle Residential Finance Fund which extends to May 2020. On 16 November 2018 the facility was extended to August 2020.  
As at 31 March 2019 City North Finsbury Park Limited had utilised £45.0 million of the facility.

On 22 February 2017 the Group’s joint venture Balfron Tower Developments LLP signed a £33.0 million development loan facility 
with RBS which extended to February 2020. On 28 January 2019 the facility was increased to £35.0 million and extended to August 
2020. As at 31 March 2019 Balfron Tower Developments LLP had utilised £1.2 million of the facility.

All borrowings are treated as current even though these may be due for settlement after 12 months from the balance sheet date 
as they are expected to be settled in the Group’s normal operating cycle. Furthermore the latest date by which the current tranches 
utilised under the revolving credit facility are due to be repaid is 22 July 2019. At this point depending on the working capital 
requirements of the Group the level of borrowings will be reassessed and new tranches placed accordingly. For all borrowings  
fair value is materially equivalent to the original book value.

Market risk     
The Group is exposed to the financial risk of changes in interest rates both in terms of changes in the base rate and LIBOR and in 
terms of individual banks attitude to market risk and their application of either base rate or LIBOR to new facilities and the margin 
applied to each new facility. 

In order to assess the risk interest costs are forecast on a monthly basis over a five year period using estimates of likely changes in 
rates and actual costs are compared to this forecast. Volatility of interest costs remained at an acceptable level in the year ended 
31 March 2019 as LIBOR remains at a historically low level. Interest on all facilities currently held is charged at floating interest rates 
and the Group assesses the requirement for fixing interest rates on a regular basis. 

On 15 January 2016 the Group entered into an interest rate swap. The Group receives interest on the swap at LIBOR and pays a fixed 
rate of 1.080%. The effective date of the swap was 1 October 2016 and the maturity date was 4 March 2019 securing the interest 
rate paid on £50 million, increasing to £100 million on 4 June 2017. 

On 7 February 2018 the Group entered into an additional interest rate swap. The Group receives interest on the swap at LIBOR and 
pays a fixed rate of 1.4725%. The effective date of the swap is 4 March 2019 and the maturity date is 18 December 2022 securing 
£100 million of the Group’s £210 million revolving credit facility for this period.

The effect on the income statement of a 1% rise and a 1% fall in interest rates has been calculated to assess interest rate sensitivity. 
Based on average monthly borrowings in the year, a 1% rise in interest rates would have a negative effect of £1,560,000 before tax 
(2018: £1,117,000), a 1% fall in interest rates gives the same but opposite effect.

Capital risk     
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 
provide returns for shareholders and meet its liabilities as they fall due, whilst maintaining an appropriate capital structure to 
reduce the costs of capital. The Group considers its capital to be all of the components of equity and borrowings.

The Group ensures that there are appropriate controls over the purchase of land and levels of work in progress in the business 
in order to appropriately manage its capital. In addition, the other methods by which the Group can manage its short-term and 
long-term capital structure include adjusting the level of ordinary dividends paid to shareholders, issuing new share capital and 
arranging debt.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss where counterparties are not able to meet their obligations.

Trade and other receivables includes amounts recoverable on contracts which are due from housing associations, build to rent 
investors and balances due from other Group undertakings. The Group considers the credit quality of the various debtors to be 
good in respect of the amounts outstanding and therefore credit risk is considered to be low.

Surplus cash is held in secure bank deposit accounts with NatWest, HSBC and Santander.
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21 Financial instruments continued
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group does not have sufficient financial resources to meet its obligations as they fall due.

The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows over a five year period and performing 
sensitivity analysis on these forecasts. The forecasts are necessarily subject to a number of assumptions and judgements and 
these are tested on a reasonable basis by the sensitivity analysis. These forecasts and the related sensitivity analysis are reviewed 
by the Directors in detail on a monthly basis. In addition all of the forecasts and supporting calculations are made available to each 
bank funding the Group on a monthly basis. The current forecasts show positive cash balances beyond the next 12 months even 
where this is subjected to sensitivity testing. 

The Group utilises bank facilities to ensure that adequate funding is available to cover working capital requirements and the 
Directors consider that existing facilities are sufficient to cover funding requirements in the foreseeable future both where these 
have already been utilised and where they are currently unutilised. 

The Group’s bank facilities are subject to a number of general and financial covenants which are tested periodically by each bank.  
In all cases the Directors have assessed whether the Group will remain in compliance with the covenants for at least 12 months 
after signing the financial statements and are satisfied that it is highly unlikely there will be any breach of covenants.

The maturity profile of the anticipated future cash flows based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay 
financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis (including future interest payments using the latest applicable rates) is as follows:

Trade payables
and accrued 

expenses
£000

Borrowings
£000

Derivative
liabilities

£000
Total
£000

Within one year 60,819 4,062 – 64,881

More than one year and less than two years 282 4,062 – 4,344

More than two years and less than five years 612 113,824 2,016 116,452

31 March 2019 61,713 121,948 2,016 185,677

Trade payables
and accrued 

expenses
£000

Borrowings
£000

Derivative
liabilities

£000
Total
£000

Within one year 48,753 3,973 200 52,926

More than one year and less than two years 441 3,973 – 4,414

More than two years and less than five years 827 125,926 360 127,113

31 March 2018 50,021 133,872 560 184,453
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The maturity profile of the anticipated future cash flows based on the earliest date on which the Company can be required to pay 
financial liabilities on an undiscounted basis (including future interest payments using the latest applicable rates) is as follows:

Trade payables
and accrued 

expenses
£000

Borrowings
£000

Derivative
liabilities

£000
Total
£000

Within one year 59,551 4,062 – 63,613

More than one year and less than two years 282 4,062 – 4,344

More than two years and less than five years 177 113,824 2,016 116,017

31 March 2019 60,010 121,948 2,016 183,974

Trade payables
and accrued 

expenses
£000

Borrowings
£000

Derivative
liabilities

£000
Total
£000

Within one year 47,933 3,973 200 52,106

More than one year and less than two years 441 3,973 – 4,414

More than two years and less than five years 460 125,926 360 126,746

31 March 2018 48,834 133,872 560 183,266
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22 Key management information and Alternative Performance Measures 
The Strategic Report includes both statutory and Alternative Performance Measures (APMs). The Board uses APMs which,  
although financial measures of either historical or future performance, financial position or cash flows, are not defined or  
specified by IFRS. The APMs, in the Board’s view, better reflect the underlying performance of the business and provide  
a more meaningful comparison of how the business is managed and measured on a day-to-day basis.

Our APMs and associated KPIs (see pages 30 and 31) are aligned to our strategy and are used by the Board for planning,  
reporting, to measure the performance of the business and form the basis of the performance measures linked to remuneration.  
The measures are also used in discussions with the investment analyst community and current and potential shareholders. 

The APMs used by the Board are defined and explained below.

Key management information including the Group’s share of joint venture results  
proportionally consolidated
Key management information is presented to the Board with the Group’s share of joint venture results proportionally consolidated 
and therefore including the relevant share of the results of joint ventures in each line of the income statement and balance sheet  
as set out on pages 68 and 69.

Where revenue and profit metrics include the Group’s share of joint venture results proportionally consolidated, they are defined  
and referred to as set out below.

Total revenue – Total revenue is defined as IFRS revenue plus the Group’s share of revenue from its joint ventures.

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended 
31 March 2018 

£000

Revenue  336,122  294,781 

Share of joint venture revenue  18,207  21,460 

Total revenue  354,329  316,241 

Total gross profit – Total gross profit is defined as IFRS gross profit plus the Group’s share of gross profit from its joint ventures.

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended
 31 March 2018 

£000

Gross profit  75,010  74,755 

Share of joint venture gross profit  4,308  4,714 

Total gross profit  79,318  79,469 

Total operating profit – Total operating profit is defined as IFRS operating profit plus the Group’s share of operating profit from its 
joint ventures. 

Year ended 
31 March 2019

 £000

Year ended 
31 March 2018

 £000

Operating profit  40,958  47,437 

Share of joint venture operating profit  952  1,325 

Total operating profit  41,910  48,762 
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Total profit before tax – Total profit before tax is defined as IFRS profit before tax plus the Group’s share of profit before tax from 
its joint ventures. 

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended 
31 March 2018 

£000

Profit before tax  40,340  46,308 

Share of joint venture profit before tax (217) (270)

Total profit before tax  40,123  46,038 

Adjusted margins
The Board reviews margins at a gross and operating level before the inclusion of any interest costs capitalised within work in 
progress and subsequently expensed through cost of sales. This is consistent with the approach used by the business when 
appraising land and therefore allows comparability to the original site purchase viability and also comparability across the sector  
as many of the Group’s peers do not capitalise interest per IAS 23.

Adjusted gross margin – is calculated as the IFRS gross profit plus the Group’s share of gross profit from its joint ventures  
(total gross profit), adjusted for interest expensed through cost of sales, divided by total revenue, expressed as a percentage.

Year ended 
31 March 2019

 £000

Year ended 
31 March 2018 

£000

Total gross profit  79,318 79,469

Adjust for interest expensed within cost of sales  4,526 4,180

Adjusted total gross profit  83,844 83,649

Total revenue  354,329  316,241 

Adjusted gross margin 23.7% 26.5%

Adjusted operating margin – is calculated as the IFRS operating profit plus the Group’s share of operating profit from its 
joint ventures (total operating profit), adjusted for interest expensed through cost of sales, divided by total revenue, expressed 
as a percentage.

Year ended
 31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended
 31 March 2018

 £000

Total operating profit  41,910 48,762

Adjust for interest expensed within cost of sales 4,526 4,180

Adjusted total operating profit  46,436 52,942

Total revenue  354,329  316,241 

Adjusted operating margin 13.1% 16.7%
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22 Key management information and Alternative Performance Measures continued
Other APMs 
The other APMs and KPIs used by the Group are defined below.

Total finance costs incurred
Total finance costs incurred, including the Group’s share of joint venture finance costs, consist of interest on development financing, 
non-utilisation fees and amortised arrangement fees. Interest on development financing is capitalised into work in progress as 
required by IAS 23 and all other fees are charged directly to the income statement.

Year ended 
31 March 2019 

£000

Year ended 
31 March 2018 

£000

Non-utilisation fees 2,054 2,445

Amortisation of arrangement fees 892 905

Other finance costs 500 272

Interest capitalised within work in progress 5,424 5,175

Total finance costs incurred 8,870 8,797

Gearing – Gearing is calculated as net debt (borrowings less cash), including the Group’s share of joint venture debt and cash 
proportionally consolidated, divided by net assets expressed as a percentage. 

31 March 2019
£000

31 March 2018
 £000

Total borrowings  127,029  116,899 

Total cash (33,379) (13,829)

Net debt  93,650 103,070

Net assets  252,852  231,091 

Gearing 37.0% 44.6%

Development pipeline 
The development pipeline is defined as revenue substantially under the Group’s control, including the Group’s share of joint venture 
revenue, to be recognised in future years.

Forward sales  
The forward sales statistic is calculated as revenue secured by exchange of contracts, including the Group’s share of joint venture 
revenue, to be recognised in future years.
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The subsidiary undertakings and joint ventures not disclosed in note 9 which the Company holds a significant interest in at 
31 March 2019 are set out below.

Share of 
ordinary 

capital held 
(direct/

indirect)
Country of 

registration
Accounting 

date Principal activity

Bermondsey Works Management Limited 100% England 31 May Property management

Broadway Chambers Management Limited 100% England 30 June Property management

Calders Wharf Management Limited 100% England 31 December Property management

Chrisp Street Management Limited 100% England 28 February Property management

Gloucester & Durham Management Company Limited 100% England 30 September Property management

Greenford Block 3 Management Company Limited 100% England 31 October Property management

Horizons Tower Limited 100% England 31 August Property management

Limeharbour Residents Limited 100% England 28 February Property management

Manhattan Plaza Management Limited 100% England 31 March Property management

St Paul’s Way CHP Management Limited 100% England 31 July Property management

St Paul’s Way Residential Management Limited 100% England 28 February Property management

Stone Studios Management Limited 100% England 30 September Property management

Stratford Central Management Limited 100% England 31 March Property management

Telford (Stratford Management) Limited 100% England 31 March Property management

Telford Homes Trustees Limited 100% England 31 March Non-trading company

Bishopsgate Apartments LLP 50% England 31 March Property development

Bishopsgate Apartments No.2 LLP 50% England 31 March Non-trading company

CFN Management Limited 50% England 31 August Property management

City North Finsbury Park Limited 50% England 31 March Property development

City North Finsbury Park Residential Management 
Company Limited

50% England 31 March Property management

City North Islington Limited 50% England 31 March Non-trading company

Mulatel LLP 50% England 31 March Property development

Balfron Tower Management Company Limited 25% England 30 April Property management

All the above including those disclosed in note 9 are registered at Telford House, Queensgate, Britannia Road, Waltham Cross, 
Hertfordshire, EN8 7TF with the exception of City North Islington Limited which is registered at The Business Design Centre, 
52 Upper Street, Islington Green, London, N1 0QH, Telford Homes (Creekside) Limited which is registered at 50 Lothian Road, 
Festival Square, Edinburgh, EH3 9WJ, and Chobham Farm North LLP, Armada 1 South Development LLP and Gallions 2B 
Development LLP which are all registered at Bruce Kenrick House, 2 Kellick Street, London, N1 9FL.
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Report on the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion, Telford Homes Plc’s Group financial statements and Company financial statements (the “financial statements”):

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of the Group’s profit and 
the Group’s and the Company’s cash flows for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union and, as regards the Company’s financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 
2006; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report 2019 (the “Annual Report”), which comprise: the 
Group and Company balance sheets as at 31 March 2019; the Group income statement and Group statement of comprehensive 
income, the Group and Company cash flow statements, and the Group and Company statements of changes in equity for the 
year then ended; the statement of accounting policies; and the notes to the financial statements.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law.  
Our responsibilities under ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to  
provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed entities, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Our audit approach
Overview

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
to the members of Telford Homes Plc

• Overall Group materiality: £2.0m (2018: £2.3m), based on 5% of 
profit before tax.

• Overall Company materiality: £1.8m (2018: £2.1m), based on 5% of 
profit before tax.

• Revenue and profit recognition.
• Valuation of inventory.

• Revenue and profit recognition (Group and Company).
• Valuation of inventory (Group and Company).

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material misstatement in the financial 
statements. In particular, we looked at where the Directors made subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant 
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain. As in all of our 
audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including evaluating whether there was evidence of 
bias by the Directors that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Materiality

Audit scope

Key audit 
matters
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to 
fraud) identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources 
in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any comments we make on the results of our 
procedures thereon, were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all risks identified by our audit. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue and profit recognition

Refer to page 54 (Audit Committee report), pages 76 
and 77 (Accounting policies) and pages 81 to 83 (notes 
1 and 2).

The Group achieves revenue through open market 
unit sales and construction contracts. Recognition 
of revenue and profit is calculated using a model 
that incorporates a number of variable factors and 
assumptions including: 

•  Estimated open market sales revenues, including 
commercial unit valuations;

•  Estimated time and costs to complete building 
works; and

• Valuations of land overages.
We focus on this area because of the inherent level 
of subjectivity and management judgement required 
in calculating the amount of revenue and profit to be 
recognised. Changes in any of these key judgements 
could lead to a material change in the amount of profit 
recognised during the year.

Group and Company

We understood and evaluated the processes, procedures and controls that the 
Group has in place in respect of revenue and profit recognition. We evaluated 
the revenue and profit recognition model and performed the following 
procedures:

• Validated input data to the model and tested the accuracy of calculations;
•  Assessed the process by which the key judgements and variable factors 

within the model were estimated by management;
•  Assessed the accuracy of management’s historical forecasts by reviewing 

the effect of changes in site margins over time for sites contributing 
material profit during the year;

•  Understood and challenged the key judgements that are based on the 
Group’s internal data, such as business plans and contract terms, and 
evaluated their accuracy; and

•  Tested that revenue and profit has been recorded in the correct  
accounting period.

We also performed sensitivity testing, to consider the likelihood of changes to 
key assumptions that would result in a material change to revenue or profit. We 
found no material exceptions from our testing performed.

Valuation of inventory

Refer to page 54 (Audit Committee report), page 78 
(Accounting policies) and page 93 (note 12).

The Group holds inventory in the form of development 
property, which includes finished units, work in 
progress and freehold interests, with a total carrying 
value of £197m.

The valuation of inventory is determined by reference to 
a number of assumptions and judgements, which are 
subject to levels of estimation. These include estimates 
of sales prices and costs to complete, assessments 
of the likelihood of obtaining planning permission on 
land held for development, the availability of mortgage 
financing for customers, and the availability of 
Government schemes aiding first-time buyers.

We focus on this area because changes in any of these 
key judgements could lead to a material change in the 
carrying value of inventory.

Group and Company

We understood and evaluated the processes, procedures, and controls in  
place in respect of these inventory balances and assessed key account 
reconciliation processes.

We tested and challenged the reasonableness of the key assumptions 
underlying the judgemental elements of the inventory balances, which included:

•  Net realisable values of land for development, finished units, and work in 
progress;

•  Inventory write downs during the year and any provisions in place at year 
end; and

•  Judgements regarding the capitalisation of costs, or the amounts 
capitalised, such as the likelihood of obtaining planning consent on sites 
purchased without such consent.

We reviewed management’s forecasts to identify any non-profitable sites, 
and assessed management’s assumptions. We compared forecast sales 
prices to actual prices achieved post year-end and assessed the accuracy of 
management’s historical forecasts by comparing actual sales prices with prior 
year net realisable values.

We also tested the input data of the key drivers of the movement in the 
inventory balance, re-performed underlying calculations, and performed margin 
analysis and benchmarking.

No material differences were identified from our testing performed.
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How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a 
whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which 
they operate.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, 
together with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures on the individual financial statement line items and disclosures, and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both 
individually and in aggregate on the financial statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Company financial statements

Overall materiality £2.0m (2018: £2.3m). £1.8m (2018: £2.1m).

How we determined it 5% of profit before tax. 5% of profit before tax.

Rationale for benchmark applied Based on the benchmarks used in the Annual 
Report, profit before tax is the primary measure 
used by the shareholders in assessing the 
performance of the Group, and is a generally 
accepted auditing benchmark.

Based on the benchmarks used in the 
Annual Report, profit before tax is the 
primary measure used by the shareholders 
in assessing the performance of the 
Company, and is a generally accepted 
auditing benchmark.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit above £90,000 
(Group audit) (2018: £115,500) and £90,000 (Company audit) (2018: £103,900) as well as misstatements below those amounts 
that, in our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.

Conclusions relating to going concern
ISAs (UK) require us to report to you when: 

•  the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or 
• the Directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 

about the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve 
months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s and 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. For example, the terms on which the United Kingdom may withdraw from 
the European Union are not clear, and it is difficult to evaluate all of the potential implications on the Group’s trade, customers, 
suppliers and the wider economy. 

Reporting on other information 
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ 
report thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the 
other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this 
report, any form of assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are 
required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UK 
Companies Act 2006 have been included. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
to the members of Telford Homes Plc
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Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken in the course of the audit, ISAs (UK) require us also to 
report certain opinions and matters as described below.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ 
Report for the year ended 31 March 2019 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements. 

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their environment obtained in the course of the 
audit, we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report. 

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 53, the Directors are responsible for the 
preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view. The Directors are also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.
uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with 
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save 
where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from 

branches not visited by us; or
• certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• the Company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Arif Ahmad 
(Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
St Albans

29 May 2019
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